Pathogenetic and Clinical Aspects of Endogenous Hypertriglyceridemia

Frits H.A.F. de Man





Mig

XVL

big





Stellingen behorende bij het proefschrift

Pathogenetic and Clinical Aspects of Endogenous Hypertriglyceridemia

Door Frits H.A.F. de Man

1. Er bestaan belangrijke verschillen in enzymkinetiek tussen lipoproteïne lipase inoplossing en lipoproteïne lipase dat gebonden is aan heparan sulfaat proteoglycanen. Dit proefschrift.

2. Het succes van dieet in hypertriglyceridemie lijkt niet te worden bepaald door veranderingen in de verhoudingen van voedingscomponenten maar door vermindering van de absolute energie- en alcoholinname. Dit proefschrift.

3. Het hypolipidemisch effect van bezafibraat in hypertriglyceridemie wordt primair gemedieerd door opregulering van lipoproteïne lipase zonder effect op substraataffiniteit van VLDL voor lipoproteïne lipase en de LDL-receptor. Dit proefschrift.

4. Hypertriglyceridemie is geassocieerd met normale oxydatieve stress en een goede oxydatieresistentie van VLDL en LDL. Dit proefschrift.

5. Chronische hypertriglyceridemie is geassocieerd met een gestoorde endotheelfunctie. Dit proefschrift.

6. Het niet-overwegen van behandeling met HMG-CoA-reductase remmers bij patiënten met hart- en vaatziekten is een kunstfout. 2^e Herziening Cholesterol Consensus 1998.

7. HMG-CoA-reductase remmers reduceren de kans op een cerebrovasculair accident bij patiënten met coronaire hartziekten. Daarnaast is het aannemelijk dat de afname van cognitieve functies en het ontwikkelen van dementie gunstig beïnvloed worden. Blauw GJ et al. Stroke 1997;28:946-50.

8. Microsomal transfer protein-inhibitors vormen een nieuwe groep krachtige cholesterolverlagende geneesmiddelen die een medicamenteuze oplossing zouden kunnen bieden voor patiënten met een ernstige hyperlipidemie die onvoldoende reageert op conventionele therapie. Wetterau JR *et al.* Science 1998;282:731-4.

9. Het suprasystolisch polsmanchet dat gebruikt wordt bij veneuze occlusie plethysmografie heeft het adagio "time is tissue" een geheel nieuwe dimensie gegeven.

10. Dikke mensen leven korter, maar ze zitten langer aan tafel. Stanislaw Jerzy Lec (1909).

11. Het beurs-AIO systeem, dat geïntroduceerd werd ter bestrijding van wachtgeldproblematiek, heeft op onverklaarbare wijze geleid tot halvering van het salaris van de promovendus.

12. Het boerenverstand moet je koesteren. Tobias Bruning (1999).

13. Na het schrijven van een proefschrift, mag de promovendus wel even achter de vetlap. De gezusters Kerkhof (1999).

14. Het is niet verdienstelijker 1000 boeken te hebben gelezen, dan 1000 akkers te hebben geploegd. W. Somerset Maugham (1874).

Pathogenetic and Clinical Aspects of Endogenous Hypertriglyceridemia

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Dr. W.A. Wagenaar, hoogleraar in de faculteit der Sociale Wetenschappen, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op woensdag 19 mei 1999 te klokke 16.15 uur

door

Frederik Hendrik Andreas Franciscus de Man

geboren te 's-Hertogenbosch in 1967

Promotiecommissie

Promotor:	prof. dr. A. van der Laarse				
Co-promotor:	dr. A.H.M. Smelt				
Referent:	dr. C.M. Cobbaert (Ziekenhuis de Baronie Breda / Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam)				
Overige leden:	prof. dr. A.V.G. Bruschke prof. dr. L.M. Havekes prof. dr. A. Sturk prof. dr. H. Jansen (Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam)				

The studies presented in this thesis were performed at the Departments of Cardiology and General Internal Medicine of the Leiden University Medical Center and the Gaubius laboratory of TNO-PG in Leiden, The Netherlands.

Financial support by the Netherlands Heart Foundation and the 3A-Out Foundation for the publication of this thesis is gratefully acknowledged. Additional support was provided with unrestricted grants from the Sorbo Heart Foundation, Asta Medica, Guidant, Jansen-Cilag, Medtronic, MSD, Parke-Davis, Roche, Sanofi and Searle.

Cover: Transmission electron micrograph of VLDL particles negatively stained with 3% uranyl acetate. Magn. 285,000x produced at the Center for Electron Microscopy, Leiden, The Netherlands.

CIP-GEGEVENS KONINKLIJKE BIBLIOTHEEK, DEN HAAG de Man, Frederik Hendrik Andreas Franciscus Pathogenetic and Clinical Aspects of Endogenous Hypertriglyceridemia / Frederik Hendrik Andreas Franciscus de Man. [s.l.:s.n.] Proefschrift Rijksuniversiteit Leiden. - Met lit. opg. Met samenvatting in het Nederlands ISBN 90-9012545-0 Trefw.: lipoproteïnen, atherosclerose, triglyceride

Contents

Chapter 1	General introduction			
Chapter 2	Lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins by heparan sulphate-bound lipoprotein lipase			
Chapter 3	Effect of apolipoprotein E variants on lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins by heparan sulphate-bound lipoprotein lipase			
Chapter 4	Dietary counseling effectively improves lipid levels in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia: emphasis on weight reduction and alcohol limitation	75		
Chapter 5	The hypolipidemic action of bezafibrate therapy in hypertriglyceridemia is mediated by upregulation of lipoprotein lipase: no effects on VLDL substrate affinity to lipolysis or LDL receptor binding	91		
Chapter 6	Normal F2-isoprostane levels and enhanced lipoprotein resistance to <i>in vitro</i> oxidation in patients with hypertriglyceridemia: effects of bezafibrate treatment	111		
Chapter 7	Activated platelets in patients with hypertriglyceridemia: effect of triglyceride-lowering therapy	133		
Chapter 8	Not acute but chronic hypertriglyceridemia is associated with impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation: reversal upon lipid-lowering therapy by atorvastatin	149		
Chapter 9	Summary	165		
Chapter 10	Samenvatting	173		
	Abbreviations	180		
	Publications	181		
	Nawoord	184		
	Curriculum vitae	186		

Chapter 1

Page

I

General Introduction

. I

Contents

1.1	Lipop	protein metabolism	2	
1.2	Norn	Normal metabolism of triglycerides		
	1.2.1	Endogenous route	3	
	1.2.2	Exogenous route	6	
	1.2.3	Interrelations between triglyceride-rich lipoproteins	7	
		and other lipoproteins, and the reverse cholesterol		
		transport		
1.3	Pathogenesis of endogenous hypertriglyceridemia			
	1.3.1	Genetic factors	10	
	1.3.2	Insulin resistance	12	
1.4	Seco	ndary causes of hypertriglyceridemia	14	
1.5	Triglycerides and atherosclerosis			
	1.5.1	Epidemiological and clinical data	17	
	1.5.2	Mechanisms of atherogenicity of triglycerides	19	
1.6	Treatment			
	1.6.1	Diet	23	
	1.6.2	Fish oil	24	
	1.6.3	Nicotinic acid	25	
	1.6.4	HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors	25	
	1.6.5	Fibrates	26	
1.7	Outli	ine of this thesis	29	
1.8	Refe	rences	30	

1. General Introduction

1.1. Lipoprotein metabolism

Although lipids are considered to be a prerequisite for the development of atherosclerosis, cholesterol and triglycerides (TG) have important roles in the human body. Cholesterol is essential for the synthesis of cell membranes, steroid hormones and bile acids. TG are mainly used as energy source in peripheral tissues or stored in adipose tissue. As these lipids are hydrophobic compounds, transport in the hydrophilic surrounding of blood requires a special way of packaging: the lipoprotein. A lipoprotein is a spherical structure that contains a nonpolar core of cholesteryl esters and triglycerides, that is covered by a polar surface monolayer of phospholipids, free cholesterol and (apo)proteins. The lipoproteins can be divided by intrinsic density into 5 major classes: Chylomicrons (CM), very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL) and high density lipoproteins (HDL). These lipoproteins differ in density, size and composition as shown in table 1.

	CM	VLDL	IDL	LDL	HDL
Source	Intestine	Liver	VLDL	VLDL	Intestine, TRL
Density (g/mL)	< 0.96	0.96-1.006	1.006-1.019	1.019-1.063	1.063-1.21
Diameter (nm)	75-1200	30-80	25-35	18-25	5-12
Composition					
triglycerides (%)	86	55	23	6	4
cholesteryl ester	3	12	29	42	15
free cholesterol	2	7	9	8	5
phospholipids (%)	7	18	19	22	34
protein (%)	2	8	19	22	42
Apolipoproteins					
apoB	B-48	B-100	B-100	B-100	-
apoA	A-I, -II, -IV	-	-	-	A-I, -II, -IV
apoE	Е	Е	E	-	\mathbf{E}
apoC	C-IIIIII	C-IIIIII	C-IIIIII	-	C-IIIIII

Table 1. Physical properties and composition of plasma lipoproteins in humans.

CM, chylomicron; VLDL, very low density lipoprotein; IDL, intermediate density lipoprotein; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein.

The metabolism of lipoproteins can be divided in three pathways: 1. the exogenous lipid pathway: the metabolic route of dietary lipids; 2. the endogenous lipid pathway: the metabolic route of hepatically produced lipoproteins; and 3. the reverse cholesterol transport: the route of peripherally absorbed cholesterol to the liver. I will focus on the metabolism of triglycerides in the section below.

1.2. Normal metabolism of triglycerides

A schematic presentation of normal lipoprotein metabolism is presented in figure 1. Transport of triglycerides (TG) is carried out by chylomicrons from the intestine (exogenous route) and very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) from the liver (endogenous route), designated triglyceride-rich lipoproteins or TRL. TRL are large particles which consist of a lipid core of predominantly TG.

1.2.1. Endogenous route

The endogenous triglyceride transport is mediated by TRL from the liver. These hepatic TRL, known as VLDL, contain apoB-100 as structural protein, while chylomicrons contain the structural protein apoB-48. In contrast to rodents, humans demonstrate a distinct tissue-specificity of apoB-100 (liver) and apoB-48 (intestine) production. A newly discovered protein, microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) plays a critical role in the assembly and secretion of the apoB-containing lipoproteins: it mediates the early, cotranslational transfer of lipids into nascent chylomicrons in intestinal cells, or VLDL in hepatocytes (1). It is hypothesized that the MTP-mediated lipid transfer stabilizes the apoB protein as it enters the endoplasmatic reticulum where, after folding into the proper structure, it can be lipidated as the first step in lipoprotein assembly (for review, see (2)). Upon secretion, nascent VLDL contain apoB-100 as structural protein as well as apoE and apoC. More apoE and apoC become associated to VLDL immediately after secretion in the blood.

Chapter 1



Figure 1. Schematic presentation of lipoprotein metabolism. CM, chylomicron; FFA, free fatty acid; HSPG, heparan sulphate proteoglycan; LDL-r, LDL receptor; LRP, LDL receptor-related protein; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; MTP, microsomal transfer protein.

The enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL) plays a key role in the catabolism of TRL (for review, see (3)). LPL is produced by various parenchymal tissues and binds to heparan sulphate chains on the luminal surface of capillary endothelium. A small amount (~ 10%) of LPL is associated with lipoprotein particles (4). Apolipoproteins have active roles in the lipolytic process. ApoC-II interacts directly with LPL and activates the enzyme. ApoB and apoE have heparan-binding sites and are thought to interact with the heparan sulphate chains (5). The heparan sulphate-bound LPL extends into the bloodstream to bind TRL. To allow interaction in vivo of TRL with endothelium-bound LPL and subsequent lipolysis, the particle has to reside transiently at the proteoglycan-LPL complex. Apolipoproteins are considered to play a role in this process. ApoE can bind to proteoglycans and may participate in the interaction between TRL and lipolytic sites (3,6). Also, apoC-II and apoB have been shown to contain LPL-binding sites and may be involved in this

interaction. After LPL has bound to apoC-II, attached to the surface of the particle, hydrolysis of triglycerides occurs and fatty acids are released in the circulation. Many LPL molecules are thought to act simultaneously on the chylomicron, holding the particle firmly at the endothelial binding sites. It is not clear how the particle dissociates from the endothelium, but it is thought that both the reduction in size and the accumulation of lipolysis products, particularly fatty acids, reduce its affinity to the surface (7,8). With regard to the role of apoE, Rensen et al. (9) elegantly showed that apoE-enrichment of artificial chylomicrons inhibited in vivo and in vitro lipolysis in a dosedependent way, a finding that was confirmed by Jong et al. in transgenic mice overexpressing apoE (10). It was suggested that enrichment of TRL with apoE during lipolysis, results in dissociation of the TRL from HSPG-bound LPL, subsequently leading to avid uptake of the TRL remnants by apoE-specific lipoprotein receptors (9). The flow of fatty acids, released by LPL and derived from peripheral adipose tissue, is partly assimilated by extra-hepatic tissues. However, a substantial amount of fatty acids, either bound to albumin or still present in the remnant particles, is taken up by the liver and re-esterified to VLDL triglycerides in the hepatocyte. After hydrolysis, cholesterol- and apoEenriched remnants remain. The high concentration of apoE on the surface of the remnant particle results in high affinity binding and rapid removal. Part of the IDL particles is processed to LDL particles by LPL and perhaps HL (11).

The receptor-mediated clearance accounts for a substantial TRL amount (10-60%) and the majority of TRL remnants that is removed from the plasma directly (12). So far, several TRL-binding receptors have been identified: the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R), the low density lipoprotein-related protein (LRP), the VLDL receptor (VLDL-R), the lipolysisstimulated receptor (LSR) and membrane-binding protein (MBP) 200 and 235 (for review, see (13)). Although these receptors have distinct functions and tissue-distribution, they all recognize TRL and, if necessary, can take over the function of other TRL-binding receptors. The LDL-R, or B/E-receptor, is mainly located in the liver and only a small number of LDL-receptors is found extra-hepatically. The LDL-R recognizes apoB-100 and apoE, but has a much greater affinity for apoE. Although the LDL-R plays an important role in VLDL clearance, there is evidence for effective alternative TRL removal pathways (14,15). This is illustrated by the fact that animals and humans who are homozygous for LDL-R mutations show normal VLDL and CR catabolism (16-18). The LRP, or remnant-receptor, is a large, apoE-binding receptor that

5

is located in various tissues including the liver. It is a multifunctional receptor that binds many ligands, such as tissue plasminogen activator and α_2 macroglobulin. Although several studies have demonstrated that LRP can bind TRL, its relevance in human lipoprotein metabolism remains to be elucidated. Animal studies, however, have provided interesting data. Blockade of the LRP by RAP (receptor-associated protein) does not affect lipid levels in normal mice (19,20). However, blockade of LRP in LDL-R deficiency causes marked hyperlipidemia, indicating that the LRP provides an efficient rescue mechanism for the clearance of TRL (19). Recently, Veniant et al. (21) demonstrated that RAP expression in LDL-R knock-out mice resulted in the accumulation of apoB-48 whereas apoB-100 levels did not change. These data suggest that, at least in mice, the LRP does not play a significant role in the clearance of VLDL. The VLDL-receptor (VLDL-R) is a novel non-hepatic receptor that recognizes apoE. Mice with a defective VLDL-R do not develop HTG, even after provocation with a carbohydrate-enriched diet (22). Therefore, the VLDL-R does not appear to play an important role in TRL clearance.

1.2.2. Exogenous route

Chylomicrons are synthesized in intestinal cells. After a meal, the ingested fat is mostly absorbed as monoglycerides. These monoglycerides are esterified to triglycerides inside the intestinal cell. Assembly of TG with phospholipids, cholesterol, apoB-48, A-I, A-II and A-IV results in chylomicron formation. The intestinal apoB isoform, apoB48, is the structural protein of chylomicrons. The chylomicrons are secreted into the lymph and enter the systemic circulation via the thoracic duct. They receive C and E apolipoproteins from HDL in exchange for apoA-I. After "digestion" of the chylomicron by LPL, a smaller cholesterol-rich remnant remains which will subsequently be eliminated by lipoprotein receptors. In addition, there is evidence that in normolipidemic man, direct removal of large chylomicron remnants from the plasma compartment occurs (23,24). Conversion to small remnants is therefore not a prerequisite for elimination from the circulation.

The uptake mechanism of chylomicron remnants (CR) has received a lot of attention recently. Although the majority of CR is removed by the liver, CM and CR are partly cleared by peripheral tissues (25). The low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor participates in the clearance of CR. Illustrative is the fact that "apoB-48 only" mice present higher apoB-48 levels in case of LDL-R deficiency as compared to the presence of the LDL-R. However, *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies do not provide evidence for an exclusive role of the LDL receptor (LDL-R) in this process, as discussed above (14,15). Several *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have provided evidence that the LRP is involved in the remnant removal (19,26). An intriguing finding was the fact that chylomicrons are taken up by the liver only after lipolysis by LPL (20). This binding-enhancing effect was not dependent on lipolysis, but was due to the structural properties of LPL itself. Endothelial-bound proteoglycans play an important role in this process. Proteoglycans serve to concentrate LPL-lipoprotein complexes on the cell surface, thereby enhancing their interaction with the lipoprotein receptors (27,28).

1.2.3. Interrelations between triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and other lipoproteins and the reverse cholesterol transport

High density lipoproteins play an important role in the metabolism of TRL. They serve as a storage pool of apolipoproteins including apoE and apoC. When TRL enter the circulation, they receive apoC-II and apoE from HDL, facilitating lipolysis and remnant removal. During lipolysis of TRL, surface fragments are delivered to HDL, adding a substantial contribution to the HDL pool (29,30). Accordingly, the effectiveness of TRL catabolism has been shown to correlate positively with HDL-C concentrations (31,32). Small, protein-rich HDL particles (HDL-3) initiate reverse cholesterol transport, accepting free cholesterol from peripheral cells (33,34). Subsequently, the cholesterol is esterified by lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT). In plasma, cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) mediates the transfer of triglycerides and surface fragments from lipoproteins to HDL-3 in exchange for CE, creating a lipid-enriched intermediate HDL particle (33). Subsequent esterification by lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) completes conversion of HDL-3 in HDL-2. This exchange of lipids is most pronounced in the postprandial phase. HDL-2 is reconverted into HDL-3 by the action of hepatic lipase on the hepatic membranes. In this process, HDL cholesterol is adsorbed by the hepatocyte membrane, completing one route of reverse cholesterol transport. The second route, represented by the transferred CE inside apoB-containing lipoproteins, is completed when the remnant particles are degraded by the liver. Recently, an HDL receptor was identified by Kozarsky et al. (35). Overexpression in mice resulted in a rapid disappearance of HDL from the circulation and an increase in biliary cholesterol. This receptor appeared to belong to the scavenger receptor family (type BI) and could be demonstrated in the liver and steroidogenic tissues such as the ovaries, testes and adrenal cortex.

LDL particles are produced as end products of VLDL metabolism. Because LDL particles are deprived of the majority of apoE, associated to the precursor IDL particles, its affinity to the LDL-R is relatively lower than that of other apoB-containing lipoproteins resulting in a long residence time of approximately 3 days. Eventually, the LDL particle binds to the LDL-R in the liver and extra-hepatic tissues and is degraded. There is evidence for lipid transfer between TRL and LDL particles. Schaefer *et al.* (30) demonstrated that during in vitro lipolysis of chylomicrons, particle constituents were transferred to LDL density. In man, TG enrichment of LDL depends on interactions with determinants of the removal pathways of TRL (36,37). LDL particle size is determined in part by genetic factors including CETP, the apoAI-CIII-AIV gene cluster, and the LDL-R locus (38).

1.3. Pathogenesis of endogenous hypertriglyceridemia

The oldest case-report of hypertriglyceridemia entitled "pure milk on the blood" dates from 1641, when it was originally described by the Dutch physician Nicolaes Tulp (1593-1674), who was famous as the demonstrator in Rembrandt's picture "The anatomical lesson of Dr Nicolaes Tulp" (39). In accordance with the current perspective that hypertriglyceridemia is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease, Tulp makes the connection between the milky serum of this obese patient and premature atherosclerosis. Although the diagnosis is a biochemical one, the HTG patient may have some characteristic features. The patient with hypertriglyceridemia is often moderately obese and insulin-resistant. The frequency of hypertension and gout is several fold higher than in a normal population. A more specific and visible clinical feature are the eruptive xanthomas. These papular, yellowwhite cutaneous lesions are lipid deposits in the skin, which result from phagocytosis of TRL by phagocytes. Although these typical xanthomas are found only in the minority of HTG patients, these lesions are pathognomonic for a severe hypertriglyceridemia (type V hyperlipoproteinemia (HLP)). The most dangerous complication of HTG is acute pancreatitis. Although the underlying mechanism is not fully understood, animal studies have suggested that pancreatitis may result from toxic fatty acid levels generated within the

General Introduction

pancreatic capillaries (for review, see (40)). As a pancreatitis is a lifethreatening disorder, institution of TG-lowering therapy is effective and advisable (41).

Endogenous hypertriglyceridemia is not a rare condition. In the Framingham study, 8-10% of the general population presented elevated plasma triglyceride levels (42). The prevalence is even higher in a population with established CHD. In the screening for the BIP study (a secondary prevention trail with bezafibrate in patients with low HDL-C in Israel)(43), 20% showed elevated plasma triglyceride levels of which a fourth part had TTG levels exceeding 3.4 mmol/L. The diagnosis endogenous The hypertriglyceridemia is а laboratory diagnosis. lipid profile characteristically shows a large VLDL pool, whereas HDL and LDL levels are low to normal (44). It encompasses type I, IV and V HLP of the original Fredrickson classification (45). Since type I HLP, caused by homozygous apoC-II or LPL-deficiency, is an extremely rare condition, the population of interest consists of both type IV and V HLP. Patients with type V differ from type IV with regard to a higher TG level (> 20 mmol/L) and/or the presence of fasting chylomicrons. Since the discrimination between both types is difficult (patients may present both phenotypes within a short period of time), rather artificial (what is the basis of the TG cutoff point of 20 mmol/L), and technically difficult (separation of CM from VLDL), type IV and V HLP are often combined.

It is generally accepted that the accumulation of TRL results from both an increased production as well as a delayed clearance (46-50). The overproduction of VLDL-TG is disproportionately higher than the increase in VLDL-apoB production, resulting in the generation of large VLDL particles (46,47). Although genetic factors predispose subjects to the development of HTG (51-53), environmental factors are considered to play an important role in the expression of hypertriglyceridemia (54). Obesity, insulin resistance, alcohol consumption and dietary habits are the principal exogenous factors involved (55-57). Other factors are considered to contribute predominantly to a delayed catabolism of TRL in HTG (48-50): First, HTG is associated with an extended TG pool, implicating saturation of TRL removal pathways. Second, LPL mutations and associated LPL deficiency are commonly found in HTG patients. As LPL is the key enzyme in TRL lipolysis, an impaired catabolism may result. And third, HTG is associated with high apoC-III concentrations that may lead to a decreased lipolysis and receptor-mediated clearance of TRL. In the following section I will discuss these factors in detail.

1.3.1. Genetic factors

With regard to the genetic predisposition, the lipoprotein lipase (LPL) gene has received a lot of attention as the key enzyme in triglyceride catabolism. The human LPL gene is located on chromosome 8 and consists of 10 exons. The mature LPL protein consists of 448 amino acids. Several functional domains have been identified, including a catalytic domain and binding sites for heparan sulphate proteoglycans and apoC-II. Amino acid substitutions have been found in most of the exons in the LPL gene. Homozygosity for a functional LPL mutation is rare and is associated with LPL deficiency and gross hypertriglyceridemia with fasting chylomicronemia (58). Few data are available on the prevalence of heterozygous LPL mutations. Mailly et al. (59) studied the prevalence of the LPL (Asp9-Asn) mutation in a randomly selected English-Scottish population of subjects without CAD. In this large population, 25 heterozygotes and 2 homozygotes were found vielding an average frequency of 3.5%. Plasma triglyceride levels were increased in the carrier group by 24% as compared to the noncarriers, while plasma cholesterol levels were not different. In patients with HTG and combined HLP, the prevalence of the LPL (Asp9-Asn) mutation was about 2-fold increased. In addition, Minnich et al. (53) studied the prevalence of four common LPL point mutations in exon 5 in a French-Canadian population of patients with endogenous HTG (type IV and V HLP). Interestingly, 15-20% of the patients proved to be carrier of one of these four LPL mutations while in the normolipidemic control group no carriers could be identified. Syvänne et al. (54) recently published an elegant study describing two Finnish kindreds with the LPL (Asn291-Ser) mutation. The carriers showed higher triglycerides (+154%) and lower post-heparin LPL activities (-23%) than noncarrying family members. More than half of the carriers (9/16) were hypertriglyceridemic. This study makes two important points: First, not all carriers express lipid disturbances. And second, LPL activities are only mildly decreased in the heterozygous state. Therefore it appears that LPL mutations predispose subjects to the development of HTG but other genetic and/or environmental factors are required for the expression of HTG.

ApoC-III is an important inhibitor of LPL. In transgenic mice, overexpression of apoC-III causes hypertriglyceridemia whereas the induction of apoC-III deficiency by means of knock-out mice is associated with reduced triglyceride levels and resistance to diet-induced hyperlipidemia (60,61). The apoC-III gene has therefore been regarded as an important candidate gene in hyperlipoproteinemias. The apoC-III encoding gene is located in the APOAI- CIII-AIV gene cluster on chromosome 11. Numerous studies have demonstrated a strong relationship between the SstI restriction length polymorphism (RFLP) and the occurrence of hypertriglyceridemia (51,52,62,63). A recent study by Surguchow *et al.* (64) performed in a sample of the ARIC population demonstrated a frequency of the S2 allele of 14.2% in those with high TG levels and 5.2% in those with normal TG levels. In accordance, in a well-defined Dutch population of patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia, the Sst1 RFLP was 3-fold more common than in a normolipidemic control population (63). Although the Sst1 RFLP of all candidate genes has shown the best correlation with hypertriglyceridemia so far, its significance remains a matter of dispute. Since the Sst1 polymorphic site is located in the 3' untranslated region of the APOC-III gene, it is considered not to influence transcription or function of apoC-III, but merely indicative of a second, yet unknown, mutation related to hypertriglyceridemia.

The promoter region of the apoC-III is an important regulatory element of apoC-III transcription. Dammerman et al. (52) demonstrated that a combination of five polymorphic sites in the apoC-III promoter associates with an increased risk of hypertriglyceridemia. Hoffer et al. (63) studied the -455 and -482 RFLP in a group of patients with HTG from the outpatient lipid clinic in Leiden. Interestingly, an increased frequency was observed in the HTG group as compared to a normolipidemic control group. This result indicates that the promoter region of the apoC-III gene may be involved in the expression of HTG. How variations in the promoter region of apoC-III can be linked to HTG was reported by Li et al. (65). They performed a study to determine if the variant promoter DNA sequence would cause a change in transcriptional activity of the apoC-III gene. Interestingly, they demonstrated loss of the, normally suppressive, activity of insulin on apoC-III transcription. It was hypothesized that the regulatory dysfunction of insulin on the variant apoC-III promoter region may lead to an increased apoC-III production and subsequently hypertriglyceridemia. Whether this in vitro observation bears clinical significance remains to be determined by future research.

An other gene that may be involved in the pathogenesis of HTG is the APOE gene. The central role of apoE in receptor-mediated lipoprotein removal is generally accepted. Mutations in (or in the vicinity of) the receptor-binding domain (aa 130 - aa 150) result in dominantly heritable forms of familial dyslipidemia or type III HLP, which is characterized by the accumulation of remnant lipoproteins (66,67)(for review, see (68)). Theoretically, mutations in the C-terminal region of the APOE gene, which contains the heparin binding

11

(aa 214 - aa 236) and lipid-binding region (aa 246 - aa 266) may result in a defective lipolysis and subsequent HTG. Several studies have demonstrated an association between C-terminal mutations and HTG (68,69). Although several genetic factors for HTG have been identified, frequently no cause is found (70,71).

1.3.2. Insulin resistance

Patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia generally present insulin resistance, characterized by high fasting insulin and normal or mildly glucose concentrations (72). the elevated elevated In addition to cardiovascular risk of dyslipidemia, high fasting insulin concentrations appear to be an independent predictor of ischemic heart disease in men (73). It is known that insulin levels strongly correlate with hepatic VLDL-TG production (74,75). Although some authors have suggested that hyperinsulinemia may stimulate VLDL-TG synthesis, in vitro studies have demonstrated that insulin normally suppresses VLDL-TG and apoB production (76,77). Therefore, the feasible explanation for enhanced VLDL-TG synthesis in most hyperinsulinemia is the concept that the liver is less sensitive to the inhibitory action of insulin. In the normal postprandial situation, the hyperinsulinemia stimulates the uptake of glucose whereas the lipolysis of lipids in the tissue is suppressed. Thus, fuel utilization shifts postprandially from fatty acid oxidation to glucose oxidation (78). However, in the insulin resistant state, lipolysis is not suppressed sufficiently and fatty acids are released at a high rate. Indeed, in insulin resistance the ability of insulin to suppress FFA levels is impaired, and FFA concentrations are high (79). In addition, subjects with insulin resistance often have a large amount of visceral fat (abdominal obesity) (80). So, the impaired responsiveness to insulin as well as the increased number of adipocytes may contribute to a high turnover of FA. The FFA flux from visceral adipose tissue provides the liver with a surplus of FA that are re-esterified to triglycerides in the hepatocytes and VLDL particles (for review, see (81). In endogenous HTG, this mechanism is enhanced by a high activity of hormone-sensitive lipase (82).

The high levels of FFAs and glucose in combination with reduced sensitivity to the normally suppressive action of insulin, stimulate hepatic VLDL production, designated as the substrate driven VLDL overproduction (83,84). In addition, the elevated FFA levels inhibit VLDL lipolysis by a negative feedback mechanism (8). Post-heparin LPL-activity is decreased in patients with insulin resistance, as was recently shown by Knudsen *et al.* (85)

General Introduction

in first-degree relatives of NIDDM patients. Probably, there is a direct effect of insulin resistance on the expression of LPL. In conclusion, insulin resistance is an important factor involved in the development of hypertriglyceridemia.

Recently, Sniderman et al. (86) postulated an intriguing hypothesis regarding the role of adipocytes in the pathogenesis of hyperlipoproteinemias. In the normal situation, about half of the fatty acids released by lipolysis of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins are taken up (trapped) by adipocytes, myocytes and other tissues (figure 2A). The remaining half of fatty acids enter the systemic circulation and reach the liver where they are re-esterified to triglycerides, and to a smaller extent to phospholipids and cholesteryl esters. The two major determinants of fatty acid uptake by adipocytes are insulin and the acylation-stimulating protein (ASP). If fatty acid trapping by adipocytes is decreased, a cascade of negative sequels may follow (figure 2B). First, an increased amount of fatty acids reach the liver and stimulate VLDL production. Second, the high local amounts of fatty acids inhibit lipolysis and induce premature detachment of TRL from the endothelium. Thus, triglyceride production is increased whereas triglyceride catabolism becomes impaired. The most frequent clinical cause of reduced fatty acid trapping is omental obesity. These omental adjpocytes differ from normal subcutaneous adipocytes in several respects. Lipolysis by hormone-sensitive lipase is more pronounced in the omental adipocyte, leading to a higher efflux of fatty acids in the fasting state. In addition, triglyceride synthesis appears to be reduced in the omental adipocyte, which implicates a reduced fatty acid trapping. All these adverse events predicted to occur from reduced fatty acid trapping have been demonstrated in patients with hypertriglyceridemia: elevated fatty acid levels, increased VLDL synthesis and decreased triglyceride catabolism.

Chapter 1



Figure 2. Schematic presentation of fatty acid trapping. The normal situation is shown in panel A, the pathological situation of reduced fatty acid trapping is shown in panel B (see text above). FFA, free fatty acid; HSPG, heparan sulphate proteoglycan; LPL, lipoprotein lipase.

1.4. Secondary causes of hypertriglyceridemia

A wide variety of secondary causes of hyperlipoproteinemia have been identified (87). It is crucial in the clinical evaluation of the hyperlipidemic patient to exclude the most important causes of hyperlipoproteinemia since it has major effect on the type of treatment. For example, hyperlipoproteinemia associated with hypothyroidism is very resistant to lipid-lowering drugs. The most effective therapy is adequate treatment of the underlying disease. The most important causes of secondary hypertriglyceridemia are summarized in the following section.

Alcohol. Immoderate alcohol consumption is associated with hypertriglyceridemia (for review, see (88)). Several mechanisms have been identified. First, alcohol consumption is known to stimulate the synthesis of endogenous lipoproteins. This is probably due to the fact that ethanol is metabolized in preference to fatty acids as source of energy. The accumulating fatty acids may be used for the production of triglycerides and incorporated in VLDL particles. Second, ethanol consumption may be associated with reduced lipolysis of TRL by LPL. Pownall *et al.* (89) demonstrated that addition of

alcohol to a fat load significantly increased the postprandial lipemia. Therefore, limitation of alcohol intake seems obligatory in every patient with HTG.

Diabetes mellitus. Poorly controlled diabetes mellitus (type I and type II) is associated with a high frequency of hyperlipidemia and premature atherosclerosis. If type I diabetes (insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, or IDDM) is accurately treated, lipid and lipoprotein levels generally are within the normal range. The same applies to the insulin-resistant type, designated as type II or non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) (90). One of the most common lipid abnormalities in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is hypertriglyceridemia and low HDL cholesterol. The LDL cholesterol levels are normal or mildly elevated. The HTG is due to both overproduction of TRL and decreased catabolism. With regard to the overproduction, an increased supply of glucose and FFAs contribute to overproduction of very low density lipoproteins, increasing the burden of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins on the common lipolytic pathway at the level of lipoprotein lipase. Low lipoprotein lipase activity and increased amounts of lipolysis-inhibiting free fatty acids further impair lipolysis of postprandial lipoproteins. In addition, glycation of apolipoproteins (apoC-II, apoB and apoE) are considered to impair lipolysis and receptor-mediated lipoprotein catabolism (91). Correction of the lipid abnormalities in NIDDM is advisable since it may contribute to attenuation of the risk on premature atherosclerosis. When dietary measures and hypoglycemic agents have failed to achieve acceptable lipid levels, lipid-lowering drugs should be advised. Fibric acids and HMG CoA reductase inhibitors are the drugs of choice. The clinical efficacy of statin therapy was recently confirmed in a subgroup analysis of diabetic subjects from the 4S-study (92). Secondary prevention of CAD with simvastatin treatment resulted in a 60% reduction of coronary events in this high-risk group. Whether an aggressive lipid-lowering treatment is indicated in the primary prevention of CAD in diabetics remains to be established.

Hypothyroidism. Hypothyroidism is a frequent cause of hyperlipidemia. In a recent study at our department, the prevalence of subclinical hypothyroidism was studied in 1200 Dutch population-based subjects (manuscript in preparation). The overall prevalence of subclinical hypothyroidism was 1.9% in men and 7.6% in women. The prevalence of hypothyroidism appeared to be higher in the subgroups with the highest cholesterol levels. Previous studies have shown that 5-10% of all

15

hyperlipidemic subjects demonstrate apparent or subclinical hypothyroidism (93-95). Therefore, it is recommendable to screen all patients with hyperlipidemia for hypothyroidism (thyroid stimulating hormone and thyroxin). Hypothyroidism is not associated with a specific hyperlipidemia but can express different phenotypes. Although hypothyroidism has been associated with a decreased LPL activity and decreased LDL catabolism, the exact pathophysiological mechanism is not fully understood. Adequate treatment of the thyroid disease rapidly improves the lipid derangements.

Liver/renal disease. Liver disease may lead to lipid derangements in several ways. Cholestasis leads to hyperlipidemia when biliary lipids leak into the plasma. This may result in severe hypercholesterolemia and even the presence of cutaneous xanthomas. Interestingly, a rare lipoprotein can be identified in these subjects: lipoprotein X or Lp-X. This LDL-like particle does not contain apoB and contains high amounts of unesterified cholesterol. Inflammation of liver tissue can also lead to hyperlipidemia. However, in case of advanced hepatic disease, lipid levels tend to fall due to a reduced lipoprotein synthesis. Treatment of liver disease related hyperlipidemia is difficult since most drugs are metabolized by the liver and bear a potential risk for the remaining liver function. In addition, fibric acids should not be given in case of cholelithiasis. Renal failure is associated with hyperlipidemia and premature atherosclerosis. A decreased LPL activity is thought to be the basic pathophysiological defect in patients with chronic renal failure. This typically results in hypertriglyceridemia, low HDL cholesterol levels and small dense LDL. A renal transplantation is advisable, however, the extensive use of steroids and other drugs often sustains a mild hyperlipidemia. The nephrotic syndrome, characterized by an albuminuria > 3 g/day, is also associated with hyperlipidemia. It is thought that the hypoalbuminemia leads to increased hepatic production of albumin that is accompanied passively by an increased lipoprotein synthesis. Improvement of the proteinuria is associated with normalization of the hyperlipidemia.

Medication. Many drugs are known to affect plasma lipid levels. One of the most important drugs that interfere with the lipoprotein metabolism are the steroids. Corticosteroids can cause slight increases in serum lipid levels in normal individuals. However, in subjects prone to the development of hyperlipidemia, e.g. apoE2 homozygotes, corticosteroid therapy may result in a marked hyperlipidemia. Induction of insulin resistance is thought to be the underlying mechanism. Also, hormone preparations such as oral contraceptives may cause HTG (96). On the other hand, postmenopauzal

16

hormone replacement has been reported to improve plasma lipid levels. Many effects have been reported on different hormones in different age groups. Some of these effects are positive, some are negative, but the message is that hormones can effect lipid levels and it would be recommendable to discontinue hormone therapy in a hyperlipidemic patient to evaluate the drug effect. Beta blocking agents are known to elevate triglyceride levels and decrease HDL cholesterol levels mildly. There is no difference between the older aselective and newer class of selective beta blockers. Other drugs that affect lipid levels include retinoic acid, cyclosporin, and amiodarone.

1.5. Triglycerides and atherosclerosis

1.5.1. Epidemiological and clinical data

Although plasma triglycerides have not attracted the epidemiological attention as a risk factor for CHD as plasma cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol and HDLcholesterol concentrations, several groups have emphasized the epidemiological evidence of an association between plasma triglyceride concentration and CHD (42,97-99). The controversial issue of this association is caused by the fact that an increased plasma triglyceride concentration is often seen in combination with a decreased HDL-cholesterol concentration and an increased concentration of small dense LDL particles. In multivariate statistical models the association between plasma triglyceride concentration and CHD becomes insignificant after adjustment of covariates, which has led to the conclusion that an elevated plasma triglyceride levels is not an independent risk factor for CHD. In a report from the Framingham Heart Study, Abbott et al. (100) pointed out that, when 2 items are associated both statistically and metabolically, the current mathematical models will grossly underestimate the contribution to risk of one of the items, thus representing a misapplication of the statistical models. By scoring the incidence of coronary artery disease during 14 years of the Framingham Study, Castelli (42) demonstrated that in the lowest HDLcholesterol tertile (men: < 1.03 mmol/L; women < 1.29 mmol/L) the group of subjects in the highest triglyceride tertile (men > 1.57 mmol/L; women > 1.34mmol/L) had a 4 times higher incidence of CHD for men and a 10 times higher incidence for women than those in the lowest triglyceride tertile (men > 1.02mmol/L; women > 0.90 mmol/L).

In the Helsinki Heart Study and the PROCAM study it was demonstrated that the combination of high triglyceride and low HDL-cholesterol represents the most unfavorable lipoprotein pattern with respect to risk of future CHD (101,102). In a recently published meta-analysis of 17 populationbased prospective studies, Hokanson and Austin (99) calculated relative risks (RR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) and standardized these figures with respect to a 1 mmol/L increase in triglyceride (figure 3). For men and women the univariate RRs for fasting plasma triglyceride levels were 1.32 (95% CI 1.26-1.39) and 1.76 (95% CI 1.50-2.07), respectively.



Panel A

Panel B



Adjustment of HDL-cholesterol and other risk factors (if provided in the published reports, these other risk factors include age, total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, smoking, body mass index, and blood pressure) attenuated these RRs to 1.14 (95% CI 1.05-1.28) and 1.37 (95% CI 1.13-1.66), respectively. The authors conclude from this meta-analysis that the fasting plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for CHD for men and women in the general population, independent of HDL-cholesterol.

Also in case-control studies it was shown that an elevated concentration of total triglycerides or VLDL-triglycerides in plasma is a good discriminant between subjects with and without CHD (103,104). In a cross-sectional angiographic study, plasma triglyceride (in addition to LDL), HDL-2 and HDL-3 cholesterol proved independently predictive of the extent of coronary atherosclerosis (105). Others presented evidence that small VLDL remnants were associated with the presence or severity of CHD (106-108). VLDL remnants were found to predict progression of coronary atherosclerosis, as well as clinical events occurring up to 7 years later in a prospective study using quantitative coronary angiography at 2-year intervals (109). Accordingly, in MARS triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, particularly small VLDL, have been identified as being the most important lipoprotein to predict progression of coronary atherosclerosis in patients with mild-to-moderate coronary lesions (110). Although there is debate about the atherogenic potential of chylomicrons and normal buoyant VLDL particles, it is generally accepted that VLDL remnants and chylomicron remnants are atherogenic. Several groups have presented evidence that postprandial lipoproteins, and particularly chylomicron remnants, contribute to the risk of CHD (111-115) or to the risk of carotid atherosclerosis (116).

1.5.2. Mechanisms of atherogenicity of triglycerides

There is ongoing debate about the atherogenic potential of VLDL. Skeptics believed that VLDL particles were too large to penetrate the arterial wall. These rumours were silenced when Rapp *et al.* (117) demonstrated the presence of VLDL and VLDL remnants in atherosclerotic plaques. Over one third of the total cholesterol content of plaques were found to be derived from VLDL and VLDL remnants. In addition, macrophages are known to bind and internalize TRL-triglycerides. In this process, the macrophages can transform into "foam cells", a feature that is considered to play a central role in atherogenesis. Interestingly, VLDL from HTG patients proved to induce a several fold higher accumulation of lipids in macrophages as compared to VLDL isolated from normolipidemic individuals (118). In conclusion, high concentrations of TRL may initiate and enhance atherogenesis 1) by penetration of the endothelium into the plaque and 2) by foam cell formation.

Hypertriglyceridemia is not only a derangement of the larger triglyceride-rich lipoproteins. It affects the entire lipoprotein metabolism and beyond. All classes of lipoproteins show abnormal size, lipid contents and apolipoprotein distribution. The primary affected class, namely the VLDL are relatively large, triglyceride-enriched and cholesterol-depleted. The apolipoprotein distribution shifts towards high apoC-III amounts, a condition which may be associated with delayed lipolysis and decreased receptormediated lipoprotein catabolism. The LDL particles in hypertriglyceridemia are typically small, dense and persistent. This atherogenic LDL pattern is a consequence of the overwhelming presence of TRL. Triglycerides are transported by CETP from the TRL to the other lipoproteins, e.g. LDL and HDL. These acceptor lipoproteins become enriched in triglycerides and relatively depleted of cholesteryl esters (CE). The CE are shuttled back to the TRL. As the LDL particles circulate for several days, they become progressively lipolyzed which results in small LDL particles. These small dense LDL have been suggested to be prone to oxidative modification (119). There is evidence that this LDL type is potentially atherogenic. Austin et al (120) demonstrated that small dense LDL particles were associated with a 3fold increased risk of CHD in univariate regression analysis. Multivariate regression analysis demonstrated that both TG and HDL-C levels contributed to the risk associated with small dense LDL. The same mechanism is seen in the HDL fraction. In HTG states, triglycerides are transported to HDL in exchange for CE. This results in large, buoyant HDL-2 which simply have no more space to accept free cholesterol from peripheral tissues. The HDL cholesterol concentration decreases, which is known to be associated with an increased risk for CHD. Thus, the reverse cholesterol transport becomes saturated. The CE which originally were derived from peripheral tissues and were meant to be removed by the liver, end up in the potentially atherogenic, apoB-containing lipoproteins. In conclusion, the abundance of triglycerides saturates the normal lipoprotein removal pathways and the reverse cholesterol transport becomes impaired. These mechanisms may contribute to the accelerated atherosclerosis in hypertriglyceridemic patients.

Lipid values are determined in fasting subjects only. However, the general patient who consumes three meals a day spends most of the day and night in a postprandial phase. The postprandial lipid metabolism is receiving

a lot of attention recently. The postprandial TG rise has been found to be highly dependent on the fasting TG levels. The higher the fasting TG concentration, the longer and higher is the postprandial TG concentration. Therefore, all HTG states are associated with a disturbed postprandial TG metabolism. Although most people think that only chylomicrons are found in the first hours after a meal, Cohn et al. (121) demonstrated that both intestinally and hepatically derived TRL contribute to the triglyceride rise after ingestion of a meal. An exaggerated postprandial lipemia in HTG patients may contribute to the increased risk of CHD, since there is evidence that a disturbed postprandial TRL metabolism has atherogenic potential, as Zilversmit already postulated in 1979 (122). This has been overlooked for a long time, since most epidemiological studies of CHD examined fasting subjects only. Several studies support the concept that an exaggerated alimentary lipemia predisposes to coronary artery disease (CAD). Karpe et al. (32) compared the postprandial lipoprotein metabolism between healthy subjects and patients with CAD, and demonstrated an impaired postprandial lipoprotein metabolism in the patient group. Moreover, experimental and clinical studies have demonstrated that TRL remnants are atherogenic (112,123,124). Illustrative is the remnant removal disease, also called familial dysbetalipoproteinemia, which is due to insufficient ligand activity of apoE-2 to apoE-dependent lipoprotein receptors. This genetic lipid disorder, characterized by massive accumulation of remnant particles, leads to premature atherosclerotic disease. Remnants have been shown to exert their atherogenic effect in two ways. First, accumulation of remnants at the vascular endothelium leads to cholesterol deposition in the vessel wall and transforms macrophages into foam cells. Second, remnants have a direct cytotoxic effect on vessel wall cells, which in accordance with the response-toinjury-hypothesis, promotes atherogenesis. HDL protects against this cytotoxic effect. However, in the HTG patient, an abnormal HDL-subclass distribution and low HDL cholesterol levels are generally encountered. We infer from these observations that a prolonged postprandial exposure of the vessel wall to remnant particles, in combination with low plasma levels of HDL-C, may lead to accelerated atherogenesis.

Most hypertriglyceridemic patients demonstrate *insulin resistance*, a phenomenon that appears to precede the dyslipidemia. Although insulin resistance is associated with a wide variety of biochemical alterations, high fasting insulin concentrations appear to be an independent predictor of ischemic heart disease in men (73). The biochemical variations indicate a

21

clustering of cardiovascular risk factors. Characteristic features are: Low HDL cholesterol, high TG, small dense LDL, obesity, insulin resistance and hypertension. High triglyceride levels are frequently accompanied by insulin resistance (125), as Reaven (126) designated as "syndrome X", characterized by high triglyceride and low HDL-cholesterol levels, increased insulin resistance, and hypertension. The combination of these metabolic alterations has been given the name "insulin resistance syndrome" emphasizing the role of insulin resistance as the underlying mechanism (127). Some years earlier, Kaplan (128) suggested that this syndrome begins with central obesity, followed by dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, and hypertension, all combining to form the "deadly quartet". Austin *et al.* (120) have shown that patients with nonfatal myocardial infarction had LDL-cholesterol levels similar to those of control subjects, but were three times as likely to have a larger number of small, dense LDL particles, the so-called pattern B. Subjects with pattern B were also more obese and had higher triglyceride levels and lower HDL-cholesterol levels.

Although *fatty acids* (FA) are an important energy source for the human body, high FFA levels are considered to be potentially atherogenic. First, FFAs raise TG levels by stimulating VLDL-TG synthesis and inhibiting lipolysis. Second, FFAs have been demonstrated to cause increased oxidative stress (129,130). Third, FFAs may facilitate the transfer of LDL across the endothelial barrier into the intimal space (131). And finally, elevated FFA levels have been reported to cause endothelial dysfunction within a short period of time (132). These reports emphasize the atherogenic potential of fatty acids.

It is generally accepted that the *hemostatic and fibrinolytic system* play an important role in the occurrence of atherosclerosis and acute cardiovascular syndromes (133). It is also known that dyslipidemias can affect both counterbalancing systems. The most prominent changes in hypertriglyceridemia are increased factor VIIc and PAI-1 activity (134,135). Both have shown a positive correlation with plasma triglyceride levels. Silveira et al (136) demonstrated activation of factor VII after a fat-rich meal, emphasizing the relation between factor VII activation and TRL. PAI-1 is an important inhibitor of the fibrinolytic degradation of thrombus by t-PA. The finding that PAI-1 is increased in HTG indicates that the fibrinolytic capacity is decreased. Also other derangements of the hemostatic system have been reported in HTG patients. Plasma fibrinogen levels, known to be an important predictor of CAD, are increased (137). Tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) levels, an important inhibitor of the clotting system, are decreased in HTG (135). These changes in the hemostatic system indicate a pro-thrombotic state in hypertriglyceridemic patients. Future research is needed to identify the metabolic links between hemostasis and lipoprotein metabolism.

1.6. Treatment

There has been, and still is, debate about the treatment of hypertriglyceridemia. The latest recommendations of the European Task Force in 1994 stated that HTG should be treated primarily by life style measures (138). In case of other risk factors, a total cholesterol to HDL-C ratio above 5 or a low HDL-C level, "the threshold for drug therapy will be lowered". However, if plasma TG exceed 5 mmol/L drug therapy is advised to reduce the risk of pancreatitis. Also in the latest (2^{nd}) cholesterol consensus, no specific guidelines are presented and physicians are advised to refer the patient to a lipid clinic if plasma TG exceed 4.0 mmol/L (139). There are no specific guidelines how and when to treat HTG. Nevertheless, there seems to be general agreement about the therapeutical path.

1. In parallel with blood pressure management, it is important to have several fasting blood levels in time, as plasma TG can show marked variations. In case of an established HTG, secondary causes of HTG should be excluded, e.g. diabetes, thyroid disease, liver/renal disease, alcohol abuse and medication. Then, a complete lipoprotein profile as well as apoE-phenotype and apoE-genotype should be determined.

2. As endogenous HTG is diagnosed, dietary and life style measures are firstline strategy. After approximately 2-3 months, the effectiveness is evaluated. Dependent on the outcome of the conservative measures, pharmacological therapy may be instituted.

3. Drug therapy is recommended in case of established cardiovascular disease or pancreatitis. With regard to primary prevention, drug therapy is advisable when other risk factors are present and conservative measures are not sufficient. To date, it seems questionable to treat mild HTG when no other risk factors are present.

1.6.1. Diet

Environmental factors are considered to play an important role in the expression of hypertriglyceridemia. Therefore, dietary and life-style measures

are first-line strategy in these patients diet (140). So far, 2 large studies have been performed to study the efficacy of dietary advise in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. In 1977, Gotto et al. (141) reported a mean TG-reduction of 30% (1.4 mmol/L) in over 100 patients with type IV HLP who had received dietary counseling for 2 years. With regard to short-term dietary counseling, Dallongeville et al. (142) demonstrated a TG-reduction of 21% in response to a American Heart Association (AHA) step I diet in 113 patients with hypertriglyceridemia in comparison with patients who did not receive counseling. However, only 20% of the patients achieved normal TG levels on dietary therapy alone. In the Netherlands, the following dietary guidelines have been developed: 1) Total fat 30-35 % of energy intake, 2) Saturated fat < 10% of energy intake, 3) Dietary cholesterol < 300 mg/d, and 4) Calorie reduction if body mass index > 26 kg/m^2 . These dietary guidelines are similar to the AHA Step I diet (140), with the exception that not less than 30% but 30-35% of total energy intake should be derived from fat. In contrast to hypercholesterolemic patients (143), the efficacy of the dietary regimen has not been studied before in HTG patients in the Netherlands.

1.6.2. Fish oil

Diets enriched in polyunsaturated fatty acids and poor in saturated fatty acids reduce both triglyceride and total cholesterol levels. In the Zutphen Study, Kromhout et al. (144) demonstrated that habitual fish consumers (who eat, on average, 33 g of fish per day) had lower triglyceride levels than controls (who eat, on average 2 g of fish per day). The content of the n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), of the phospholipids of circulating lipoproteins was significantly higher among the habitual fish consumers than in controls. Patients with hypertriglyceridemia who receive large doses of n-3 PUFAs from fish oil have substantially reduced plasma triglyceride levels because of decreased triglyceride synthesis in the liver (145). Froyland et al. (146) recently demonstrated that n-3 fatty acids stimulate mitochondrial β -oxidation of fatty acids, thereby reducing the availability of substrate for VLDL-TG synthesis. When patients with hypertriglyceridemia were given fish oil (5 g per day) for 6 weeks, total triglyceride, VLDLtriglyceride, VLDL-cholesterol and total cholesterol concentrations in serum decreased by 54%, 56%, 40% and 15%, respectively. Serum LDL-cholesterol and HDL-cholesterol concentrations increased by 23% (p < 0.05) and by 14% (n.s.), respectively, whereas the LDL-cholesterol to HDL-cholesterol ratio did not change (147). An adverse effect of fish oil was the increased susceptibility to oxidation of LDL and VLDL, which was correlated to the increased number of double bonds in PUFAs of LDL and VLDL. Although there is debate about the clinical relevance of copper-induced lipoprotein oxidations (148), fish oil should not be used in patients with HTG until its effectiveness has been established in clinical trials.

1.6.3. Nicotinic acid

Nicotinic acid treatment reduces plasma triglyceride and total cholesterol levels by decreasing the hepatic synthesis of VLDL-triglycerides. This effect of the drug on the liver is considered to be due to a reduced flow of circulating FFAs to the liver for triglyceride synthesis, which is caused by an inhibited mobilization of adipose tissue triglycerides. The nicotinic acid-induced decrease in plasma triglyceride levels is associated with a profound increase in HDL-cholesterol levels. This potent HDL-raising effect of nicotinic acid derivates makes it suitable for treatment of patients with severe hypoalphalipoproteinemia. Nicotinin acid has two important disadvantages: 1. Frequent side-effects (flushes and gastro-intestinal complaints), and 2. Impairment of glucose tolerance. Therefore, nicotinic acid therapy should not be prescribed to HTG, but restricted to patients with severe hypoalphalipoproteinemia (improvement of HDL-cholesterol) or patients with elevated lipoprotein(a) levels. (149). Acipimox is a derivative of nicotinic acid that does not have the disadvantages mentioned above and therefore may be of interest.

1.6.4. HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors

HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors have been proposed as the therapy of choice for patients with hypercholesterolemia or combined hyperlipidemia (150). However, in patients with hypertriglyceridemia, statin therapy is not regarded as therapy of choice since LDL-cholesterol levels, the primary target of statins, are normal or subnormal. High doses of statins, however, have been reported to reduce TG levels (151). This effect is considered to be mediated by 1. upregulation of LDL receptors, and 2. reducing the hepatic cholesterol pool that is necessary for VLDL assembly. A new and potent statin, atorvastatin, has been reported to suppress VLDL levels effectively and may therefore be effective in patients with endogenous HTG. Bakker Arkema *et al.* (152) reported a study with atorvastatin in patients with endogenous HTG. Atorvastatin was well tolerated and improved the lipid and lipoprotein levels in these patients significantly. At highest dosage (80 mg once daily), the following changes were observed: total triglycerides -46%, LDL-cholesterol -41%, VLDL-cholesterol -58% and HDL- cholesterol +12%. In contrast to some other triglyceride-lowering drugs, fibrinogen and PAI-1 levels were not affected in this study. Although atorvastatin seems to be a good candidate drug for the treatment of HTG, a recent study reported that atorvastatin may increase fibrinogen levels (153). Currently, studies are being performed to solve this issue. Statin therapy in hypertriglyceridemia should be restricted to HTG patients with high LDL cholesterol levels (at baseline, or more likely after fibrate therapy) or if contraindications for fibrates are present (e.g. gall bladder disease).

1.6.5. Fibrates

Efficacy. Fibrates are considered as drugs of choice in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Although no prevention trials have been performed with fibrates in this particular patient group, there are several studies that have addressed the efficacy of fibrates in dyslipidemic patients. In the Helsinki Heart Study, 4081 men aged 40-55 yrs with non-HDL cholesterol > 5.2 mmol/L were included in this randomized, double-blind placebocontrolled trial with gemfibrozil 600 mg twice daily for 5 yrs (154). Although the gemfibrozil-treated group showed 34% less cardiovascular events, there were no differences in total mortality due to a higher incidence of accidents, violent deaths and intracranial hemorrhages in the gemfibrozil group. The highest efficacy was achieved in a subset of 10% of the study population who had a TG level > 2.3 mmol/L and a baseline LDL-HDL ratio > 5. In the BECAIT-study, 92 post-infarction patients under 45 yrs with high cholesterol, TG or both participated in this randomized, placebo-controlled secondary prevention trial with bezafibrate 200 mg 3 times daily for 5 yrs (155). Both the number of coronary events and angiographically determined minimum lumen diameter were significantly better in the bezafibrate group. Recently, the results of the Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) study were presented at the XXth congress of the European Society of Cardiology in Vienna (hot line session). The BIP study is a secondary prevention trail with bezafibrate in patients with low HDL-C (lipid criteria: TC 4.7-6.5 mmol/L, TTG < 3.4 mmol/L and HDL-C < 1.16 mmol/L), conducted in 19 centers in Israel (43). There were 3122 male and female patients included in the BIP study. Interestingly, 20% of the total population that was screened showed elevated plasma triglyceride levels of which a fourth part had TTG levels exceeding 3.4 mmol/L. Unfortunately and incomprehensibly, the latter most interesting group of patients was not included. No significant effect on primary endpoints (fatal and non-fatal MI and sudden death) or mortality could be noted in the whole

group after a mean follow-up period of 6.26 years. However, in the subgroup with (mild) hypertriglyceridemia, a 40% reduction in the combined primary endpoints was seen. It is important to note that no increased frequency of adverse events such as malignancies could be observed between the placebo and bezafibrate group.

These studies indicate that fibrates improve cardiovascular outcome in dyslipidemic patients. However, the studies above included patients with varying types of HLP. In the Helsinki Heart Study, only 9% were patients with type IV HLP that we regard as the most suitable patient group for fibrate therapy. Therefore, fibrate therapy may even yield better results if subscribed to patients with high plasma TG, the lipid that is primarily affected by fibrates.

action. effectively Pharmacological Fibrates lower plasma triglyceride and cholesterol levels. The lipid-lowering effects depend upon the potency and dose of the fibrate used, as well as the patients pre-treatment lipid levels. The phenotype of the patient highly determines the observed lipid-lowering effects. In patients with hypercholesterolemia, both total cholesterol and triglyceride levels show modest reductions. On the other hand, in patients with a hypertriglyceridemia the most pronounced effect is the TGlowering effect. Although VLDL-C levels are reduced, LDL- and HDLcholesterol levels on the other hand increase (for review, see (156)). The increase in LDL and HDL cholesterol levels is a logical consequence of the reduction in TG, as TG are negatively associated with LDL-C and HDL-C levels. This association can be explained by the fact that TG are exchanged for CE from the HDL- and LDL-fraction, which results in a flux of cholesterol out of the HDL and LDL particles. The increase in HDL cholesterol levels can be attributed to the mechanism described above, and partly by increased production of apoA-I and A-II. The principal effects can be observed in the VLDL fraction. The VLDL mass is strongly reduced by 50-70%. As VLDL contain both TG and cholesterol, plasma TG and cholesterol levels decrease upon fibrate therapy. In addition, beneficial changes have also been reported on insulin resistance, fibrinogen and other components of the hemostatic system (157,158). A wide variety of fibrates is available, however, the most popular ones (with regard to safety, efficacy and tolerability) are bezafibrate (bezalip retard®, 1 dd 400 mg), ciprofibrate (modalim®, 1 dd 100 mg) and gemfibrozil (lopid®, 2 dd 600 mg). The differences between the fibrates are small (159).

Chapter 1

Mechanisms of action. Several mechanisms have been identified that explain the hypolipidemic action of fibrate therapy: 1. Improval of lipolysis of triglycerides by upregulation of lipoprotein lipase and lipoprotein downregulation of apoC-III (160,161). Although it is known that apoC-III can inhibit lipolysis and receptor-mediated lipoprotein removal, the effects of fibrate therapy on these parameters have never been studied. The effects of fibrates are mediated by stimulation of the nuclear hormone receptor family PPAR (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor) α (for review, see (162)). Activation of PPARs by fibrates, a synthetic ligand for PPAR, result in heterodimerisation with the retinoid X receptor (RXR) and consequent binding to responsive elements (peroxisome proliferator response elements) of DNA in the target cell nucleus. This eventually leads to activation or repression of target genes that are involved in lipoprotein metabolism, such as LPL, apoC-III, apoA-I and apoA-II. Fibrates increase the production of apoA-I and apoA-II in the human liver (not in rodents), that in combination with the reduction in exchangeable lipids, may contribute to the increase in HDL levels and improval of reverse cholesterol transport. 2. Fibrates increase β -oxidation of fatty acids in the mitochondrion, which results in a reduced amount of fatty acids available for triglyceride synthesis (146). Fibrates increase the hepatic fatty acid uptake and stimulate the conversion of fatty acids into acyl-coA, by inducing fatty acid transport protein (FATP) and acyl-coA synthase (ACS) (163,164). The resulting acyl-coA derivates in hepatocytes are then more efficiently oxidized by induction of fatty acid β -oxidation.

Recently, an interesting novel effect of fibrates was described. Staels *et al.* (165) demonstrated that fibrates can reduce the inflammation response via PPAR α activation. They showed that fenofibrate therapy reduced the plasma levels of interleukin-6, fibrinogen and C-reactive protein in hyperlipidemic patients with and without coronary artery disease. In addition, Staels recently stated (personal communication) that fibrate therapy can induce apoptosis in human macrophages. Although the exact mechanism remains to be determined, part of the effect on macrophages appears to be mediated by inhibition of the apoptosis-inhibitor nuclear factor κ B. This is very interesting as it suggests that fibrates may stabilize the atherosclerotic plaque by lowering the inflammation response in the fibrous cap via a lipid-independent mechanism.
1.7. Outline of this thesis

Since hypertriglyceridemia is associated with the development of atherosclerosis, it is important to expand our knowledge about the pathogenesis and treatment of this lipid disorder. Previous studies have demonstrated that triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in hypertriglyceridemic (HTG) patients are lipolyzed less efficiently in vivo as compared to controls. However, in vitro lipolysis experiments do not uniformly confirm the in vivo observations. We hypothesized that the currently available lipolysis assays with lipoprotein lipase (LPL) in solution do not provide the proper tool to study lipolysis since lipolysis in vivo is mediated by LPL that is bound to the endothelial surface of the vessel wall. In chapter 2, we describe the development of a novel lipolysis assay with heparan sulphate proteoglycanbound LPL. In chapter 3, we apply the assay in a clinical setting, in order to study the effects of mutant apoE on lipolysis and binding of VLDL by proteoglycan-bound LPL. Exogenous factors are considered to play an important role in the expression of hypertriglyceridemia. Therefore, life style measures and dietary intervention are first line therapy. In chapter 4, we study the efficacy of short-term dietary counseling in hypertriglyceridemic patients. When life style measures can not achieve acceptable lipid levels in patients with hypertriglyceridemia, pharmacological therapy may be instituted. Fibrates are considered as treatment of choice. Although these drugs have been shown to be effective TG-lowering compounds, the mechanism of action is not fully understood. In chapter 5, we investigate the effects of bezafibrate therapy on factors involved in VLDL catabolism: LPL activity, VLDL lipolysis by proteoglycan-bound LPL and VLDL binding to the LDL receptor. Triglyceride-lowering therapy has been hypothesized to improve LDL particle size and density, and consequently may improve LDL susceptibility to oxidation. To elucidate this question, we study oxidation parameters in hypertriglyceridemia and the effects of fibrate therapy in chapter 6. Disturbances in TG metabolism have been demonstrated to affect the hemostatic system and thrombocytes. Previous reports have suggested that hypertriglyceridemia is associated with increased ex vivo platelet reactivity to various agonists. In chapter 7, we assess the in vivo platelet activation status directly by determination of activation-dependent platelet surface antigens by whole blood flow cytometry. The therapeutical arsenal for hypertriglyceridemia has recently been expanded with atorvastatin, a new and powerful HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor. In chapter 8, we study the

effects of atorvastatin therapy on lipid levels and endothelial function in patients with hypertriglyceridemia.

1.8. References

- Wetterau JR, Aggerbeck LP, Bouma ME, Eisenberg C, Munck A, Hermier M, Schmitz J, Gay G, Rader DJ, Gregg RE. Absence of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in individuals with abetalipoproteinemia. Science 1992;258:999-1001.
- Gordon DA. Recent advances in elucidating the role of the microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in apolipoprotein B lipoprotein assembly. Curr Opin Lipidol 1997;8:131-7.
- Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase and lipolysis: central roles in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. J Lipid Res 1996;37:693-707.
- 4. Goldberg IJ, Kandel JJ, Blum CB, Ginsberg HN. Association of plasma lipoproteins with postheparin lipase activities. J Clin Invest 1986;78:1523-8.
- Mahley RW, Hussain MM. Chylomicron and chylomicron remnant metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 1991;2:170-6.
- Olivecrona G, Olivecrona T. Triglyceride lipases and atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995;6:291-305.
- Saxena U, Witte LD, Goldberg IJ. Release of endothelial cell lipoprotein lipase by plasma lipoproteins and free fatty acids. J Biol Chem 1989;264:4349-55.
- 8. Peterson J, Bihain BE, Bengtsson Olivecrona G, Deckelbaum RJ,

Carpentier YA, Olivecrona T. Fatty acid control of lipoprotein lipase: a link between energy metabolism and lipid transport. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:909-13.

- 9. Rensen PCN, van Berkel TJ. Apolipoprotein E effectively inhibits lipoprotein lipase-mediated lipolysis of chylomicron-like triglyceride-rich lipid emulsions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Biol Chem 1996;271:14791-9.
- Jong MC, Dahlmans VE, Hofker MH, Havekes LM. Nascent very-lowdensity lipoprotein triacylglycerol hydrolysis by lipoprotein lipase is inhibited by apolipoprotein E in a dose-dependent manner. Biochem J 1997;328:745-50.
- Zambon A, Torres A, Bijvoet S, Gagne C, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, Hayden MR, Brunzell JD. Prevention of raised low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in a patient with familial hypercholesterolaemia and lipoprotein lipase deficiency. Lancet 1993;341:1119-21.
- 12. Reardon MF, Fidge NH, Nestel PJ. Catabolism of very low density lipoprotein B apoprotein in man. J Clin Invest 1978;61:850-60.
- Beisiegel U. Receptors for triglyceriderich lipoproteins and their role in lipoprotein metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995;6:117-22.
- 14. Choi SY, Fong LG, Kirven MJ, Cooper AD. Use of an anti-low density lipoprotein receptor antibody to quantify the role of the LDL receptor in the removal of chylomicron

remnants in the mouse in vivo. J Clin Invest 1991;88:1173-81.

- Szanto A, Balasubramaniam S, Roach PD, Nestel PJ. Modulation of the lowdensity-lipoprotein-receptor-related protein and its relevance to chylomicron-remnant metabolism. Biochem J 1992;288:791-4.
- 16. Kita T, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Watanabe Y, Hornick CA, Havel RJ. Hepatic uptake of chylomicron remnants in WHHL rabbits: a mechanism genetically distinct from the low density lipoprotein receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1982;79:3623-7.
- Hoeg JM, Demosky SJJ, Gregg RE, Schaefer EJ, Brewer HBJ. Distinct hepatic receptors for low density lipoprotein and apolipoprotein E in humans. Science 1985;227:759-61.
- 18. Rubinsztein DC, Cohen JC, Berger GM, Van der Westhuyzen DR, Coetzee GA, Gevers W. Chylomicron remnant clearance from the plasma is normal in familial hypercholesterolemic homozygotes with defined receptor defects. J Clin Invest 1990;86:1306-12.
- Willnow TE, Sheng Z, Ishibashi S, Herz J. Inhibition of hepatic chylomicron remnant uptake by gene transfer of a receptor antagonist. Science 1994;264:1471-4.
- Willnow TE, Armstrong SA, Hammer RE, Herz J. Functional expression of low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein is controlled by receptor-associated protein in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:4537-41.
- Veniant MM, Zlot CH, Walzem RL, Pierotti V, Driscoll R, Dichek D, Herz J, Young SG. Lipoprotein clearance mechanisms in LDL receptor-deficient "Apo-B48-only" and "Apo-B100-only" mice. J Clin Invest 1998;102:1559-68.

- 22. Frykman PK, Brown MS, Yamamoto T, Goldstein JL, Herz J. Normal plasma lipoproteins and fertility in gene-targeted mice homozygous for a disruption in the gene encoding very low density lipoprotein receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995;92:8453-7.
- 23. Redgrave TG, Carlson LA. Changes in plasma very low density and low density lipoprotein content, composition, and size after a fatty meal in normo- and hypertriglyceridemic man. J Lipid Res 1979;20:217-29.
- 24. Berr F. Characterization of chylomicron remnant clearance by retinyl palmitate label in normal humans. J Lipid Res 1992;33:915-30.
- Karpe F, Humphreys SM, Samra JS, Summers LK, Frayn KN. Clearance of lipoprotein remnant particles in adipose tissue and muscle in humans. J Lipid Res 1997;38:2335-43.
- Rohlmann A, Gotthardt M, Hammer RE, Herz J. Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants. J Clin Invest 1998;101:689-95.
- 27. Eisenberg S, Sehayek E, Olivecrona T, Vlodavsky I. Lipoprotein lipase enhances binding of lipoproteins to heparan sulfate on cell surfaces and extracellular matrix. J Clin Invest 1992;90:2013-21.
- Mulder M, Lombardi P, Jansen H, van Berkel TJ, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Low density lipoprotein receptor internalizes low density and very low density lipoproteins that are bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans via lipoprotein lipase. J Biol Chem 1993;268:9369-75.
- 29. Redgrave TG, Small DM. Quantitation of the transfer of surface phospholipid of chylomicrons to the high density lipoprotein fraction during the catabolism of chylomicrons

in the rat. J Clin Invest 1979;64:162-71.

- 30. Schaefer EJ, Wetzel MG, Bengtsson G, Scow RO, Brewer HB, Jr., Olivecrona T. Transfer of human lymph chylomicron constituents to other lipoprotein density fractions during in vitro lipolysis. J Lipid Res 1982;23:1259-73.
- 31. Patsch JR, Prasad S, Gotto AM, Jr., Patsch W. High density lipoprotein2. Relationship of the plasma levels of this lipoprotein species to its composition, to the magnitude of postprandial lipemia, and to the activities of lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase. J Clin Invest 1987;80:341-7.
- 32. Karpe F, Bard JM, Steiner G, Carlson LA, Fruchart JC, Hamsten A. HDLs and alimentary lipemia. Studies in men with previous myocardial infarction at a young age. Arterioscler Thromb 1993;13:11-22.
- Eisenberg S. High density lipoprotein metabolism. J Lipid Res 1984;25:1017-58.
- 34. Castro Cabezas M, Van Heusden GP, de Bruin TW, Van Beckhoven JR, Kock LA, Wirtz KW, Erkelens DW. Reverse cholesterol transport: relationship between free cholesterol uptake and HDL3 in normolipidaemic and hyperlipidaemic subjects. Eur J Clin Invest 1993;23:122-9.
- 35. Kozarsky KF, Donahee MH, Rigotti A, Iqbal SN, Edelman ER, Krieger M. Overexpression of the HDL receptor SR-BI alters plasma HDL and bile cholesterol levels. Nature 1997;387:414-7.
- Austin MA, King MC, Vranizan KM, Krauss RM. Atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. A proposed genetic marker for coronary heart disease risk. Circulation 1990;82:495-506.
- 37. DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E. Insulin resistance. A multifaceted syndrome

responsible for NIDDM, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Diabetes Care 1991;14:173-94.

- Rotter JI, Bu X, Cantor RM, Warden CH, Brown J, Gray RJ, Blanche PJ, Krauss RM, Lusis AJ. Multilocus genetic determinants of LDL particle size in coronary artery disease families. Am J Hum Genet 1996;58:585-94.
- Erkelens DW, de Bruin TW, Castro Cabezas M. Tulp syndrome. Lancet 1993;342:1536-7.
- 40. Toskes PP. Hyperlipidemic pancreatitis. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 1990;19:783-91.
- Lithell H, Vessby B, Walldius G, Carlson LA. Hypertriglyceridemia-acute pancreatitis--ischemic heart disease. A case study in a pair of monozygotic twins. Acta Med Scand 1987;221:311-6.
- Castelli WP. Epidemiology of triglycerides: a view from Framingham. Am J Cardiol 1992;70:3H-9H.
- 43. Goldbourt U, Behar S, Reicher RH, Agmon J, Kaplinsky E, Graff E, Kishon Y, Caspi A, Weisbort J, Mandelzweig L, et a. Rationale and design of a secondary prevention trial of increasing serum high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and reducing triglycerides in patients with clinically manifest atherosclerotic heart disease (the Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention Trial). Am J Cardiol 1993;71:909-15.
- 44. Havel RJ. Approach to the patient with hyperlipidemia. Med Clin North Am 1982;66:319-33.
- 45. Beaumont JL, Carlson LA, Cooper GR, Fejfar Z, Fredrickson DS, Strasser T. Classification of hyperlipidaemias and hyperlipoproteinaemias. Bull World Health Organ 1970;43:891-915.

- Chait A, Albers JJ, Brunzell JD. Very low density lipoprotein overproduction in genetic forms of hypertriglyceridaemia. Eur J Clin Invest 1980;10:17-22.
- 47. Kissebah AH, Alfarsi S, Adams PW. Integrated regulation of very low density lipoprotein triglyceride and apolipoprotein-B kinetics in man: normolipemic subjects, familial hypertriglyceridemia and familial combined hyperlipidemia. Metabolism 1981;30:856-68.
- 48. Janus ED, Nicoll AM, Turner PR, Magill P, Lewis B. Kinetic bases of the primary hyperlipidaemias: studies of apolipoprotein B turnover in genetically defined subjects. Eur J Clin Invest 1980;10:161-72.
- Beil U, Grundy SM, Crouse JR, Zech L. Triglyceride and cholesterol metabolism in primary hypertriglyceridemia. Arteriosclerosis 1982;2:44-57.
- 50. Stalenhoef AF, Demacker PN, Lutterman JA, van 't Laar A. Plasma lipoproteins, apolipoproteins, and triglyceride metabolism in familial hypertriglyceridemia. Arteriosclerosis 1986;6:387-94.
- Henderson HE, Landon SV, Michie J, Berger GM. Association of a DNA polymorphism in the apolipoprotein C-III gene with diverse hyperlipidaemic phenotypes. Hum Genet 1987;75:62-5.
- 52. Dammerman M, Sandkuijl LA, Halaas JL, Chung W, Breslow JL. An apolipoprotein CIII haplotype protective against hypertriglyceridemia is specified by promoter and 3' untranslated region polymorphisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:4562-6.
- 53. Minnich A, Kessling A, Roy M, Giry C, DeLangavant G, Lavigne J, Lussier Cacan S, Davignon J. Prevalence of alleles encoding defective lipoprotein lipase in hypertriglyceridemic

patients of French Canadian descent. J Lipid Res 1995;36:117-24.

- 54. Syvanne M, Antikainen M, Ehnholm S, Tenkanen H, Lahdenpera S, Ehnholm C, Taskinen MR. Heterozygosity for ASN(291)SER mutation in the lipoprotein lipase gene in two Finnish pedigrees: Effect of hyperinsulinemia on the expression of hypertriglyceridemia. J Lipid Res 1996;37:727-38.
- 55. Erkelens DW, Brunzell JD. Effect of controlled alcohol feeding on triglycerides in patients with outpatient 'alcohol hypertriglyceridemia'. J Hum Nutr 1980;34:370-5.
- 56. Reaven GM, Mejean L, Villaume C, Drouin P, Debry G. Plasma glucose and insulin responses to oral glucose in nonobese subjects and patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Metabolism 1983;32:447-50.
- 57. Bruce R, Godsland IF, Walton C, Crook D, Wynn V. Associations between insulin sensitivity, and free fatty acid and triglyceride metabolism independent of uncomplicated obesity. Metabolism 1994;43:1275-81.
- Brunzell JD. Familial lipoprotein lipase deficiency and other causes of the chylomicronemia syndromes. In: Scriver RS, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D, eds. The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Diseases. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co, 1995:1913-1932.
- 59. Mailly F, Tugrul Y, Reymer PW, Bruin T, Seed M, Groenemeyer BF, Asplund-Carlson A, Vallance D, Winder AF, Miller GJ, et-al . A common variant in the gene for lipoprotein lipase (Asp9-- >Asn). Functional implications and prevalence in normal and hyperlipidemic subjects. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1995;15:468-78.

- Ito Y, Azrolan N, O'Connell A, Walsh A, Breslow JL. Hypertriglyceridemia as a result of human apo CIII gene expression in transgenic mice. Science 1990;249:790-3.
- 61. Maeda N, Li H, Lee D, Oliver P, Quarfordt SH, Osada J. Targeted disruption of the apolipoprotein C-III gene in mice results in hypotriglyceridemia and protection from postprandial hypertriglyceridemia. J Biol Chem 1994;269:23610-6.
- 62. Aalto Setala K, Kontula K, Sane T, Nieminen M, Nikkila E. DNA polymorphisms of apolipoprotein A-I/C-III and insulin genes in familial hypertriglyceridemia and coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 1987;66:145-52.
- 63. Hoffer MJ, Sijbrands EJ, de Man FH, Havekes LM, Smelt AHM, Frants RR. Increased risk for endogenous hypertriglyceridemia is associated with an apolipoprotein C3 haplotype specified by the SstI polymorphism. Eur J Clin Invest 1998;28:807-12.
- 64. Surguchov AP, Page GP, Smith L, Patsch W, Boerwinkle E. Polymorphic markers in apolipoprotein C-III gene flanking regions and hypertriglyceridemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:941-7.
- 65. Li W, Dammerman M, Smith JD, Metzger S, Breslow JL, Leff T. Common genetic variation in the promoter of the human apo CIII gene abolishes regulation by insulin and may contribute to hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Invest 1995;96:2601-5.
- 66. de Knijff P, van den Maagdenberg AM, Stalenhoef AF, Leuven JA, Demacker PN, Kuyt LP, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein E3-Leiden in an extended multigeneration pedigree. J Clin Invest 1991;88:643-55.

- 67. Smit M, de Knijff P, van der Kooij Meijs E, Groenendijk C, van den Maagdenberg AM, Gevers Leuven JA, Stalenhoef AF, Stuyt PM, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Genetic heterogeneity in familial dysbetalipoproteinemia. The E2(lys146----gln) variant results in a dominant mode of inheritance. J Lipid Res 1990;31:45-53.
- de Knijff P, van den Maagdenberg AM, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Genetic heterogeneity of apolipoprotein E and its influence on plasma lipid and lipoprotein levels. Hum Mutat 1994;4:178-94.
- 69. Zhao SP, van den Maagdenberg AM, Vroom TF, van 't Hooft FM, Gevers Leuvens JA, Havekes LM, Frants RR, van der Laarse A, Smelt AH. Lipoprotein profiles in a family with two mutants of apolipoprotein E: possible association with hypertriglyceridaemia but not with dysbetalipoproteinaemia. Clin Sci 1994;86:323-9.
- 70. Helio T, Palotie A, Sane T, Tikkanen MJ, Kontula K. No evidence for linkage between familial hypertriglyceridemia and apolipoprotein B, apolipoprotein C-III or lipoprotein lipase genes. Hum Genet 1994;94:271-8.
- 71. Dammerman M, Breslow JL. Genetic basis of lipoprotein disorders. Circulation 1995;91:505-12.
- Zuniga Guarjardo S, Steiner G, Shumak S, Zinman B. Insulin resistance and action in hypertriglyceridemia. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 1991;14:55-61.
- 73. Despres JP, Lamarche B, Mauriege P, Cantin B, Dagenais GR, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ. Hyperinsulinemia as an independent risk factor for ischemic heart disease. N Engl J Med 1996;334:952-7.
- 74. Tobey TA, Greenfield MS, Kraemer F, Reaven GM. Relationship between insulin resistance, insulin secretion,

very low density lipoprotein kinetics, and plasma triglyceride levels in normotriglyceridemic man. Metabolism 1981;30:165-71.

- Steiner G, Haynes FJ, Yoshino G, Vranic M. Hyperinsulinemia and in vivo very-low-density lipoproteintriglyceride kinetics. Am J Physiol 1984;246:E187-E192
- 76. Durrington PN, Newton RS, Weinstein DB, Steinberg D. Effects of insulin and glucose on very low density lipoprotein triglyceride secretion by cultured rat hepatocytes. J Clin Invest 1982;70:63-73.
- 77. Patsch W, Franz S, Schonfeld G. Role of insulin in lipoprotein secretion by cultured rat hepatocytes. J Clin Invest 1983;71:1161-74.
- Coppack SW, Jensen MD, Miles JM. In vivo regulation of lipolysis in humans. J Lipid Res 1994;35:177-93.
- 79. Byrne CD, Wareham NJ, Day NE, McLeish R, Williams DR, Hales CN. Decreased non-esterified fatty acid suppression and features of the insulin resistance syndrome occur in a sub-group of individuals with normal glucose tolerance. Diabetologia 1995;38:1358-66.
- Despres JP. Dyslipidaemia and obesity. Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994;8:629-60.
- Laws A. Free fatty acids, insulin resistance and lipoprotein metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 1996;7:172-7.
- Larsson B, Bjorntorp P, Holm J, Schersten T, Sjostrom L, Smith U. Adipocyte metabolism in endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Metabolism 1975;24:1375-89.
- 83. Taskinen MR. Insulin resistance and lipoprotein metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995;6:153-60.

- Coppack SW, Evans RD, Fisher RM, Frayn KN, Gibbons GF, Humphreys SM, Kirk ML, Potts JL, Hockaday TD. Adipose tissue metabolism in obesity: lipase action in vivo before and after a mixed meal. Metabolism 1992;41:264-72.
- 85. Knudsen P, Eriksson J, Lahdenpera S, Kahri J, Groop L, Taskinen MR. Changes of lipolytic enzymes cluster with insulin resistance syndrome. Botnia Study Group. Diabetologia 1995;38:344-50.
- Sniderman AD, Cianflone K, Arner P, Summers LK, Frayn KN. The adipocyte, fatty acid trapping, and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18:147-51.
- Stone NJ. Secondary causes of hyperlipidemia. Med Clin North Am 1994;78:117-41.
- Baraona E, Leiber CS. Effects of ethanol on lipid metabolism. J Lipid Res 1979;20:289-315.
- Pownall HJ. Dietary ethanol is associated with reduced lipolysis of intestinally derived lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 1994;35:2105-13.
- 90. de Man FH, Cabezas MC, Van Barlingen HH, Erkelens DW, de Bruin TW. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: post-prandial metabolism and relation to premature atherosclerosis. Eur J Clin Invest 1996;26:89-108.
- Kortlandt W, Erkelens DW. Glycation and lipoproteins. Diab Nutr Metab 1993;6:231-9.
- 92. Haffner SM. The Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S) subgroup analysis of diabetic subjects: implications for prevention of coronary heart disease. Diabetes Care 1997;20:469-71.
- 93. Series JJ, Biggart EM, O'Reilly DS, Packard CJ, Shepherd J. Thyroid

dysfunction and

hypercholesterolaemia in the general population of Glasgow, Scotland. Clin Chim Acta 1988;172:217-21.

- Ball MJ, Griffiths D, Thorogood M. Asymptomatic hypothyroidism and hypercholesterolaemia. J R Soc Med 1991;84:527-9.
- 95. Glueck CJ, Lang J, Tracy T, Speirs J. The common finding of covert hypothyroidism at initial clinical evaluation for hyperlipoproteinemia. Clin Chim Acta 1991;201:113-22No.
- 96. Gevers Leuven JA. Sex steroids and lipoprotein metabolism. Pharmacol Ther 1994;64:99-126.
- Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride as a risk factor for coronary heart disease. The epidemiologic evidence and beyond. Am J Epidemiol 1989;129:249-59.
- Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride and coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb 1991;11:2-14.
- 99. Hokanson JE, Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a meta-analysis of populationbased prospective studies. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996;3:213-9.
- 100. Abbott RD, Garrison RJ, Wilson PW, Castelli WP. Coronary heart disease risk: the importance of joint relationships among cholesterol levels in individual lipoprotein classes. Prev Med 1982;11:131-41.
- 101. Tenkanen L, Pietila K, Manninen V, Manttari M. The triglyceride issue revisited. Findings from the Helsinki Heart Study. Arch Intern Med 1994;154:2714-20.
- 102. Heinrich J, Balleisen L, Schulte H, Assmann G, van de Loo J. Fibrinogen and factor VII in the prediction of coronary risk. Results from the

PROCAM study in healthy men. Arterioscler Thromb 1994;14:54-9.

- 103. Hamsten A, Walldius G, Dahlen G, Johansson B, de Faire U. Serum lipoproteins and apolipoproteins in young male survivors of myocardial infarction. Atherosclerosis 1986;59:223-35.
- 104. Barbir M, Wile D, Trayner I, Aber VR, Thompson GR. High prevalence of hypertriglyceridaemia and apolipoprotein abnormalities in coronary artery disease. Br Heart J 1988;60:397-403.
- 105. Drexel H, Amann FW, Beran J, Rentsch K, Candinas R, Muntwyler J, Luethy A, Gasser T, Follath F. Plasma triglycerides and three lipoprotein cholesterol fractions are independent predictors of the extent of coronary atherosclerosis. Circulation 1994;90:2230-5.
- 106. Tatami R, Mabuchi H, Ueda K, Ueda R, Haba T, Kametani T, Ito S, Koizumi J, Ohta M, Miyamoto S, Nakayama A, Kanaya H, Oiwake H, Genda A, Takeda R. Intermediatedensity lipoprotein and cholesterolrich very low density lipoprotein in angiographically determined coronary artery disease. Circulation 1981;64:1174-84.
- 107. Steiner G, Schwartz L, Shumak S, Poapst M. The association of increased levels of intermediatedensity lipoproteins with smoking and with coronary artery disease. Circulation 1987;75:124-30.
- 108. Krauss RM, Lindgren FT, Williams PT, Kelsey SF, Brensike J, Vranizan K, Detre KM, Levy RI. Intermediatedensity lipoproteins and progression of coronary artery disease in hypercholesterolaemic men. Lancet 1987;2:62-6.
- 109. Phillips NR, Waters D, Havel RJ. Plasma lipoproteins and progression of coronary artery disease evaluated

by angiography and clinical events. Circulation 1993;88:2762-70.

- 110. Hodis HN, Mack WJ, Azen SP, Alaupovic P, Pogoda JM, LaBree L, Hemphill LC, Kramsch DM, Blankenhorn DH. Triglyceride- and cholesterol-rich lipoproteins have a differential effect on mild/moderate and severe lesion progression as assessed by quantitative coronary angiography in a controlled trial of lovastatin. Circulation 1994;90:42-9.
- 111. Simpson HS, Williamson CM, Olivecrona T, Pringle S, Maclean J, Lorimer AR, Bonnefous F, Bogaievsky Y, Packard CJ, Shepherd J. Postprandial lipemia, fenofibrate and coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis 1990;85:193-202.
- 112. Groot PH, van Stiphout WA, Krauss XH, Jansen H, Van Tol A, van Ramshorst E, Chin On S, Hofman A, Cresswell SR, Havekes LM. Postprandial lipoprotein metabolism in normolipidemic men with and without coronary artery disease. Arterioscler Thromb 1991;11:653-62.
- 113. Karpe F, Steiner G, Uffelman K, Olivecrona T, Hamsten A. Postprandial lipoproteins and progression of coronary atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 1994;106:83-97.
- 114. Karpe F, Tornvall P, Olivecrona T, Steiner G, Carlson LA, Hamsten A. Composition of human low density lipoprotein: effects of postprandial triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, lipoprotein lipase, hepatic lipase and cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Atherosclerosis 1993;98:33-49.
- 115. Patsch JR, Miesenbock G, Hopferwieser T, Muhlberger V, Knapp E, Dunn JK, Gotto AM, Jr., Patsch W. Relation of triglyceride metabolism and coronary artery disease. Studies in the postprandial state. Arterioscler Thromb 1992;12:1336-45.

- 116. Ryu JE, Howard G, Craven TE, Bond MG, Hagaman AP, Crouse JR. Postprandial triglyceridemia and carotid atherosclerosis in middle-aged subjects. Stroke 1992;23:823-8.
- 117. Rapp JH, Lespine A, Hamilton RL, Colyvas N, Chaumeton AH, Tweedie Hardman J, Kotite L, Kunitake ST, Havel RJ, Kane JP. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins isolated by selectedaffinity anti-apolipoprotein B immunosorption from human atherosclerotic plaque. Arterioscler Thromb 1994;14:1767-74.
- 118. Gianturco SH, Bradley WA, Gotto AM, Jr., Morrisett JD, Peavy DL. Hypertriglyceridemic very low density lipoproteins induce triglyceride synthesis and accumulation in mouse peritoneal macrophages. J Clin Invest 1982;70:168-78.
- 119. de Graaf JC, Hendriks JC, Demacker PN, Stalenhoef AF. Identification of multiple dense LDL subfractions with enhanced susceptibility to in vitro oxidation among hypertriglyceridemic subjects. Normalization after clofibrate treatment. Arterioscler Thromb 1993;13:712-9.
- 120. Austin MA, Breslow JL, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Willett WC, Krauss RM. Low-density lipoprotein subclass patterns and risk of myocardial infarction. JAMA 1988;260:1917-21.
- 121. Bagdade JD, Lane JT, Subbaiah PV, Otto ME, Ritter MC. Accelerated cholesteryl ester transfer in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Atherosclerosis 1993;104:69-77.
- 122. Zilversmit DB. Atherogenesis: a postprandial phenomenon. Circulation 1979;60:473-85.
- 123. Simons LA, Dwyer T, Simons J, Bernstein L, Mock P, Poonia NS, Balasubramaniam S, Baron D, Branson J, Morgan J, Roy P. Chylomicrons and chylomicron remnants in coronary artery disease:

a case-control study. Atherosclerosis 1987;65:181-9.

- 124. Floren CH, Albers JJ, Bierman EL. Uptake of chylomicron remnants causes cholesterol accumulation in cultured human arterial smooth muscle cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1981;663:336-49.
- 125. Steiner G. Hypertriglyceridemia and carbohydrate intolerance: interrelations and therapeutic implications. Am J Cardiol 1986;57:27G-30G.
- 126. Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 1988;37:1595-607.
- 127. Haffner SM, Valdez RA, Hazuda HP, Mitchell BD, Morales PA, Stern MP. Prospective analysis of the insulinresistance syndrome (syndrome X). Diabetes 1992;41:715-22.
- 128. Kaplan NM. The deadly quartet. Upper-body obesity, glucose intolerance, hypertriglyceridemia, and hypertension. Arch Intern Med 1989;149:1514-20.
- 129. Toborek M, Hennig B. Fatty acidmediated effects on the glutathione redox cycle in cultured endothelial cells. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;59:60-5.
- 130. Paolisso G, Gambardella A, Tagliamonte MR, Saccomanno F, Salvatore T, Gualdiero P, D'Onofrio MV, Howard BV. Does free fatty acid infusion impair insulin action also through an increase in oxidative stress? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996;81:4244-8.
- 131. Hennig B, Shasby DM, Spector AA. Exposure to fatty acid increases human low density lipoprotein transfer across cultured endothelial monolayers. Circ Res 1985;57:776-80.
- 132. Steinberg HO, Tarshoby M, Monestel R, Hook G, Cronin J, Johnson A, Bayazeed B, Baron AD. Elevated circulating free fatty acid levels

impair endothelium-dependent vasodilation. J Clin Invest 1997;100:1230-9.

- 133. Meade TW, Mellows S, Brozovic M, Miller GJ, Chakrabarti RR, North WR, Haines AP, Stirling Y, Imeson JD, Thompson SG. Haemostatic function and ischaemic heart disease: principal results of the Northwick Park Heart Study. Lancet 1986;2:533-7.
- 134. Assmann G, Schulte H. The importance of triglycerides: results from the Prospective Cardiovascular Munster (PROCAM) Study. Eur J Epidemiol 1992;8 Suppl 1:99-103.
- 135. Zitoun D, Bara L, Basdevant A, Samama MM. Levels of factor VIIc associated with decreased tissue factor pathway inhibitor and increased plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in dyslipidemias. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:77-81.
- 136. Silveira A, Karpe F, Blomback M, Steiner G, Walldius G, Hamsten A. Activation of coagulation factor VII during alimentary lipemia. Arterioscler Thromb 1994;14:60-9.
- 137. Benderly M, Graff E, Reicher Reiss H, Behar S, Brunner D, Goldbourt U. Fibrinogen is a predictor of mortality in coronary heart disease patients. The Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) Study Group. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:351-6.
- 138. Pyorala K, De Backer G, Graham I, Poole WP, Wood D. Prevention of coronary heart disease in clinical practice. Recommendations of the Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology, European Atherosclerosis Society and European Society of Hypertension. Eur Heart J 1994;15:1300-31.
- 139. Werkgroep herziene cholesterol consensus. Behandeling en preventie van coronaire hartziekten door verlaging van de plasma cholesterol

concentratie: Consensus cholesterol tweede herziening april 1998. 2 Ed. Utrecht: van Zuiden Communications B.V., 1998.

- 140. National Cholesterol Education Program. Second Report of the Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel II). Circulation 1994;89:1333-445.
- 141. Gotto AM, Jr., DeBakey ME, Foreyt JP, Scott LW, Thornby JI. Dietary treatment of type IV hyperlipoproteinemia. JAMA 1977;237:1212-5.
- 142. Dallongeville J, Leboeuf N, Blais C, Touchette J, Gervais N, Davignon J. Short-term response to dietary counseling of hyperlipidemic outpatients of a lipid clinic. J Am Diet Assoc 1994;94:616-21.
- 143. Bloemberg BP, Kromhout D, Goddijn HE, Jansen A, Obermann de Boer GL. The impact of the Guidelines for a Healthy Diet of The Netherlands Nutrition Council on total and high density lipoprotein cholesterol in hypercholesterolemic free-living men. Am J Epidemiol 1991;134:39-48.
- 144. Kromhout D, Katan MB, Havekes LM, Groener A, Hornstra G, de Lezenne Coulander C. The effects of 26 years of habitual fish consumption on serum lipid and lipoprotein levels (The Zutphen study). Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 1996;6:65-71.
- 145. Harris WS. Fish oils and plasma lipid and lipoprotein metabolism in humans: a critical review. J Lipid Res 1989;30:785-807.
- 146. Froyland L, Madsen L, Vaagenes H, Totland GK, Auwerx J, Kryvi H, Staels B, Berge RK. Mitochondrion is the principal target for nutritional and pharmacological control of triglyceride metabolism. J Lipid Res 1997;38:1851-8.

- 147. Hau MF, Smelt AH, Bindels AJ, Sijbrands EJ, van der Laarse A, Onkenhout W, van Duyvenvoorde W, Princen HMG. Effects of fish oil on oxidation of very low density lipoprotein in hypertriglyceridemic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:1197-202.
- 148. van de Vijver LP, Kardinaal AF, van Duyvenvoorde W, Kruijssen DA, Grobbee DE, van Poppel G, Princen HMG. LDL oxidation and extent of coronary atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18:193-9.
- 149. Noma A, Maeda S, Okuno M, Abe A, Muto Y. Reduction of serum lipoprotein(a) levels in hyperlipidaemic patients with alphatocopheryl nicotinate. Atherosclerosis 1990;84:213-7.
- 150. Grundy SM, Vega GL. Two different views of the relationship of hypertriglyceridemia to coronary heart disease. Implications for treatment. Arch Intern Med 1992;152:28-34.
- 151. Stein EA, Lane M, Laskarzewski P. Comparison of statins in hypertriglyceridemia. Am J Cardiol 1998;81:66B-9B.
- 152. Bakker Arkema RG, Davidson MH, Goldstein RJ, Davignon J, Isaacsohn JL, Weiss SR, Keilson LM, Brown WV, Miller VT, Shurzinske LJ, Black DM. Efficacy and safety of a new HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, atorvastatin, in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. JAMA 1996;275:128-33.
- Wierzbicki AS, Lumb PJ, Semra YK, Crook MA. Effect of atorvastatin on plasma fibrinogen. Lancet 1997;351:569-70.
- 154. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, Huttunen JK, Kaitaniemi P, Koskinen P, Manninen V, Maenpaa H, Malkonen M, Manttari M, Norola S, Pasternack A, Pikkarainen J, Romo M, Sjoblom T,

Nikkila EA. Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. Safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1987;317:1237-45.

- 155. Ericsson CG, Hamsten A, Nilsson J, Grip L, Svane B, de Faire U. Angiographic assessment of effects of bezafibrate on progression of coronary artery disease in young male postinfarction patients. Lancet 1996;347:849-53.
- 156. Hunninghake DB, Peters JR. Effect of fibric acid derivatives on blood lipid and lipoprotein levels. Am J Med 1987;83:44-9.
- 157. Almer LO, Kjellstrom T. The fibrinolytic system and coagulation during bezafibrate treatment of hypertriglyceridemia. Atherosclerosis 1986;61:81-5.
- 158. Pazzucconi F, Mannucci L, Mussoni L, Gianfranceschi G, Maderna P, Werba P, Franceschini G, Sirtori CR, Tremoli E. Bezafibrate lowers plasma lipids, fibrinogen and platelet aggregability in hypertriglyceridaemia. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1992;43:219-23.
- 159. Tikkanen MJ. Fibric acid derivates. Curr Opin Lipidol 1992;3:29-33.
- 160. Staels B, Vu DN, Kosykh VA, Saladin R, Fruchart JC, Dallongeville J, Auwerx J. Fibrates downregulate apolipoprotein C-III expression independent of induction of peroxisomal acyl coenzyme A oxidase. A potential mechanism for the

hypolipidemic action of fibrates. J Clin Invest 1995;95:705-12.

- 161. Auwerx J, Schoonjans K, Fruchart JC, Staels B. Transcriptional control of triglyceride metabolism: fibrates and fatty acids change the expression of the LPL and apo C-III genes by activating the nuclear receptor PPAR. Atherosclerosis 1996;124 Suppl:S29-37.
- 162. Schoonjans K, Staels B, Auwerx J. The peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPARS) and their effects on lipid metabolism and adipocyte differentiation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1302:93-109.
- 163. Martin G, Schoonjans K, Lefebvre AM, Staels B, Auwerx J. Coordinate regulation of the expression of the fatty acid transport protein and acyl-CoA synthetase genes by PPARalpha and PPARgamma activators. J Biol Chem 1997;272:28210-7.
- 164. Schoonjans K, Watanabe M, Suzuki H, Mahfoudi A, Krey G, Wahli W, Grimaldi P, Staels B, Yamamoto T, Auwerx J. Induction of the acylcoenzyme A synthetase gene by fibrates and fatty acids is mediated by a peroxisome proliferator response element in the C promoter. J Biol Chem 1995;270:19269-76.
- 165. Staels B, Koenig W, Habib A, Merval R, Lebret M, Torra IP, Delerive P, Fadel A, Chinetti G, Fruchart JC, Najib J, Maclouf J, Tedgui A. Activation of human aortic smoothmuscle cells is inhibited by PPARalpha but not by PPARgamma activators. Nature 1998;393:790-3.

Chapter 2

Lipolysis of Very Low Density Lipoproteins by Heparan Sulphate Proteoglycan-bound Lipoprotein Lipase

Frits H.A.F. de Man¹, Femke de Beer^{2,3}, Arnoud van der Laarse¹, Augustinus H.M. Smelt², and Louis M. Havekes^{1,2,3}

Departments of ¹Cardiology and ²Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, ³TNO-Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden, The Netherlands

J Lipid Res 1997;38:2465-72

Presented at the European Lipoprotein Club in September 1996 (Tutzing, Germany)

Summary

An *in vitro* assay to study lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) by heparan sulphate proteoglycan (HSPG)-bound lipoprotein lipase (LPL) was developed. Optimal conditions for VLDL lipolysis by HSPG-bound LPL were obtained by incubating plastic wells with 0.5 μ g HSPG and 1.5 μ g LPL, subsequently. Control experiments with heparinase indicate that at least 90% of the LPL activity is derived from LPL bound to heparan sulphate chains. For HSPG-LPL mediated lipolysis, the apparent Km and Vmax values were 0.36 ± 0.11 mmol/L VLDL-triglycerides and 46 ± 4 μ mol free fatty acids/L.min, respectively. The mean intra-assay and inter-assay coefficients of variation were 5% and 8%, respectively.

Introduction

Lipoprotein lipase (LPL, EC 3.1.1.34) is the key enzyme involved in the hydrolysis of chylomicron and very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) triglycerides (1,2). After synthesis in parenchymal cells, LPL is secreted and transported across the endothelium where it binds to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) at the luminal surface of endothelial cells (3,4). Although functional LPL acts *in vivo* as a proteoglycan-bound enzyme, its kinetics *in vitro* are commonly studied with LPL in solution. Only few studies with heparin-Sepharose immobilized LPL have been reported previously (5,6). In these studies, a higher Michaelis-Menten constant (Km) and lower maximum reaction velocity (Vmax) were noted for heparin-Sepharose immobilized LPL as compared to LPL in solution. This observation was in accordance with *in vivo* studies, showing that heparin-induced release of LPL from the vessel wall resulted in rapid clearance of plasma triglycerides (7,8), a phenomenon explained by increased accessibility of the enzyme for its substrate.

In addition to the observed difference in lipolysis rate, it is conceivable that the proximity of heparin or HSPG influences directly the substrate-enzyme interaction. As triglyceride-rich lipoproteins come into contact with the endothelium-bound LPL, the particle has to reside transiently at the lipolytic site. This interaction between the lipid particle and vessel wall components is considered to enhance the stability of the lipoprotein-LPL complex (9), a process probably mediated by apolipoproteins (apo). Specific binding sites for LPL have been reported on apoC-II and B-100 (10,11), whereas apoE is known to bind to heparan sulphate chains (9,12). Ji et al. (12) demonstrated that enrichment of β -VLDL with apoE enhanced the binding of the ß-VLDL to liver cells 4-5 fold, an effect which was suggested to be mediated by the interaction of apoE with HSPG. In addition, they also found that mutant apoE showed reduced affinity to isolated HSPG, a finding which was confirmed by others (13). It was speculated that a defective interaction between apoE and HSPG may be associated with an impaired lipolysis of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by HSPGbound LPL (14,15). However, this hypothesis could not be tested so far as a lipolysis assay with HSPG-bound LPL was not available. The present paper presents a novel, reproducible and rapid in vitro assay for lipolysis of VLDL using HSPG-bound LPL.

Materials and Methods

Lipids and lipoproteins

Venous blood from healthy, normolipidemic apoE3 homozygotes was collected after an overnight fast. Serum was obtained after centrifugation at 1500 g for 15 min at room temperature. VLDL was isolated by ultracentrifugation as described by Redgrave *et al.* (16). Protein content of the VLDL samples was determined by the method of Lowry *et al.* (17). Triglyceride concentrations of the VLDL fraction was measured enzymatically using a test kit (Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, MO). ApoE phenotyping was performed by isoelectric focusing according to Havekes *et al.* (18).

Lipoprotein lipase

LPL was purified from fresh bovine milk as described previously (19). The isolated fraction was resuspended in 20 mmol/L NaH₂PO₄, 50% glycerol and stored in aliquots at -80°C. Isolated LPL was analyzed by sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE, 4-20%) (figure 1) (20). Proteins were stained with Coomassie Brilliant blue or transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher and Schuell, Dassel, Germany). Blots were incubated with monoclonal antibody 5D2 (prepared by Dr. J.D. Brunzell *et al.* (21), University of Washington, Seattle), and rabbit anti-mouse IgG conjugated to peroxidase (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark) was used as second antibody. A clear band with the approximate molecular weight of bovine LPL (56 kDa) was detected, which accounted for 51% of the total amount of protein in the sample (figure 1, panel A). This band reacted with the 5D2 antibody to bovine LPL (figure 1, panel B). The specific activity of the isolated LPL was 10.9 μ mol FFA.min⁻¹.mg protein⁻¹.



Figure 1. Isolated bovine LPL was analyzed by SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis (4-20%). Proteins were stained with Coomassie Brilliant blue (panel A) or transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Blots were incubated with monoclonal antibody 5D2, and rabbit anti-mouse IgG conjugated to peroxidase was used as second antibody (panel B). Molecular weight standards are indicated in the left lanes of panel A and B.

Assay of lipolysis with heparan sulphate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase

HSPG, isolated from basement membrane of mouse sarcoma cells, were purchased from Sigma. The assay was performed in 96-well microtiter plates (Greiner GmbH, Frichenhausen, Germany). Wells were incubated with different amounts of HSPG (as indicated) for 18 h at 4°C, washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and subsequently blocked for 1 h at 37°C with PBS containing 1% (w/v) essentially free fatty acid (FFA)-free bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma). Then, the wells were incubated with different amounts of LPL per well (as indicated), diluted in Tris-glycerol buffer (0.1 M Tris, 20% (v/v) glycerol, pH 8.5) for 1 h at 4°C. After washing the wells three times with Tris buffer (0.1 M Tris, pH 8.5), lipolysis was started by adding various amounts of VLDL (as indicated) to the preconditioned well in the presence of 1% (w/v)

45

essentially FFA-free BSA and placing the plate in a shaking incubator at 37° C. The rate of FFA release proved to be linear in time up to 10 minutes. The reaction was stopped after 10 min by the addition of Triton X-100 (1% (v/v), final concentration), followed by vortexing and cooling on ice. FFA concentrations were measured in triplicate using a NEFA C kit (Wako Chemicals GmbH, Germany).

As control, HSPG-LPL coated wells were incubated with a mixture of 2.4 U heparinase I/ml (EC 4.2.2.7.; Sigma) and 2.4 U heparinase III/ml (EC 4.2.2.8.; Sigma) in PBS for 20 min at 37°C. The wells were washed with Tris buffer and lipolysis was performed as described above.

To check whether LPL would detach from the HSPG-complexes in the presence of VLDL, the following control experiment was performed. Wells were preconditioned as described above, with the exception that ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL was used. Then, the wells were incubated with 0.6 mmol/L VLDL-TG or Tris buffer for 10 min at 37°C. After washing the wells three times with Tris buffer, the ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL bound to HSPG was dissolved in 0.2 N NaOH for quantitation.

Reproducibility was assessed by comparing the lipolysis of a VLDL sample freshly isolated from serum of a normolipidemic subject, and VLDL from the same subject but stored for 1 and 4 weeks, respectively. For storage, serum samples were brought to a final concentration of 10% (w/v) sucrose, 10 mmol/L EDTA, capped under nitrogen, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at - 80° C. Under these conditions, lipoprotein size and biological properties have been shown to remain intact for months (22).

Assay of lipolysis with lipoprotein lipase in solution

The VLDL samples were diluted in 0.1 M Tris, 1% (w/v) essentially FFA-free BSA, pH 8.5. The incubation was started by adding 7 ng LPL per well, followed by vortexing and incubation at 37° C. The reaction was stopped by the addition of 1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 0.1 M Tris, vortexing and cooling on ice. A blank sample was obtained by adding Triton prior to the addition of LPL and maintenance on ice. FFA concentrations were determined in triplicate. The rate of FFA release by LPL was linear for at least 6 min, as used in this assay.

Labeling of very low density lipoproteins and lipoprotein lipase

VLDL was iodinated using the ¹²⁵I-iodine monochloride method of Bilheimer *et al.* (23). ¹²⁵I-iodide (specific activity 15.5 mCi/µg) was purchased from Amersham (Buckinghamshire, UK). After iodination, VLDL was dialyzed extensively at 4°C against PBS for 24 h and stabilized with 1% (w/v) BSA (fraction V, Sigma).

Between the different ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL samples the specific radioactivity ranged from 150-200 cpm/ng protein. The stabilized ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL was stored at 4° C and used within two weeks.

LPL was iodinated using the IODO-BEADS[®] Iodination Reagent (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Free ¹²⁵I was removed by Sephadex G-25 gel filtration with 50 mmol/L Tris, 1 M NaCl, 0.01% Tween-80 as the eluent. The specific activity of ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL was 300 cpm/ng protein. ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL was stabilized with 0.1% (w/v) essentially FFA-free BSA and stored at -20°C.

Binding assays

Binding of VLDL

Plastic wells (96-well microtiter plates) were coated with 0.5 μ g HSPG per well and subsequently incubated with 1.5 μ g LPL per well, exactly as described above. After washing the plates two times with ice-cold PBS, the binding of VLDL to HSPG-bound LPL was determined by incubating the plates for 2 h at 4°C with the indicated amounts of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL, either in the presence or absence of a 20-fold excess of unlabeled VLDL. Thereafter, the plates were washed two times with ice-cold PBS containing 0.1% (w/v) BSA, and subsequently washed with PBS without BSA. The ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL bound to the HSPG-LPL complex was dissolved in 0.2 N NaOH for quantitation of the binding. High affinity binding was calculated by subtracting the amount of labeled VLDL that was bound to the HSPG-LPL complexes after incubation in the presence of a 20-fold excess of unlabeled VLDL (aspecific binding) from the amount of labeled VLDL that was bound in the absence of unlabeled VLDL (total binding).

Binding of LPL

To measure the amount of LPL binding in the HSPG-LPL coated wells, LPL was iodinated as described above. Wells were incubated with 0.5 μ g HSPG for 18 h at 4°C, washed three times with PBS and subsequently blocked for 1 h at 37°C with PBS containing 1% (w/v) essentially FFA-free BSA. Then, the wells were incubated with 1.5 μ g ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL diluted in Tris-glycerol buffer for 1 h at 4°C. Thus, the pretreatment of the wells was performed exactly as described for the lipolysis assay with HSPG-bound LPL, with the exception that ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL was used. After washing the wells three times with ice-cold PBS, the ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL was dissolved in 0.2 N NaOH for quantitation. Of the initially added 1500 ng LPL, only 40 ng LPL proved to bind to the HSPG-coated

wells (2.7%). Similar results were obtained when heparin was used to release LPL from the wells instead of 0.2 N NaOH.

Results and Discussion

The present study was performed to develop an *in vitro* lipolysis assay using HSPG-bound LPL. The limited number of reports in literature, describing a lipolysis assay with immobilized LPL, were performed with heparin-Sepharose columns as adhesive surface for LPL (5,6). Since this design has been shown to be technically difficult and poorly reproducible, we used plastic microtiter plates as adhesive surface for coating with HSPG and LPL, subsequently.

The first objective was to determine the optimal incubation conditions for coating. Therefore, wells were incubated with increasing concentrations of HSPG (ranging from 0 - $3 \mu g/well$) and LPL (ranging from 0 - $5 \mu g/well$).



Figure 2. Determination of optimal incubation conditions to study lipolysis of VLDL by HSPGbound LPL. Plates were incubated with increasing concentrations HSPG and washed three times with PBS to remove unbound HSPG. Subsequently, the wells were incubated with 1% BSA in PBS to block aspecific binding sites. Then, the plates were incubated with different amounts of LPL, as indicated. Plates were washed three times to remove unbound LPL and the lipolysis assay was started by adding control VLDL (TG 1.0 mmol/L) to the preconditioned wells. After 10 min, the reaction was stopped by the addition of 1% Triton X-100. Free fatty acid release represent the mean \pm S.D. for wells measured in triplicate.

As shown in figure 2, the FFA release increases with increasing amounts of HSPG, but at HSPG-concentrations greater than 0.1 μ g/well, lipolysis reaches a plateau indicating saturation. From figure 2 it is also obvious that lipolysis increases with increasing LPL concentrations in the second incubation step, showing saturation at a LPL concentration above 1.0 μ g/well. All subsequent lipolysis experiments were carried out in the saturated parts of the curves, using a HSPG concentration of 0.5 μ g/well in the first incubation step and a LPL concentration of 1.5 μ g/well in the second step.

To determine the VLDL binding characteristics under these conditions, preconditioned wells were incubated with increasing concentrations of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL.



Figure 3. Binding curve of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL to HSPG-bound LPL (\bullet) and HSPG alone (\Box). After coating with 0.5 µg/well HSPG, aspecific binding sites were blocked with PBS, 1% BSA and treated with 1.5 µg LPL or 0 µg LPL per well, respectively. Plates were then incubated for 2 h at 4°C with different amounts of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL as indicated, either in the presence or absence of a 20-fold excess of unlabeled VLDL. High affinity binding to HSPG-LPL (\bullet) was calculated by subtracting the amount of labeled VLDL that was aspecifically bound to the HSPG-LPL complexes (\bullet) from the amount of labeled VLDL that was bound in the absence of unlabeled VLDL (total binding) (O). VLDL binding to HSPG-bound LPL is expressed as ng of lipoprotein per well. Each value represents the mean ± S.D. of triplicate measurements.

Figure 3 clearly demonstrates that VLDL binds to the HSPG-LPL complexes of the preconditioned wells, whereas in the absence of LPL, VLDL binds very poorly to the HSPG-coated wells. This indicates that the current lipolysis assay represents lipolysis of VLDL after binding to immobilized LPL.

In order to assess kinetic parameters of the novel lipolysis assay and compare these with the conventional assay, lipolysis experiments with HSPGbound LPL and LPL in solution were carried out with increasing concentrations of VLDL-TG. Figure 4 shows the respective lipolysis curves.



Figure 4. Lipolysis experiments with HSPG-bound LPL (\bullet) and LPL in solution (O) were carried out with increasing concentrations of VLDL-TG. With regard to the lipolysis assay with HSPGbound LPL, wells were preconditioned with HSPG and LPL (materials and methods), washed and subsequently incubated with various amounts of VLDL-TG in the presence of 1% BSA for 10 min at 37°C. The lipolysis assay with LPL in solution was performed by incubating VLDL-TG samples with LPL in solution for 6 min at 37°C. The reactions were stopped by addition of Triton X-100, vortexing and cooling on ice. FFA concentrations were determined in triplicate.

The apparent Km values, as calculated by Lineweaver-Burk analysis, of the lipolysis assay with LPL in solution and HSPG-bound LPL are 0.20 \pm 0.03 mmol/L and 0.36 \pm 0.11 mmol/L VLDL-TG, respectively. The apparent Vmax values of the lipolysis assay with LPL in solution and HSPG-bound LPL are 80 \pm 3 µmol FFA/L.min and 46 \pm 4 µmol FFA/L.min, respectively. Thus, the conventional assay with LPL in solution yields a lower Km and higher Vmax

value as compared to the novel assay with HSPG-bound LPL, which is in agreement with previous studies (5). Since lipolysis kinetic studies are performed preferably with substrate concentrations in the Km range, subsequent lipolysis experiments were performed in the VLDL-TG range of 0.2 - 0.6 mmol/L.

To determine whether under these assay conditions HSPG-LPL mediated lipolysis of VLDL occurs by LPL molecules that bound specifically to HSPG, preconditioned wells were incubated with heparinase in order to hydrolyze heparan sulphates (3,12). As shown in figure 5, treatment of HSPG-LPL coated wells with heparinase reduced lipolysis to approximately 10% of the normal lipolysis rate. These results indicate that at least 90% of the LPL activity is indeed derived from LPL bound to heparan sulphate chains.



Figure 5. Effect of heparinase treatment on HSPG-LPL mediated lipolysis. HSPG-LPL coated plates were incubated with PBS containing heparinase I/III (), or PBS without heparinase ()) at 37°C for 20 min. Then, the wells were washed three times. Lipolysis was carried out by incubating VLDL at three different VLDL-TG concentrations for 10 min at 37°C.

It is known that LPL can detach from endothelium during lipolysis (24,25). To check whether LPL would detach from the HSPG-complexes in the presence of VLDL, the following control experiment was performed. Wells were preconditioned with HSPG and ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL, and subsequently incubated in the presence or absence of VLDL (see materials and methods). After washing the wells, the remaining amount of ¹²⁵I-labeled LPL was released from the HSPG-complexes for quantitation. No differences were noted between the wells incubated with VLDL-TG and the wells incubated with the lipoprotein-free buffer alone (data not shown). Thus, incubation of HSPG-LPL coated wells

with VLDL does not result in detachment of LPL from the HSPG-complexes under the conditions applied.

To test the reproducibility of the lipolysis assay, repetitive lipolysis experiments were performed with VLDL, isolated from a healthy normolipidemic subject. The first lipolysis experiment was carried out with freshly isolated VLDL; the second and third experiment with VLDL isolated from the same serum but stored for 1 and 4 weeks at -80°C (see materials and methods). Nearly identical rates of FFA release were observed in the three consecutive experiments (table 1).

	Storage at -80 °C				Control subjects (n=4)				
VLDL-TG	0 wk	1 wk	4 wks	Cv _{ia} ^a	Α	В	С	D	CV _{ii} ^b
mmol/L	Rate of lipolysis (mmol/L FFA)				Rate of lipolysis (mmol/L FFA)				
0.20	0.19	0.16	0.16	11%	0.22	0.15	0.17	0.22	18%
0.40	0.33	0.27	0.29	10%	0.35	0.24	0.24	0.34	21%
0.60	0.42	0.40	0.41	3%	0.44	0.35	0.31	0.42	15%

Table 1. Reproducibility and biological variation of VLDL-TG lipolysis usingHSPG-bound LPL

Lipolysis rates are expressed as mmol FFA/l after 10 min incubation in HSPG-LPL coated wells. wk, week; ${}^{a}CV_{ia}$, inter-assay coefficient of variation; ${}^{b}CV_{ia}$, inter-individual coefficient of variation.

The inter-assay coefficients of variation ranged from 3 to 11%, depending on the substrate concentration used. Thus, the lipolysis assay with HSPG-bound LPL appears to be reproducible and storage at -80°C under well-defined conditions does not affect lipolysis rates. Inter-individual variation in lipolysis was assessed by performing lipolysis experiments with separate VLDL samples, isolated from four normolipidemic apoE3 homozygous subjects. The mean inter-individual coefficient of variation was calculated to be 18% (table 1). The intra-assay coefficient of variation was 5%. Although the variation between different lipolysis experiments (inter-assay coefficient of variation) is acceptable, it is recommendable to use an internal standard in each series of lipolysis experiments, e.g. a plasma pool stored at -80°C after cryopreservation from which VLDL can be isolated for each new series of lipolysis experiments.

The potential benefits of this novel lipolysis assay over the conventional assay with LPL in solution remain to be established. However, preliminary results indicated that VLDL isolated from patients with different apoE mutations show different lipolysis efficiencies by HSPG-bound LPL which are paralleled by differences in binding of VLDL to the HSPG-LPL complex (26). In contrast, the conventional lipolysis assay with LPL in solution did not detect differences in lipolysis. Thus, the current assay with HSPG-bound LPL may provide the proper experimental tool to detect differences in lipolysis efficiency if an altered interaction between VLDL and HSPG-LPL complex is expected. This may be the case in endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. *In vitro* lipolysis experiments with hypertriglyceridemic VLDL using LPL in solution did not demonstrate an impaired lipolysis as compared to VLDL isolated from healthy subjects (27). However, since apoE and apoC may modulate the binding of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to heparan sulphate (15), it is speculated that in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia, whose VLDL contain an increased apoC content per particle, a reduced binding to HSPG-bound LPL and therefore a reduced lipolysis efficiency may be expected. The current assay with HSPG-bound LPL may provide the proper experimental tool to address this issue in the future.

The current lipolysis assay with HSPG-bound LPL presents a simple method to study lipolysis of VLDL. An important improvement is the preserved interaction between VLDL, LPL and HSPG. Although this system shows a better resemblance to the *in vivo* situation than the conventional assay with free LPL, there are still some important differences. FFAs and other lipolysis products can not be disposed into the underlying tissue but remain in the proximity of the enzyme-substrate complex. In addition, LPL is bound to HSPG alone whereas in the normal situation, LPL is bound to different proteoglycans and non-proteoglycan LPL-binding proteins (28,29). A lipolysis assay using LPL bound to endothelial cells, as has been described by Saxena et al. (30), therefore has theoretical advantages over the present cell-free system with HSPG-bound LPL. However, several practical problems have to be solved before this concept of endothelial-bound LPL can be used for measuring the kinetics of VLDL-TG lipolysis. In particular the exact number of cells in the system over a longer period of time (months to years) and the time- and cell phase-dependent expression of extracellular matrix proteins may affect the reproducibility of the assay (31).

We conclude that the current lipolysis assay presents a simple and reproducible method to study lipolysis of VLDL, whereby the interaction between VLDL, LPL and HSPG is preserved.

53

Acknowledgments

This work was supported financially by the Dutch Heart Foundation (project no. 94.114). We are grateful to Leonie van Vark for the isolation of LPL. We thank Dr. Hans Jansen for determining the specific activity of our LPL sample. Sylvia Kamerling is thanked for analyzing the purity of the isolated LPL fraction by gel electrophoresis.

References

- 1. Anfinsen CB. The role of heparin in lipoprotein metabolism. Science 1952;115:583-6.
- 2. Coppack SW, Jensen MD, Miles JM. In vivo regulation of lipolysis in humans. J Lipid Res 1994;35:177-93.
- Shimada K, Gill PJ, Silbert JE, Douglas WH, Fanburg BL. Involvement of cell surface heparin sulfate in the binding of lipoprotein lipase to cultured bovine endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 1981;68:995-1002.
- 4. Cheng CF, Oosta GM, Bensadoun A, Rosenberg RD. Binding of lipoprotein lipase to endothelial cells in culture. J Biol Chem 1981;256:12893-8.
- Posner I, Wang CS, McConathy WJ. The comparative kinetics of soluble and heparin-Sepharose- immobilized bovine lipoprotein lipase. Arch Biochem Biophys 1983;226:306-16.
- Clark AB, Quarfordt SH. Apolipoprotein effects on the lipolysis of perfused triglyceride by heparin-immobilized milk lipase. J Biol Chem 1985;260:4778-83.
- 7. Hahn PF. Abolishment of alimentary lipemia following injection of heparin. Science 1943;98:19-20.
- 8. Chevreuil O, Hultin M, Ostergaard P, Olivecrona T. Biphasic effects of lowmolecular-weight and conventional

heparins on chylomicron clearance in rats. Arterioscler Thromb 1993;13:1397-403.

- 9. Weisgraber KH, Rall SC, Jr., Mahley RW, Milne RW, Marcel YL, Sparrow JT. Human apolipoprotein E. Determination of the heparin binding sites of apolipoprotein E3. J Biol Chem 1986;261:2068-76.
- Wang CS, Hartsuck J, McConathy WJ. Structure and functional properties of lipoprotein lipase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992;1123:1-17.
- 11. Choi SY, Sivaram P, Walker DE, Curtiss LK, Gretch DG, Sturley SL, Attie AD, Deckelbaum RJ, Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase association with lipoproteins involves protein-protein interaction with apolipoprotein B. J Biol Chem 1995;270:8081-6.
- Ji ZS, Brecht WJ, Miranda RD, Hussain MM, Innerarity TL, Mahley RW. Role of heparan sulfate proteoglycans in the binding and uptake of apolipoprotein Eenriched remnant lipoproteins by cultured cells. J Biol Chem 1993;268:10160-7.
- 13. Mann WA, Meyer N, Weber W, Meyer S, Greten H, Beisiegel U. Apolipoprotein E isoforms and rare mutations: parallel reduction in binding to cells and to heparin reflects severity of associated type III hyperlipoproteinemia. J Lipid Res 1995;36:517-25.

- Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase and lipolysis: central roles in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. J Lipid Res 1996;37:693-707.
- 15. van Barlingen H, de Jong H, Erkelens DW, de Bruin TW. Lipoprotein lipaseenhanced binding of human triglyceriderich lipoproteins to heparan sulphate: modulation by apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein C. J Lipid Res 1996;37:754-63.
- Redgrave TG, Roberts DC, West CE. Separation of plasma lipoproteins by density-gradient ultracentrifugation. Anal Biochem 1975;65:42-9.
- 17. Lowry OH, Rosebrough RJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951;193:265-75.
- Havekes LM, de Knijff P, Beisiegel U, Havinga JR, Smit M, Klasen E. A rapid micromethod for apolipoprotein E phenotyping directly in serum. J Lipid Res 1987;28:455-63.
- Hendriks WL, van der Boom H, van Vark LC, Havekes LM. Lipoprotein lipase stimulates the binding and uptake of moderately oxidized low density lipoprotein by J774 macrophages. Biochem J 1996;314:563-8.
- 20. Laemmli UK. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 1970;227:680-5.
- Liu MS, Ma Y, Hayden MR, Brunzell JD. Mapping of the epitope on lipoprotein lipase recognized by a monoclonal antibody (5D2) which inhibits lipase activity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992;1128:113-5.
- 22. Rumsey SC, Galeano NF, Arad Y, Deckelbaum RJ. Cryopreservation with sucrose maintains normal physical and biological properties of human plasma low density lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 1992;33:1551-61.

- 23. Bilheimer DW, Eisenberg S, Levy RI. The metabolism of very low density lipoprotein. I. Preliminary in vitro and in vivo observations. Biochim Biophys Acta 1972;260:212-21.
- Vilella E, Joven J, Fernandez M, Vilaro S, Brunzell JD, Olivecrona T, Bengtsson Olivecrona G. Lipoprotein lipase in human plasma is mainly inactive and associated with cholesterol-rich lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 1993;34:1555-64.
- Zambon A, Schmidt I, Beisiegel U, Brunzell JD. Dimeric lipoprotein lipase is bound to triglyceride-rich plasma lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 1997;37:2394-404.
- 26. de Man FH, de Beer F, van der Laarse A, Smelt AHM, Gevers Leuven JA, Havekes LM. Impaired lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins in type III hyperlipoproteinemia. J.Am.Coll.Cardiol. 1997;29:160A.
- 27. van Barlingen H, Kock LAW, de Man FH, Erkelens DW, de Bruin TW. In vitro lipolysis of human VLDL: effect of different VLDL compositions in normolipidemia, familial combined hyperlipidemia and familial hypertriglyceridemia. Atherosclerosis 1996;121:75-84.
- Sivaram P, Choi SY, Curtiss LK, Goldberg IJ. An amino-terminal fragment of apolipoprotein B binds to lipoprotein lipase and may facilitate its binding to endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 1994;269:9409-12.
- 29. Pang L, Sivaram P, Goldberg IJ. Cellsurface expression of an amino-terminal fragment of apolipoprotein B increases lipoprotein lipase binding to cells. J Biol Chem 1996;271:19518-23.
- Saxena U, Witte LD, Goldberg IJ. Release of endothelial cell lipoprotein lipase by plasma lipoproteins and free fatty acids. J Biol Chem 1989;264:4349-55.

 Mian N. Analysis of cell-growth-phaserelated variations in hyaluronate synthase activity of isolated plasmamembrane fractions of cultured human skin fibroblasts. Biochem J 1986;237:333-42.

Chapter 3

Effect of Apolipoprotein E Variants on Lipolysis of Very Low Density Lipoproteins by Heparan Sulphate Proteoglycan-bound Lipoprotein Lipase

Frits H.A.F. de Man¹, Femke de Beer^{2,3}, Arnoud van der Laarse¹, Augustinus H.M. Smelt², Jan A. Gevers Leuven^{2,3}, Louis M. Havekes^{1,2,3}

Departments of ¹Cardiology and ²Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, ³TNO-Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden, The Netherlands

Atherosclerosis 1998;136:255-62

Presented at the American College of Cardiology in March 1997 (Anaheim, USA)

Summary

Background. Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) is bound to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) at the luminal surface of endothelium. It is the key enzyme involved in the hydrolysis of very low density lipoproteins (VLDL). Prior to lipolysis by LPL, the lipoproteins are considered to interact with vessel wall HSPG. Apolipoprotein (apo) E is thought to mediate this interaction thereby enhancing the stability of the lipoprotein-LPL complex. We hypothesize that apoE mutations may cause a diminished interaction of VLDL with HSPG leading to impaired lipolysis of VLDL by HSPG-bound LPL.

Methods. VLDL was isolated from 8 normolipidemic apoE3 homozygous controls, 4 apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) homozygous patients, 4 patients with heterozygosity for the APOE*2 (Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) allele and 4 heterozygous patients carrying the APOE*3-Leiden allele. The VLDL fractions were subjected to lipolysis experiments with HSPG-bound LPL and LPL in solution. Additional competition experiments were carried out to assess the binding affinity of VLDL to the HSPG-LPL complex.

Results. The mean lipolysis rates of VLDL, isolated from the apo $E2(Lys^{146}\rightarrow Gln)$ heterozygotes, apo $E2(Arg^{158}\rightarrow Cys)$ homozygotes and apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes were $92.3 \pm 10.3\%$ (n.s.), $77.3 \pm 4.2\%$ (P < 0.05) and 76.7 \pm 10.0% (P < 0.05), respectively, of that of control VLDL (100.0 \pm 9.7%). No differences in lipolysis were observed between VLDL from controls and VLDL from the same patients if LPL in solution was used. Thus, compositional differences itself can not explain the differences in lipolysis rates observed with HSPG-bound LPL. In competition experiments, the binding efficiency to HSPG-LPL of VLDL from the $apoE2(Lys^{146}\rightarrow Gln)$ heterozygotes, apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸→Cys) homozygotes and apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes was 63% (n.s.), 41% (P < 0.05) and 35% (P < 0.05), respectively of that of control VLDL (100%).

Conclusion. VLDL isolated from apoE2 homozygotes and apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes display decreased lipolysis by HSPG-bound LPL due to a defective binding of these lipoproteins to the HSPG-LPL complex.

Introduction

Lipoprotein lipase (LPL, EC 3.1.1.34) is the key enzyme involved in the hydrolysis of chylomicron and very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) triglycerides. After synthesis in parenchymal cells, LPL is secreted and transported across the endothelium where it binds to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) at the luminal surface of endothelial cells. To allow interaction *in vivo* of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins (TRL) with endotheliumbound LPL and subsequent lipolysis, the particle has to reside transiently at the HSPG-LPL complex. Apolipoprotein (apo) E, exposed at the surface of the lipoprotein particle, is considered to play an important role in the binding of VLDL to vessel wall proteoglycans (for reviews see (1,2)).

ApoE is a major apolipoprotein constituent of all lipoproteins except low density lipoproteins. There is substantial evidence that apoE plays an important role in lipoprotein metabolism by functioning as a ligand in receptor-mediated remnant removal (3,4). In humans the catabolism of chylomicron- and VLDL-remnants deranges if apoE is absent or defective in its binding, presenting lipid abnormalities referred to as type III HLP or familial dysbetalipoproteinemia (FD) (5,6). Several mutations in the APOE gene are associated with FD (7). Over 90% of the patients with FD are homozygous for the apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) allele. However, only 4% of all apoE2 homozygotes develop FD (8,9). Thus, expression of FD not only requires homozygosity for the apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) allele but also additional genetic and environmental factors. Mutations in or in the vicinity of the receptorbinding domain of apoE, which encompasses residues 130 to 150, result in dominantly heritable forms of FD with a high penetrance (10-14).

It is not clear why apoE2 homozygosity shows a penetrance much lower than that of the dominant variants, whereas the binding of the apoE2variant to the LDL receptor is very low as compared to the dominant apoEmutants (15-19). No correlation has been noted so far between the severity of the HLP and LDL-receptor binding defect of apoE-variants. Ji *et al.* (20) studied the binding affinity of apoE-variants to HSPG and found that normal apoE3 binds well to HSPG, whereas the apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys)-variant also binds to HSPG, but to a lesser extent than apoE3. The apoE-variants associated with a dominant mode of inheritance showed poor binding to HSPG, whereby apoE3-Leiden showed the most severe binding impairment. Interestingly, a correlation was observed between the mode of expression of FD and the impairment of binding to HSPG (20), a finding which is confirmed by others (18). However, it remains to be established whether this correlation also can be observed when assayed under physiological conditions. In the studies mentioned above (18,20), rabbit β -VLDL was enriched with the respective apoE-variant of interest, generating VLDL particles containing abnormally high amounts of the apoE-variant at the expense of endogenous apoE. This is highly unphysiological as compared to heterozygosity for an apoE-mutation, where the presence of normal apoE may compensate for the defective binding of its mutant counterpart.

Ji et al. (20) suggested that in the carriers with various apoEmutations a defective binding to HSPG may have impact on the lipolytic processing of VLDL of these subjects. This hypothesis is sustained by our recent finding of an impaired *in vivo* lipolysis of VLDL in APOE*3-Leiden transgenic mice (21). However, this hypothesis has not been tested by an *in vitro* lipolysis assay using HSPG-bound LPL. In the present study, we found that the lipolysis by HSPG-bound LPL was decreased for VLDL isolated from FD subjects with different apoE-variants as compared to VLDL from apoE3 homozygote control subjects. These differences were not observed if the lipolysis experiments were carried out with LPL in solution. Parallel binding experiments suggest that differences in binding affinity of these VLDL samples to the HSPG-LPL complex may account for the observed differences in lipolysis rate.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

Eight normolipidemic apoE3 homozygous controls, four apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) homozygous patients, four patients with heterozygosity for the APOE*2 (Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) allele and four heterozygous patients carrying the APOE*3-Leiden allele were included in this study. All patients were recruited from the outpatient lipid clinic of the Leiden University Medical Center and were classified as having a lipoprotein profile characteristic for FD (9). All heterozygous apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) and apoE3-Leiden patients carried the apoE3 allele as second allele, except one apoE3-Leiden patients, and one out of four patients of both the apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) and apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) group were currently on HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor therapy. For ethical reasons, medical therapy was not discontinued. Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Lipids and lipoproteins

Venous blood was collected after an overnight fast. Serum was obtained after centrifugation at 1500 g for 15 min at room temperature. VLDL was isolated by ultracentrifugation as described by Redgrave et al. (22). Protein content of the VLDL samples was determined by the method of Lowry et al. (23). Triglyceride, total cholesterol, phospholipid and free cholesterol content of the VLDL fractions was measured enzymatically using commercially available kits (Boehringer, Mannheim, Germany). Cholesteryl ester (CE) content was calculated by subtracting the concentration free cholesterol from the concentration total cholesterol. VLDL diameter was determined by photon correlation spectroscopy using a Malvern 4700 C system (Malvern Instruments, U.K.). Measurements were performed at 25 °C and a 90° angle between laser and detector. Particle number was calculated from the total lipoprotein mass and particle diameter, with the assumption that the particles were spherical in shape and their density was 1.006 g/ml. ApoE levels were determined using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) as described before (24). ApoE phenotyping was performed by isoelectric focusing according to Havekes et al. (25).

Lipoprotein lipase

LPL was purified from fresh bovine milk as described previously (26). The isolated fraction was resuspended in 20 mmol/L NaH₂PO₄, 50% glycerol and stored in aliquots at -80 °C. Isolated LPL was analyzed by sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE, 4-20%) (27). Proteins were stained with Coomassie Brilliant blue or transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher and Schuell, Dassel, Germany). Blots were incubated with monoclonal antibody 5D2 (prepared by Dr. J.D. Brunzell *et al.* (28), University of Washington, Seattle), and rabbit antimouse IgG conjugated to peroxidase (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark) was used as second antibody. The specific activity of the isolated LPL was 10.9 μ mol FFA.min⁻¹.mg protein⁻¹.

Assay of lipolysis with heparan sulphate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase

Heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG), isolated from basement membrane of mouse sarcoma cells, were purchased from Sigma (H 4777, Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, MO). The lipolysis experiments using HSPG-bound LPL were performed in 96-well microtiter plates (Greiner GmbH, Frichenhausen, Germany). The wells were incubated with $0.5 \mu g$ HSPG in 75 µl PBS for 18 h at 4°C. Aspecific binding sites were blocked by incubation with 1% (w/v) essentially free fatty acid (FFA) free bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma) in 100 µl PBS for 1 h at 37°C. Subsequently, the wells were incubated with 1.5 µg LPL in 75 µl Tris-glycerol buffer (0.1 M Tris, 20% (v/v) glycerol, pH 8.5) for 1 h at 4°C. Unbound LPL was removed by washing the plates three times with Tris buffer (0.1 M Tris, pH 8.5). Subsequently, lipolysis was started by adding 50 μ l VLDL-TG at a final concentration of 0.2, 0.4, and 0.6 mmol/L, to the preconditioned well in the presence of 1%(w/v) essentially FFA-free BSA and placing the plate in a shaking incubator at 37 °C. The reaction was stopped after 10 min by the addition of Triton X-100 (1% (v/v), final concentration) (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), in Tris buffer (pH 8.5), vortexing and cooling on ice. FFA concentrations were determined in triplicate using the commercially available NEFA-C kit (WAKO Chemicals, Neuss, Germany).

Assay of lipolysis with lipoprotein lipase in solution

The VLDL samples were diluted in 0.1 M Tris (pH 8.5), 1% (w/v) essentially FFA-free BSA. The incubation was started by adding 0.28 μ g LPL in 10 μ l Tris-buffer (0.1 M Tris, pH 8.5) to 100 μ l VLDL-TG, followed by vortexing and incubation in a shaking waterbath at 37 °C. The reaction was stopped after 6 min by the addition of Triton X-100 (1% (v/v), final concentration), vortexing and cooling on ice. A sample blank was obtained by adding Triton prior to the addition of LPL and maintenance on ice. FFA concentrations were determined in duplicate. The rate of FFA release by LPL was linear for 6 min in this assay. Lipolysis was performed with three VLDL-TG concentrations in the range 0.2 - 0.6 mmol/L, which is in the range of the apparent Km value.

Binding assay

In order to perform competition experiments, normal VLDL from homozygous apoE3 subjects was iodinated using the ¹²⁵I-iodine monochloride method of Bilheimer *et al.* (29). ¹²⁵I-iodide (specific activity 15.5 mCi/µg) was purchased from Amersham (Buckinghamshire, U.K.). After iodination, VLDL was dialyzed extensively at 4°C against PBS for 24 h and thereafter stabilized with 1% (w/v) BSA (fraction V, Sigma). The specific radioactivity ranged from 150-200 cpm/ng of protein. The stabilized ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL was stored at 4°C and used within two weeks.

Plastic wells (96-well microtiter plates) were coated with 0.5 μ g of HSPG per well and subsequently incubated with 1.5 μ g LPL per well, exactly as described above. After washing the plates two times with ice-cold PBS, the binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled E3E3 VLDL to HSPG-bound LPL was determined by incubating the plates for 2 h on ice with 10 μ g/ml of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL in the presence of increasing amounts of unlabeled VLDL of interest as competitor. Thereafter, the plates were washed two times with ice-cold PBS containing 0.1% (w/v) BSA, and, subsequently, washed once with PBS without BSA. The ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL bound to the HSPG-LPL complex was dissolved in 0.2 N NaOH for quantitation of the binding. The concentration of competitor VLDL protein required to displace 50% of ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL (IC₅₀-value) was calculated by logit-log plot analysis in order to estimate the binding affinity of competitor VLDL to the HSPG-LPL complex.

Statistical analyses

Results are presented as the mean \pm S.D. Mean differences between the groups were calculated with the Mann-Whitney test. Correlation analysis was performed using the Spearman rank correlation analysis. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSSWIN 6.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

Lipids and lipoproteins

At time of study entrance (table 1), the groups were comparable with regard to age and BMI. Serum cholesterol and triglyceride levels were significantly higher in the FD patients as compared to the control subjects. No significant difference was found in the serum HDL-cholesterol concentrations, although there was a tendency to lower concentrations in the three patient groups. Serum lipid levels were lower in the group of apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes as compared to the apoE2 homozygotes and apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) heterozygotes due to the fact that three out of four patients were receiving lipid-lowering medication. With regard to lipoprotein composition, VLDL particles from the FD subjects are cholesterol-enriched as expected (table 2). The phospholipid and protein content did not differ widely between the groups. In the patient groups, the number of apoE molecules per VLDL particle was significantly higher than in the control group. No significant differences in VLDL composition were observed between statin-treated and untreated FD patients, nor between male and female FD patients.
Subjects	R	Age	Sex	BMI	Chol	TG	HDL-C	Med a
		yrs	F / M	kg/m²	mmol/L	mmol/L	mmol/L	
Controls								
E3E3	œ	4 7 ± 8	0/8	24.0 ± 2.9	4.33 ± 0.58	0.85 ± 0.14	1.32 ± 0.15	0/8
FD								
E2(Arg ¹⁵⁸ →Cys)	4	55±6	1/3	26.7 ± 3.2	6.90 ± 1.38*	$4.66 \pm 2.19^{*}$	0.96 ± 0.34	1/4
E2 (lys¹⁴6→Gln)	4	39 ± 14	1/3	24.1 ± 3.3	$9.34 \pm 3.38^{*}$	5.64 ± 3.37 *	1.02 ± 0.24	1/4
E3-Leiden	4	44 ± 13	2/2	24.5 ± 2.6	$5.79 \pm 0.66^{*}$	$2.47 \pm 0.96^{*}$	1.12 ± 0.13	3/4
BMI, body mass index	c; Chol,	cholesterol;	TG, trigly	ceride; HDL-C,	high density lipop	vrotein cholesterol		
Values are presented u	rs the r	nean ± S.D. ª	• Med, nun	nber of patients	on HMG-CoA red	luctase inhibitor t	herapy.	

entrance	
t study	
ristics a	
haracteı	
Patient c	
Υ.	I
Table	

*P < 0.05 compared to the corresponding value in control subjects (Mann-Whitney).

Table 2. Lipid co	odu	sition ana	amount	of apolipc	protein E	per VLDI	, particle	
Subjects	а	TG	FC	CE	PL	Protein	Chol/TG	apoE
		%а	%	%	%	%	mol/mol	mol EVLDL ^b
Controls	œ	44 ± 4	5±1	9±2	25 ± 4	17 ± 4	0.76 ± 0.18	0.92 ± 0.25
E3E3								
FD								
E2(Arg ¹⁵⁸ →Cys)	4	40 ± 4	$8 \pm 1^*$	$16 \pm 3^*$	23 ± 1	$13 \pm 1^*$	$1.35 \pm 0.28^{*}$	$3.80 \pm 0.65^{*}$
E2 (Lys¹⁴6→Gln)	4	38 ± 5	7±3	16 ± 5*	24 ± 1	14 ± 0	$1.44 \pm 0.40^{*}$	$4.67 \pm 1.78^*$
E3-Leiden	4	$38 \pm 3^{*}$	$8 \pm 1^*$	15 ± 1*	24 ± 2	16 ± 2	$1.38 \pm 0.22^{*}$	$1.73 \pm 0.36^{*}$
TG, triglyceride; CE, o	choles	iteryl ester; l	⁷ C, free cho	lesterol; PL,	phospholip	id.		
a Presented as nerrent	io adu,	f total linom	rotein mass	(mø/d]: sm	m of TG. FC	CE PL and	I Protein)	

^b Presented as number of apoE molecules per VLDL particle.

*P < 0.05 compared to the corresponding value in control subjects (Mann-Whitney).

Lipolysis of VLDL samples

The amount of VLDL triglycerides, required to perform the lipolysis experiments, was not achieved in all VLDL isolations. Therefore lipolysis experiments were carried out with six out of eight controls, three out of four apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) homozygotes, all four apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) heterozygotes and three out of four apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes. Table 3 shows the results of the lipolysis experiments using both HSPG-bound LPL and LPL in solution. In case of HSPG-bound LPL, for all VLDL triglyceride concentrations applied, the lipolysis rates of VLDL, isolated from the apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) homozygotes and apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes were significantly lower than that of control VLDL. VLDL isolated from the apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) heterozygotes showed a tendency to a lower lipolysis efficiency, that did not reach statistical significance.

	E3E3	E2E2	$E2(Lys^{146} \rightarrow$	E3-Leiden
	(n=6)	(n=3)	Gln) (n=4)	(n=3)
	%a	%	%	%
HSPG-bound LPL				
0.2 mmol/L VLDL-TG	100.0 ± 8.9	78.9 ± 2.3*	92.2 ± 11.0	77.1 ± 10.5*
0.4 mmol/L VLDL-TG	100.0 ± 11.7	$79.2 \pm 4.1^*$	93.1 ± 10.6	78.4 ± 11.4*
0.6 mmol/L VLDL-TG	100.0 ± 10.2	74.3 ± 4.7*	91.6 ± 12.4	$74.5 \pm 12.1^*$
mean ^b	100.0 ± 9.7	$77.3 \pm 4.2^{*}$	92.3 ± 10.3	$76.7 \pm 10.0^*$
LPL in solution				
0.2 mmol/L VLDL-TG	100.0 ± 6.9	98.2 ± 0.8	95.7 ± 5.1	98.3 ± 7.3
0.4 mmol/L VLDL-TG	100.0 ± 3.1	96.2 ± 0.9	90.6 ± 6.6	91.8 ± 8.5
0.6 mmol/L VLDL-TG	100.0 ± 3.8	101.4 ± 6.3	98.1 ± 4.0	96.6 ± 11.5
mean	100.0 ± 4.6	98.7 ± 4.2	94.8 ± 5.8	95.8 ± 5.7

Table 3. Lipolysis rates of E3E3 VLDL, E2E2 VLDL and VLDL from apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶→Gln) and apoE3-Leiden heterozygous carriers

^a Lipolysis rates are presented as the mean FFA-release (% of FFA release from normal E3E3 VLDL) after 10 min incubation in HSPG-LPL coated wells or 6 min incubation with LPL in solution, respectively. Each value represents the mean \pm S.D. ^b Mean lipolysis rates were calculated from the respective individual lipolysis rates. *P < 0.05 as compared to the corresponding value in control subjects (Mann-Whitney).

Studying the lipolysis rates using LPL in solution, no significant differences in lipolysis rate were observed between VLDL, isolated from control subjects, and VLDL from the patients carrying the different apoE-variants (table 3). These results were not affected by differences in treatment and sex distribution between the study groups.

Binding of VLDL to HSPG-bound lipoprotein lipase

Competition experiments were performed to compare the binding of VLDL isolated from apoE2 homozygotes, apoE3-Leiden carriers and apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶→Gln) carriers to that of VLDL from normolipidemic apoE3 homozygotes. Since the amount of isolated VLDL was not sufficient in all cases, binding experiments were carried out with VLDL isolated from six out of eight apoE3 homozygotes, all four apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸→Cys) homozygotes, three out of four apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) and three out of four apoE3-Leiden carriers. As shown in figure 1, VLDL from the three apoE-variant groups is less efficient in competing with ¹²⁵I-labeled VLDL for the binding to HSPG-bound LPL than VLDL from apoE3 homozygous controls. The IC₅₀ values of VLDL from apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) homozygotes and apoE3-Leiden carriers were significantly higher than that of control VLDL (Table 4).

Subjects	nª	$\mathrm{IC}_{50}{}^{\mathrm{b}}$	Binding affinity ^c
Controls			
E3E3	6	7.4 ± 2.1	100%
FD			
E2E2	4	18.0 ± 4.1*	41%*
E2 (Lys¹₄6→Gln)	3	11.8 ± 4.2	63%
E3-Leiden	3	20.9 ± 9.7*	35%*

Table 4. Binding affinity of E3E3 VLDL, E2E2 VLDL and VLDL from $apoE2(Lys^{146}\rightarrow Gln)$ and apoE3-Leiden heterozygous carriers

^a n = number of subjects studied. ^b Concentration of VLDL competitor required to displace 50% ¹²⁵I-labeled E3E3 VLDL, as calculated by logit-log plot analysis. ^C Binding affinity is presented as IC-50 control / IC-50 patient * 100%. Each value represents the mean \pm S.D. *P < 0.05 as compared to the corresponding value in control subjects (Mann- Whitney).

The IC₅₀ value of VLDL from apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) carriers was slightly higher than that of control VLDL, but did not reach statistical significance. Comparable results were obtained after correction for differences in treatment and sex.



Figure 1. Competition of VLDL isolated from E3E3 controls, E2E2 subjects, apoE3-Leiden and $apoE2(Lys^{146}\rightarrow Gln)$ carriers with 125I-labeled E3E3 VLDL for the binding to HSPGbound LPL. Plastic wells were incubated with 0.5 µg HSPG and 1.5 µg LPL per well, subsequently. The preconditioned wells were incubated for 2 h at 4 °C with 10 µg/ml of 125I-labeled E3E3 VLDL in the presence of the indicated amounts of unlabeled E3E3 VLDL (O), E2E2 VLDL (□), apoE3-Leiden VLDL (●) and $apoE2(Lys^{146}\rightarrow Gln)$ VLDL (\blacklozenge) . Values represent the binding expressed as percentage of the control binding, which is

the binding in the absence of unlabeled lipoprotein (100%). Each value represents the mean ± S.D. Binding of each VLDL sample was carried out in triplicate at all concentrations applied.

Discussion

Several studies have been performed to investigate which factors determine the expression of FD in various apoE mutations. Besides the defect in binding affinity to the LDL receptor, the impairment of apoE variants to bind to HSPG is suggested to be one of these factors (18,20). Since HSPG also play an important role in lipolysis of VLDL *in vivo* by anchoring LPL to the endothelium, we hypothesized that the presence of mutant apoE on VLDL particles may result in a defective binding to HSPG-bound LPL and, subsequently, impaired lipolysis. In order to test this hypothesis, VLDL samples containing different apoE-variants were subjected to lipolysis using HSPG-bound LPL. Three different apoE-variants were selected. ApoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) and apoE3-Leiden were chosen because of a reduced binding affinity of these apoE-variants to HSPG (20). In this respect, apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Gln) has not been studied before, although a reduced heparin binding of an other mutation at the 146-position, the apoE1(Lys¹⁴⁶ \rightarrow Glu) mutation, has been reported previously (18). In addition, it has been found that the 142-147 amino acid region of apoE contains a heparin binding site (30).

Lipolysis experiments were performed at VLDL-TG concentrations around the apparent Km values of both assays (0.20 mmol/l and 0.36 mmol/l VLDL-TG for the LPL in solution and HSPG-bound LPL assay, respectively). While lipolysis by LPL in solution did not show differences in lipolysis rate between normal and apoE-variant VLDL, profound differences were observed using the lipolysis assay with HSPG-bound LPL.

Complementary to the lipolysis experiments, binding experiments were carried out. VLDL from the apoE2E2 subjects showed a binding affinity of 41% of normal VLDL (table 4), which is in close comparison with other studies (18,20). ApoE3-Leiden VLDL has been reported to show severely impaired binding to HSPG as compared to $apoE2(Arg^{158}\rightarrow Cys)$ (20). However, the present study (table 4) indicates that, in comparison to control VLDL, apoE3-Leiden VLDL is almost equally defective in binding to HSPG-LPL as apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸→Cys) VLDL. In addition, our study shows that apoE2(Lys¹⁴⁶→Gln) VLDL shows almost normal binding capacity, whereas others observed an impaired binding for apoE-variants with mutations in this region of the APOE gene (18,20). These discrepancies can be explained by differences in experimental design: (i) In our study normal human VLDL was used, whereas others used isolated, lipid-free apoE-variants (18) or isolated rabbit β -VLDL which was enriched with the apoE variant of interest at the expense of normal apoE (20). The VLDL particles we used in the present study contained physiological amounts of the apoE variant, and normal amounts of apoE3 in case of heterozygosity. (ii) In our experiments we studied binding of VLDL to HSPG-LPL complexes rather than to HSPG or heparin alone, which we consider as more relevant for extrapolation to the in vivo situation. We found that the presence of LPL in the binding assay stimulates the binding of VLDL to HSPG with several orders of magnitude, due to bridging comparable to the LPL-mediated stimulation of the binding of lipoproteins to cells (2,31,32).

The presence of excess apoE on the VLDL particles isolated from the FD patients may inhibit lipolysis. Rensen et al. (33) studied the role of apoE in lipolysis by enriching artificial lipid emulsions with recombinant apoE. Both in vitro and in vivo an inhibitory role of apoE in lipolysis could be demonstrated. However, their paper should be interpreted with caution for several reasons. Lipolysis kinetics were carried out with artificial chylomicron-like lipid emulsions which are different from normal VLDL. These lipid particles were relatively large and did not contain apolipoprotein B. In addition, the particles were enriched with large amounts of apoE, up to 62 apoE molecules per particle which is not a physiological concentration. From our results, inefficient lipolysis by excess of apoE molecules per VLDL particle seems less plausible since lipolysis experiments with LPL in solution did not show differences, as presented in table 2. We speculate therefore, that a defective binding to the HSPG-LPL is the primary cause of the less efficient lipolysis of apoE-variant VLDL, rather than differences in lipid or apolipoprotein composition of these VLDL samples.



Figure 2. Correlation between binding and lipolysis of VLDL using an assay with HSPGbound LPL. IC₅₀ values were calculated by logit-log plot analysis of the results from the binding experiments (table 4). IC₅₀ values are presented as the mean of the corresponding apoE-variant group. Lipolysis rates are presented as the mean FFA-release \pm S.D. after 10 min incubation in HSPG-LPL coated wells (% of control FFA release).

Binding experiments showed the following hierarchy of binding: E3/E3 > $E2(Lys^{146}\rightarrow Gln)/E3 > E2/E2 > E3$ -Leiden/E3, which is parallel to the respective lipolysis rates by HSPG-bound LPL. Thus, a defective binding to the HSPG-LPL complex seems to be responsible for the lower lipolysis rates of VLDL containing an apoE-variant. This is clearly illustrated in figure 2 where the average IC_{50} values and respective lipolysis rates of the four groups were found to be highly correlated (Spearman rank correlation coefficient -0.98, p<0.05).

In conclusion, VLDL isolated from apoE2(Arg¹⁵⁸ \rightarrow Cys) homozygotes and apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes display impaired lipolysis by HSPG-bound LPL. These low lipolysis rates were paralleled by a defective binding of VLDL to the HSPG-LPL complex, thereby confirming the importance of the interaction between VLDL and the proteoglycan-LPL complex in VLDL metabolism.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grants from the Dutch Heart Foundation (# 94.114) and the Preventiefonds (#28-26201). We are grateful to Dr. H. Jansen for providing us with antibodies against bovine LPL and for determining the specific activity of our LPL fraction. We are grateful to Leonie van Vark for isolating LPL. Ton Vroom is thanked for the apoE phenotyping. Finally, we wish to express our gratitude to all patients and control subjects who agreed to participate in this study.

References

- 1. Olivecrona G, Olivecrona T. Triglyceride lipases and atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995;6:291-305.
- 2. Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase and lipolysis: central roles in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. J Lipid Res 1996;37:693-707.
- Beisiegel U, Weber W, Ihrke G, Herz J, Stanley KK. The LDL-receptor-related protein, LRP, is an apolipoprotein Ebinding protein. Nature 1989;341:162-4.
- 4. Zhang SH, Reddick RL, Piedrahita JA, Maeda N. Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. Science 1992;258:468-71.
- Chait A, Brunzell JD, Albers JJ, Hazzard WR. Type-III Hyperlipoproteinaemia ("remnant removal disease"). Insight into the pathogenetic mechanism. Lancet 1977;1:1176-8.
- 6. Schneider WJ, Kovanen PT, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Utermann G, Weber W,

Havel RJ, Kotite L, Kane JP, Innerarity TL, Mahley RW. Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia. Abnormal binding of mutant apoprotein E to low density lipoprotein receptors of human fibroblasts and membranes from liver and adrenal of rats, rabbits, and cows. J Clin Invest 1981;68:1075-85.

- de Knijff P, van den Maagdenberg AM, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Genetic heterogeneity of apolipoprotein E and its influence on plasma lipid and lipoprotein levels. Hum Mutat 1994;4:178-94.
- 8. Utermann G, Hees M, Steinmetz A. Polymorphism of apolipoprotein E and occurrence of dysbetalipoproteinaemia in man. Nature 1977;269:604-7.
- Mahley RW, Rall SC. Type III hyperlipoproteinemia (dysbetalipoproteinemia): The role of apolipoprotein E in normal and abnormal lipoprotein metabolism. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Valle D, eds. 7 Ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co, 1995:1953-1980.
- de Knijff P, van den Maagdenberg AM, Stalenhoef AF, Leuven JA, Demacker PN, Kuyt LP, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia associated with apolipoprotein E3-Leiden in an extended multigeneration pedigree. J Clin Invest 1991;88:643-55.
- Smit M, de Knijff P, van der Kooij Meijs E, Groenendijk C, van den Maagdenberg AM, Gevers Leuven JA, Stalenhoef AF, Stuyt PM, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Genetic heterogeneity in familial dysbetalipoproteinemia. The E2(lys146----gln) variant results in a dominant mode of inheritance. J Lipid Res 1990;31:45-53.
- 12. Mann WA, Lohse P, Gregg RE, Ronan R, Hoeg JM, Zech LA, Brewer HB, Jr. Dominant expression of type III hyperlipoproteinemia. pathophysiological insights derived from the structural and kinetic characteristics of apoE-1(Lys146-Glu). J Clin Invest 1995;96:1100-7.

- Hoffer MJ, Niththyananthan S, Naoumova RP, Kibirige MS, Frants RR, Havekes LM, Thompson GR. Apolipoprotein E1-Hammersmith (Lys 146-Asn;Arg147-Trp), due to a dinucleotide substitution, is associated with early manifestation of dominant type III hyperlipoproteinemia. Atherosclerosis 1996;124:183-9.
- de Knijff P, van den Maagdenberg AM, Boomsma DI, Stalenhoef AF, Smelt AH, Kastelein JJ, Marais AD, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Variable expression of familial dysbetalipoproteinemia in apolipoprotein E*2 (Lys146-->Gln) Allele carriers. J Clin Invest 1994;94:1252-62.
- 15. Weisgraber KH, Innerarity TL, Mahley RW. Abnormal lipoprotein receptorbinding activity of the human E apoprotein due to cysteine-arginine interchange at a single site. J Biol Chem 1982;257:2518-21.
- 16. Horie Y, Fazio S, Westerlund JR, Weisgraber KH, Rall SCJ. The functional characteristics of a human apolipoprotein E variant (cysteine at residue 142) may explain its association with dominant expression of type III hyperlipoproteinemia. J Biol Chem 1992;267:1962-8.
- Moriyama K, Sasaki J, Matsunaga A, Arakawa F, Takada Y, Araki K, Kaneko S, Arakawa K. Apolipoprotein E1 Lys-146----Glu with type III hyperlipoproteinemia. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992;1128:58-64.
- Mann WA, Meyer N, Weber W, Meyer S, Greten H, Beisiegel U. Apolipoprotein E isoforms and rare mutations: parallel reduction in binding to cells and to heparin reflects severity of associated type III hyperlipoproteinemia. J Lipid Res 1995;36:517-25.
- 19. van Vlijmen BJ, van Dijk KW, van't Hof HB, van Gorp PJ, van der Zee A, van der Boom H, Breuer ML, Hofker MH, Havekes LM. In the absence of endogenous mouse apolipoprotein E, apolipoprotein E*2(Arg-158 --> Cys)

transgenic mice develop more severe hyperlipoproteinemia than apolipoprotein E*3-Leiden transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 1996;271:30595-602.

- 20. Ji ZS, Fazio S, Mahley RW. Variable heparan sulfate proteoglycan binding of apolipoprotein E variants may modulate the expression of type III hyperlipoproteinemia. J Biol Chem 1994;269:13421-8.
- Jong MC, Dahlmans VE, van Gorp PJ, Breuer ML, Mol MJ, van der Zee A, Frants RR, Hofker MH, Havekes LM. Both lipolysis and hepatic uptake of VLDL are impaired in transgenic mice coexpressing human apolipoprotein E*3Leiden and human apolipoprotein C1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:934-40.
- 22. Redgrave TG, Roberts DC, West CE. Separation of plasma lipoproteins by density-gradient ultracentrifugation. Anal Biochem 1975;65:42-9.
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough RJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951;193:265-75.
- 24. van Vlijmen BJM, van 't Hof HB, Mol MJ, van der Boom H, van der Zee A, Frants RR, Hofker MH, Havekes LM. Modulation of very low density lipoprotein production and clearance contribute to age- and gender-dependent hyperlipoproteinemia in apolipoprotein E3-Leiden transgenic mice. J Clin Invest 1996;97:1184-92.
- Havekes LM, de Knijff P, Beisiegel U, Havinga JR, Smit M, Klasen E. A rapid micromethod for apolipoprotein E phenotyping directly in serum. J Lipid Res 1987;28:455-63.
- 26. Hendriks WL, van der Boom H, van Vark LC, Havekes LM. Lipoprotein lipase stimulates the binding and uptake of moderately oxidized low density lipoprotein by J774

macrophages. Biochem J 1996;314:563-8.

- 27. Laemmli UK. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 1970;227:680-5.
- Liu MS, Ma Y, Hayden MR, Brunzell JD. Mapping of the epitope on lipoprotein lipase recognized by a monoclonal antibody (5D2) which inhibits lipase activity. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992;1128:113-5.
- 29. Bilheimer DW, Eisenberg S, Levy RI. The metabolism of very low density lipoprotein. I. Preliminary in vitro and in vivo observations. Biochim Biophys Acta 1972;260:212-21.
- Weisgraber KH, Rall SC, Jr., Mahley RW, Milne RW, Marcel YL, Sparrow JT. Human apolipoprotein E. Determination of the heparin binding sites of apolipoprotein E3. J Biol Chem 1986;261:2068-76.
- 31. Mulder M, Lombardi P, Jansen H, van Berkel TJ, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Heparan sulphate proteoglycans are involved in the lipoprotein lipasemediated enhancement of the cellular binding of very low density and low density lipoproteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1992;185:582-7.
- 32. Mulder M, Lombardi P, Jansen H, van Berkel TJ, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Low density lipoprotein receptor internalizes low density and very low density lipoproteins that are bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans via lipoprotein lipase. J Biol Chem 1993;268:9369-75.
- 33. Rensen PCN, van Berkel TJ. Apolipoprotein E effectively inhibits lipoprotein lipase-mediated lipolysis of chylomicron-like triglyceride-rich lipid emulsions in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem 1996;271:14791-9.

Chapter 4

Dietary Counseling Effectively Improves Lipid Levels in Patients with Endogenous Hypertriglyceridemia: Emphasis on Weight Reduction and Alcohol Limitation

Frits H.A.F. de Man¹, Arnoud van der Laarse¹, Erica G. Hopman², Jan A. Gevers Leuven^{3,4}, Willem Onkenhout⁵, Geesje M. Dallinga-Thie⁶, and Augustinus H. Smelt³

Departments of ¹Cardiology, ²Dietetics and Nutrition, ³Internal Medicine, and ⁵Pediatrics, Leiden University Medical Center; ⁴TNO-Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden; ⁶Department of Internal Medicine, Utrecht University Hospital, The Netherlands

Eur J Clin Nutr 1999 (in press)

Presented at the European Atherosclerosis Society in May 1997 (Brugge, Belgium)

Summary

Introduction. Environmental factors are considered to play an important role in the expression of hypertriglyceridemia. Accordingly, dietary counseling and weight loss are first-line therapy in these patients It is not clear whether improvements in lipid levels are related to energy restriction or the changes in macronutrient composition that accompany dieting. This study was designed to evaluate the short-term effect of dietary counseling in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia and evaluate the effects of advised nutrient changes.

Methods. Forty-five patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia were included in a prospective dietary intervention study, according to the Dutch guidelines for a healthy diet. Before and after the dietary intervention period of 12 weeks, 24-hour food recalls were used to assess dietary intake and macronutrient composition. Effectiveness was evaluated by assessment of body weight, serum lipids, lipoproteins and insulin resistance parameters.

Results. A significant reduction in energy intake and body weight as well as changes in macronutrient composition were observed. Total serum triglyceride and cholesterol levels decreased by 31% and 15%, respectively. No effects were observed on serum glucose and insulin levels. Weight reduction was significantly correlated with reduction of total plasma triglyceride levels and inversely correlated with changes in HDL cholesterol levels. Of all nutrients assessed, only reduction of alcohol intake correlated with improvement of total serum triglycerides.

Conclusions. Short-term dietary counseling in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia can effectively improve serum lipid and lipoprotein levels. With regard to the advised nutrient changes, weight loss and limitation of alcohol intake prove to be the best predictors of triglyceride reduction.

Introduction

Endogenous hypertriglyceridemia is a complex multifactorial lipid disorder characterised by increased plasma levels of very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles and by reduced concentrations of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C). There is increasing evidence that hypertriglyceridemia (HTG) is associated with an increased risk of coronary artery disease (1,2). In a recent meta-analysis, Hokanson *et al.* reported an odds ratio of 1.32 for men and 1.76 for women with HTG as compared to healthy population-based control subjects (3), suggesting that adequate triglyceride-lowering therapy would be mandatory in this patient group.

Although genetic factors predispose subjects to the development of HTG (4-6), environmental factors are considered to play an important role in the expression of hypertriglyceridemia (7). Obesity, insulin resistance, alcohol consumption and dietary habits are the principal exogenous factors involved (8-10). It is generally accepted that reduction of energy intake and qualitative improvement of dietary habits have an important effect on patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Accordingly, dietary counseling and weight loss are the first-line therapy in these patients (11). Several studies have demonstrated impressive improvements of the hypertriglyceridemia in response to dietary counseling (12,13). However, few data are available on the specific diet composition that should be recommended to these patients. It is not clear whether improvements in lipid levels are related to energy restriction or the changes in macronutrient composition that accompany dieting. This study was performed to evaluate the short-term effect of dietary counseling in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia and to evaluate the effects of advised nutrient changes on serum lipid levels.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

Between January 1988 and December 1996, 45 unrelated patients with endogenous HTG were recruited from the outpatient Lipid Clinic of the Leiden University Medical Center. The patient population consisted of 43 males and 2 females, with a mean age of 46 \pm 10 y. As expected, the patient group was mildly obese (mean BMI 28.2 \pm 3.2 kg/m²) and hypertension was common (33%). Fifteen HTG patients (33%) had a medical history of symptomatic cardiovascular disease. At first presentation to the Lipid Clinic, 30 patients were non-smokers and 15 patients were smokers. The diagnosis of the lipoprotein disorder was based on the means of two fasting blood samples obtained at baseline with an interval of 3 weeks. The diagnostic criteria for endogenous hypertriglyceridemia were: total serum TG > 4.0 mmol/L, serum VLDL-C > 1.0 mmol/L, and LDL-C < 4.5 mmol/L. Additional exclusion criteria were the apolipoprotein E2E2 phenotype, secondary hyperlipidemia (renal, liver or thyroid disease, fasting glucose > 7.0 mmol/L, and alcohol consumption of more than 40 g/d) and the use of lipid-lowering drugs. Informed consent was obtained from each patient and the protocol was approved by the institutional Medical Ethics Committee.

Study design

Subjects were selected from new, untreated patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia, referred to the outpatient Lipid Clinic of the Leiden University Medical Center in the period between January 1st 1988 and December 31st 1996. Baseline blood samples were taken at 2 separate occasions before dietary counseling. At the first visit they were interviewed by a registered dietician. The mean daily food intake was estimated by means of a dietary history. Energy and nutrient intake were calculated using the computerised version of the Netherlands food table. Subjects who already followed a healthy diet and did not need dietary advise were not included in this study. Thereafter an individual dietary advise according to "Guidelines for a Healthy Diet" from the Netherlands Nutrition Council was given (14), as described before (15). These dietary guidelines are similar to the American Heart Association Step I diet (16), with the exception that not less than 30% but 30-35% of total energy intake should be derived from fat. The diet was adapted to the dietary habits and lifestyle of the patient. The recommendations were: 1. 30-35 % of total energy derived from total fat. 2. A maximum of saturated fat of 10 % of total energy. 3. Cholesterol intake less than 300 mg per day. 4. As compensation for the reduced intake of saturated fat, increase of complex carbohydrate consumption upto 55% of total energy was advised when patients were not overweight. 5. In case of obesity (body mass index > 26 kg/m²), an energy restriction of the typical daily energy intake by 500 kcal (2093 kJ) was advised and the patient was encouraged to increase physical activity. 6. Alcohol use was discouraged. No specific recommendations were given for the intake of monounsaturated and

78

polyunsaturated fat. Twelve weeks after start of the diet, a second dietary history was obtained from each patient by the same dietician and blood samples were collected from each patient at 2 separate time points. After this dietary intervention period, the effectiveness was evaluated and, if necessary, pharmacological therapy was instituted. Long-term efficacy of dietary counseling could not be evaluated as it was not considered to be ethical to withhold patients lipid-lowering drugs if indicated.

Analytical methods

Venous blood was collected from each patient after more than 12 hours of fasting. Serum was obtained by low speed centrifugation within 4 hours after collection. Three ml of fresh serum was ultracentrifuged for 15 hours at 232,000 g (75,000 rpm) at 15°C in a TL-100 tabletop Ultracentrifuge, using a TLA-100.3 fixed angle rotor (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA, USA). The ultracentrifugate was carefully divided in a density (d) < 1.006 (supranatant) and d 1.006 - 1.25 g/ml (infranatant) fraction, designated as the VLDL and LDL-HDL fraction, respectively. The triglyceride and cholesterol concentrations were measured enzymatically using test kits (Boehringer, Mannheim, Germany). High density lipoprotein-cholesterol was measured in the LDL-HDL fraction after precipitation of apoB-containing particles with phosphotungstic acid and MgCl₂. Serum total fatty acid composition was determined by gas chromatography on an Interscience 8160 gas chromatograph fitted with a cold on-column injector and a CP-Sil88 fused silica capillary column (Chrompack, Bergen op Zoom, the Netherlands) after methylation of the fatty acids (17). Glucose was measured with a Hitachi 747 analyzer, according to standard procedures (Boehringer, Mannheim, Germany). Insulin was measured with a conventional radio-immuno assay (Medgenix, Brussels, Belgium).

Statistical analysis

Results are presented as the mean \pm SD. Differences between the patient group before and after dietary counseling were evaluated pairwise using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test. Correlation analysis was performed using the Pearson correlation analysis (analysis of triglyceride levels was performed on logarithmic transformed data). Findings were regarded to be statistically significant when the probability of these data under the null hypothesis was less than 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS/PC+TM software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL USA).

Results

Changes in energy and nutrient intake

Twenty-eight HTG patients (62%) were advised to reduce the intake of total fat, and 37 patients (82%) were encouraged to limit the intake of saturated fats. Reduction of dietary cholesterol intake was advised in 10 cases (22%). Although dietary counseling was associated with weight loss in almost all patients, an explicit advise to reduce energy intake was given in 27 patients (60%). In most cases, multiple changes in dietary habits were advised.

The short-term effects of dietary counseling on dietary habits and body weight are shown in table 1. A modest reduction in body weight was observed. The reported total energy intake was reduced by 21%. The intake of discouraged nutrients such as saturated fats, cholesterol and alcohol was reduced. On the other hand, the absolute intake of carbohydrates and proteins remained unchanged. So, according to the dietary histories, the patients adhered to the dietary advise.

To estimate the accuracy of the dietary histories and changes in dietary habits, the reported intake of different fatty acids was compared with the fatty acid composition in serum.



Figure 1. The correlation between the reported ratio of polyunsaturated fatty acids to saturated fatty acids (P/S ratio) and the P/S ratio in serum (r=0.45, p<0.001), calculated from the pooled data of overweight (n=27, \blacksquare solid line) and nonoverweight (n=18, \square dashed line) subjects. As shown in figure 1, a significant correlation was found between the reported ratio of polyunsaturated fatty acids to saturated fatty acids (P/S ratio) and serum P/S ratio (r=0.45, p<0.001), both in the overweight (r=0.46, p=0.001) and non-overweight patients (r=0.44, p=0.009). A weak association was found between reduction of energy intake and weight reduction (r=0.32, p=0.042). Subdivision of the population in overweight and non-overweight patients resulted in disappearance of significant correlations in both groups.

	Dietary cour	nseling	p-value ^a
	Before	During	
Number	45		
Weight (kg)	89.7 ± 13.7	88.2 ± 13.4	<0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	$28.2~\pm~3.2$	27.4 ± 3.2	<0.001
Energy (kJ/d)	8762 ± 2531	6982 ± 1806	<0.001
Total fat (g/d)	78.3 ± 29.1	50.4 ± 16.8	<0.001
(E%)	33±6%	27 ± 6 %	<0.001
Saturated fat (g/d)	31.7 ± 11.5	18.6 ± 6.5	<0.001
(E%)	13 ± 3 %	10 ± 3 %	<0.001
Monounsaturated fats (g/d)	27.4 ± 10.9	15.9 ± 5.3	<0.001
(E%)	$11\pm3~\%$	9±2%	<0.001
Polyunsaturated fats (g/d)	17.6 ± 9.1	15.3 ± 6.5	0.043
(E%)	7±3%	8±3%	n.s.
P/S-ratio of diet	0.57 ± 0.25	0.87 ± 0.35	<0.001
Cholesterol (mg/d)	239 ± 88	157 ± 62	<0.001
Carbohydrates (g/d)	229 ± 77	207 ± 67	n.s.
(E%)	45 ± 8 %	50 ± 6 %	<0.001
Protein (g/d)	90.8 ± 24.1	84.3 ± 20.4	n.s.
(E%)	18 ± 3 %	$21 \pm 4 \%$	<0.001
Alcohol (g/d)	14.7 ± 18.7	5.3 ± 8.6	0.002
(E%)	4±5%	$2\pm3\%$	0.007

Table 1. Effect of dietary counseling on body weight and dietary habits

Values are presented as mean \pm SD. BMI, body mass index; E%, percentage of energy; P/S-ratio, polyunsaturated / saturated fatty acids ratio. aStatistical analyses were performed using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test.

Changes in serum lipids, lipoproteins, insulin and glucose levels

Table 2 shows the corresponding effects of dietary intervention on serum lipids, lipoproteins and insulin resistance parameters. Impressive improvements were observed in serum lipids and lipoproteins. Total serum triglycerides decreased from 15.80 to 10.85 mmol/L (-31%, p=0.001). Also total serum cholesterol levels dropped from 8.99 to 7.68 mmol/L (-15%, p=0.002), an effect predominantly caused by a decrease of VLDL cholesterol (-38%, p=0.006). Both LDL cholesterol and HDL cholesterol increased modestly, while the ratio of LDL cholesterol to HDL cholesterol (LDL/HDL ratio) did not change. No effects were observed on serum glucose and insulin levels. In accordance with the reported change in dietary fatty acid composition, the serum P/S ratio increased from 0.72 to 0.83 (p=0.021).

	Dietary co	ounseling	p-value ^a
	Before	During	
Number	48	5	
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	8.99 ± 3.37	7.68 ± 2.54	0.002
Total triglyceride (mmol/L)	15.80 ± 15.67	10.85 ± 10.30	0.001
VLDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.65 ± 5.15	3.52 ± 3.24	0.006
VLDL-triglyceride (mmol/L)	14.62 ± 17.22	8.14 ± 9.82	0.001
LDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	2.65 ± 1.00	2.95 ± 1.09	0.044
HDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	0.62 ± 0.22	0.67 ± 0.19	n.s.
Glucose (mmol/L)	4.86 ± 1.01	4.86 ± 1.07	n.s.
Insulin (mU/L)	50.3 ± 54.9	48.2 ± 65.0	n.s.
Serum P/S-ratio	0.72 ± 0.21	0.83 ± 0.24	0.021

Table 2. Effect of dietary counseling on serum lipids, lipoproteins, glucose and insulin concentrations

Values are presented as mean \pm SD. P/S-ratio, polyunsaturated fats / saturated fatty acids ratio. *aStatistical analyses were performed using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test.*

In order to determine whether specific nutrient changes are accompanied by changes in serum lipids and lipoproteins, correlation analyses were performed. Weight reduction correlated significantly with reduction of total plasma triglycerides (r=0.35, p=0.03), VLDL cholesterol (r=0.41, p=0.021) and VLDL triglycerides (r=0.46, p=0.009). In accordance, an inverse correlation between changes in body weight and HDL cholesterol levels (r=-0.39, p=0.031) was observed. Of all nutrients assessed, only reduction of alcohol intake correlated with improvement of total serum triglyceride levels (r=0.33,

p=0.041). These correlations could not be noted in the overweight and non-overweight subgroups.

Differences between overweight and non-overweight patients

At baseline, there were some interesting differences between both groups. As shown in table 3, the overweight patients reported a higher energy intake than non-overweight patients (9408 vs. 7792 kJ, respectively; p=0.035). The higher energy intake in the overweight group was mainly derived from carbohydrates (p=0.011), although there was a tendency to a higher intake of all macronutrients. After the dietary counseling period, these differences had disappeared and the patient groups were consuming comparable diets. Accordingly, the energy reduction in the overweight group was more pronounced than in the non-overweight group (p=0.032). In the overweight group, the absolute intake of all macronutrients was reduced. In the nonoverweight group, however, the absolute intake of polyunsaturated fats and carbohydrates remained unchanged.

No differences could be observed between the baseline metabolic variables of the overweight and non-overweight patients. The efficacy of the dietary intervention with regard to lipid levels appeared to be slightly better in the overweight group, however, none of the differences in efficacy between the overweight and non-overweight group reached statistical significance. Plasma triglyceride levels in the overweight group decreased from 14.94 to 8.86 mmol/L, whereas in the non-overweight group the corresponding levels decreased from 17.09 to 13.79 mmol/L. In accordance, both VLDL-cholesterol and VLDL-triglyceride levels tended to be reduced more effectively in the overweight group than in the non-overweight group. Total cholesterol, LDLcholesterol and HDL-cholesterol levels showed comparable changes in the two groups.

6				
	Overweight	group	Non-overwe	eight group
	Before	During	Before	During
Number	27		18	
Weight (kg)	95.4 ± 13.0	$93.1 \pm 13.0^{**}$	80.6 ± 9.3	$80.1 \pm 10.0^{*}$
Energy (kJ/d)	9408 ± 2643	$7112 \pm 2039^{***}$	7792 ± 2057	6796 ± 1449*
Total fat (g/d)	82.5 ± 31.4	$50.2 \pm 16.5^{***}$	71.9 ± 24.7	50.6 ± 17.8 ###
Saturated fat (g/d)	32.7 ± 12.2	18.5 ± 6.7***	30.1 ± 10.5	18.8 ± 6.5###
Monounsaturated fats (g/d)	29.4 ± 11.6	$15.7 \pm 5.4^{***}$	24.4 ± 9.1	16.1±5.4#
Polyunsaturated fats (g/d)	19.1 ± 10.1	$14.9 \pm 6.1^{**}$	15.4 ± 7.0	15.8 ± 7.1
Dietary cholesterol (mg/d)	238 ± 83	$147 \pm 65^{***}$	240 ± 97	$170 \pm 56*$
Carbohydrates (g/d)	254 ± 73	$217 \pm 77^{**}$	192 ± 68	192 ± 47
Protein (g/d)	93.4 ± 25.5	83.6 ± 20.1	87.0 ± 22.2	85.4 ± 21.5
Alcohol (g/d)	15.7 ± 20.4	$5.2 \pm 9.3^{*}$	13.2 ± 16.5	5.5 土 7.8#
Plasma cholesterol (mmol/L)	8.77±3.65	7.13 ± 2.00	9.32 ± 2.97	8.49 ± 3.06#
Plasma triglyceride (mmol/L)	14.94 ± 16.59	$8.86 \pm 4.26^{*}$	17.09 ± 16.00	13.79 ± 15.14 *
VLDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.51 ± 5.55	2.96 ± 2.05	5.82 ± 4.79	4.35 土 4.42##
VLDL-triglyceride (mmol/L)	15.08 ± 20.03	$6,09 \pm 4.05^{**}$	14.06 ± 13.56	11.14 ± 14.38
LDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	2.55 ± 0.95	2.91 ± 0.94	2.76 ± 1.01	3.00 ± 1.30
HDL-cholesterol (mmol/L)	0.63 ± 0.22	$0.66 \pm 0.16^{*}$	0.61 ± 0.23	0.68 ± 0.23
* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 as com	pared to the correspor	ding value in the overweig	ht group before dietary c	ounseling.

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 as compared to the corresponding value in the non-overweight group before dietary counseling.

Table 3. Dietary counseling in the overweight and non-overweight group

Discussion

Dietary treatment is recommended as first-line therapy in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. Although others have demonstrated that dietary counseling in hypertriglyceridemia can be effective (12,13), no data are available about the response to the "Dutch Guidelines for a Healthy Diet" in this patient group, nor about the effectiveness of specific nutrient changes. In the present study. 45 new untreated patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia were included in a 12-week dietary intervention study. In contrast to previous studies, an attempt was made to evaluate the effects of changes in macronutrient composition on serum lipid and lipoprotein levels. A limitation of this study is the use of dietary histories. Other authors have reported a systematic underreporting of dietary intake (18), that appears to be dependent on the degree of obesity (19). In the present study, however, a significant correlation was observed between the reported dietary P/S ratio and the P/S ratio that was measured in serum. In addition, an association was found between reduction of energy intake and weight reduction. These results suggest that the dietary history may provide an adequate indication of food intake.

In response to the dietary counseling, we observed a significant reduction in body weight, energy intake and improvement of macronutrient composition. In parallel, total serum triglyceride and total serum cholesterol levels were reduced by 31% and 15%, respectively, which is in general agreement with previous studies (12,13). In contrast to the marked changes in lipid levels, no effects were observed on serum insulin and glucose concentrations. We speculate that the observed changes in body weight are too modest to detect an improvement of insulin resistance. The observed effectiveness of the current dietary advise in hypertriglyceridemic patients was more pronounced compared with patients with hypercholesterolemia or combined hyperlipidemia that have been described previously (15,20). This confirms the concept that hypertriglyceridemia is the lipoprotein disorder most susceptible to dietary intervention. Interestingly, 3 years and 8 months after completion of the dietary intervention study, body weight was still lower than at study entrance, suggesting that dietary habits were changed permanently. Despite impressive improvements of the reported dietary macronutrient composition, only alcohol reduction appeared to correlate with reduction of serum triglyceride levels. It is known that alcohol can stress triglyceride metabolism by increasing VLDL production (21). Our study

85

confirms the concept that alcohol intake should be limited in hypertriglyceridemic patients.

In the present study, no correlation could be noted between changes in lipid levels and the changes in dietary fatty acid composition. This is in general agreement with other studies (22). Several reports suggest that both saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids do not affect serum triglyceride levels, whereas only high amounts of polyunsaturated fatty acids have been reported to reduce serum triglycerides in hypertriglyceridemic subjects (23). The amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids that is required to reduce serum triglycerides is difficult to achieve with regular dietary measures and artificial supplementation seems obligatory. However, an increased in vitro VLDL and LDL oxidizability has been reported in response to fish oil therapy, a phenomenon explained by an increased number of double bonds in the fatty acid chains (24). Moreover, diets rich in polyunsaturated fats have been reported to increase glucose concentrations in diabetic patients (25). Longterm studies have to be performed to investigate whether the controversial effects of a polyunsaturated fat-rich diet may be outweighed by the overall protective effect through other mechanisms that favourably modify platelet function, inflammatory responses and the development of atherosclerosis in general (26-30).

Although the primary stimulus for hepatic VLDL production is the availability of free fatty acids, it is well established that dietary cholesterol can stimulate VLDL production as well (31). Limitation of cholesterol intake is a common dietary recommendation for hyperlipidemic patients, however, no data are available on the effect of dietary cholesterol in hypertriglyceridemic patients. In the present paper, no relation could be noted between reduction in cholesterol intake and lipid improvements.

In case of normal body weight, an isocaloric dietary advise seems suitable. There has been debate as to whether saturated fat should be replaced by carbohydrates or monounsaturated fat. So far, no comparative studies with have been performed in patients endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Garg et al. (32) performed a meta-analysis of nine studies comparing a high-carbohydrate diet with a high-monounsaturated-fat diet in type 2 diabetes. The high-monounsaturated-fat diet proved to be superior with regard to lipid levels and glycemic control. In accordance with this view, the American Diabetes Association recently recommended a more moderate intake of carbohydrates in hypertriglyceridemic patients with noninsulin dependent diabetes mellitus (33). However, it has been suggested that

the beneficial effects of a high-monounsaturated-fat diet may not be related to the high monounsaturated fat quantity but to the reduction in carbohydrates, as the latter is the macronutrient of which the metabolism is primarily impaired in diabetes. In hypertriglyceridemia, not the metabolism of carbohydrates but the catabolism of fat is impaired. In the postprandial phase, the rise in triglyceride levels in hypertriglyceridemia is severe and prolonged as compared to control subjects (34). Therefore, restriction of all types of fat seems to be a reasonable recommendation in hypertriglyceridemia. On the other hand, diets rich in carbohydrates have been reported to increase serum triglyceride levels both in normolipidemic and in hypertriglyceridemic subjects (35,36). An enhanced hepatic synthesis of VLDL triglycerides is thought to be the underlying mechanism (36). So, there is good evidence that both macronutrients can stress triglyceride metabolism. Our study adds some interesting data to this discussion, particularly the observation that a hypocaloric low-fat diet in normal-weight hypertriglyceridemic individuals is effective. One might therefore consider a more vigorous weight reduction beyond the target BMI of 26 kg/m² instead of focusing on the discussion whether the calorie loss should be compensated with carbohydrates or monounsaturated fat.

Results of the present study confirm that dietary therapy is associated with significant improvements of serum lipid profiles in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. However, only a minority of the patients achieved normal lipid levels after 12 weeks of dietary therapy. In most cases, institution of lipid-lowering medication was needed. Although single dietary intervention may be sufficient to achieve normal lipid levels in patients with mildly elevated lipid levels who are highly motivated to adhere to strict dietary guidelines, dietary therapy should be maintained as adjuvant therapy to lipid-lowering medication in the majority of patients.

This study confirms the current concept that energy restriction and weight issues in the dietary management of loss are kev hypertriglyceridemia. Novel findings are the observation that dietary intervention is also effective in non-overweight patients, and that alcohol limitation is effective in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia with a normal, social alcohol use (less than 40 g/d). In conclusion, we have demonstrated that short-term dietary counseling in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia can effectively improve serum lipid and lipoprotein levels. With regard to the advised nutrient changes, weight loss

and limitation of alcohol intake prove to be the best predictors of triglyceride reduction.

References

- 1. Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride and coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb 1991;11:2-14.
- Gaziano JM, Hennekens CH, O'Donnell CJ, Breslow JL, Buring JE. Fasting triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein, and risk of myocardial infarction. Circulation 1997;96:2520-5.
- Hokanson JE, Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a meta-analysis of populationbased prospective studies. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996;3:213-9.
- 4. Henderson HE, Landon SV, Michie J, Berger GM. Association of a DNA polymorphism in the apolipoprotein C-III gene with diverse hyperlipidaemic phenotypes. Hum Genet 1987;75:62-5.
- Dammerman M, Sandkuijl LA, Halaas JL, Chung W, Breslow JL. An apolipoprotein CIII haplotype protective against hypertriglyceridemia is specified by promoter and 3' untranslated region polymorphisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:4562-6.
- Minnich A, Kessling A, Roy M, Giry C, DeLangavant G, Lavigne J, Lussier Cacan S, Davignon J. Prevalence of alleles encoding defective lipoprotein lipase in hypertriglyceridemic patients of French Canadian descent. J Lipid Res 1995;36:117-24.
- Syvanne M, Antikainen M, Ehnholm S, Tenkanen H, Lahdenpera S, Ehnholm C, Taskinen MR. Heterozygosity for ASN(291)SER mutation in the lipoprotein lipase gene in two Finnish

pedigrees: Effect of hyperinsulinemia on the expression of hypertriglyceridemia. J Lipid Res 1996;37:727-38.

- Erkelens DW, Brunzell JD. Effect of controlled alcohol feeding on triglycerides in patients with outpatient 'alcohol hypertriglyceridemia'. J Hum Nutr 1980;34:370-5.
- Reaven GM, Mejean L, Villaume C, Drouin P, Debry G. Plasma glucose and insulin responses to oral glucose in nonobese subjects and patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Metabolism 1983;32:447-50.
- Bruce R, Godsland IF, Walton C, Crook D, Wynn V. Associations between insulin sensitivity, and free fatty acid and triglyceride metabolism independent of uncomplicated obesity. Metabolism 1994;43:1275-81.
- NIH Consensus conference. Triglyceride, high-density lipoprotein, and coronary heart disease. JAMA 1993;269:505-10.
- Gotto AM, Jr., DeBakey ME, Foreyt JP, Scott LW, Thornby JI. Dietary treatment of type IV hyperlipoproteinemia. JAMA 1977;237:1212-5.
- Dallongeville J, Leboeuf N, Blais C, Touchette J, Gervais N, Davignon J. Short-term response to dietary counseling of hyperlipidemic outpatients of a lipid clinic. J Am Diet Assoc 1994;94:616-21.
- 14. Netherlands Nutrition Council. Guidelines for a healthy diet. The

Hague, The Netherlands: Netherlands Nutrition Council. 1986.

- 15. Bloemberg BP, Kromhout D, Goddijn HE, Jansen A, Obermann de Boer GL. The impact of the Guidelines for a Healthy Diet of The Netherlands Nutrition Council on total and high density lipoprotein cholesterol in hypercholesterolemic free-living men. Am J Epidemiol 1991;134:39-48.
- 16. National Cholesterol Education Program. Second Report of the Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel II). Circulation 1994;89:1333-445.
- Lepage G, Roy CC. Direct transesterification of all classes of lipids in a one-step reaction. J Lipid Res 1986;27:114-20.
- Black AE, Coward WA, Cole TJ, Prentice AM. Human energy expenditure in affluent societies: an analysis of 574 doubly-labelled water measurements. Eur J Clin Nutr 1996;50:72-92.
- Voss S, Kroke A, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H. Is macronutrient composition of dietary intake data affected by underreporting? Results from the EPIC-Postdam study. Eur J Clin Nutr 1998;52:119-26.
- 20. Wijsman BP, Adrichem CM, van 't Hooft FM, Gevers Leuven JA, van der Laarse A, Smelt AH. Diverse effects of the Dutch guidelines for a healthy diet on serum lipids of male patients with type IIA and type IIB hyperlipoproteinemia. Eur J Int Med 1996;4:115-22.
- Baraona E, Lieber CS. Effects of ethanol on lipid metabolism. J Lipid Res 1979;20:289-315.
- 22. Mattson FH, Grundy SM. Comparison of effects of dietary saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated fatty acids on plasma lipids and lipoproteins in man. J Lipid Res 1985;26:194-202.

- Grundy SM. Effects of polyunsaturated fats on lipid metabolism in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Invest 1975;55:269-82.
- 24. Hau MF, Smelt AH, Bindels AJ, Sijbrands EJ, van der Laarse A, Onkenhout W, van Duyvenvoorde W, Princen HMG. Effects of fish oil on oxidation of very low density lipoprotein in hypertriglyceridemic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:1197-202.
- Vessby B, Karlstrom B, Boberg M, Lithell H, Berne C. Polyunsaturated fatty acids may impair blood glucose control in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabet Med 1992;9:126-33.
- von Schacky C, Fischer S, Weber PC. Long-term effects of dietary marine omega-3 fatty acids upon plasma and cellular lipids, platelet function, and eicosanoid formation in humans. J Clin Invest 1985;76:1626-31.
- Knapp HR, Reilly IA, Alessandrini P, FitzGerald GA. In vivo indexes of platelet and vascular function during fish-oil administration in patients with atherosclerosis. N Engl J Med 1986;314:937-42.
- Terano T, Salmon JA, Higgs GA, Moncada S. Eicosapentaenoic acid as a modulator of inflammation. Effect on prostaglandin and leukotriene synthesis. Biochem Pharmacol 1986;35:779-85.
- Weiner BH, Ockene IS, Levine PH, Cuenoud HF, Fisher M, Johnson BF, Daoud AS, Jarmolych J, Hosmer D, Johnson MH, et a. Inhibition of atherosclerosis by cod-liver oil in a hyperlipidemic swine model. N Engl J Med 1986;315:841-6.
- Kromhout D, Bosschieter EB, de-Lezenne CC. The inverse relation between fish consumption and 20-year mortality from coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1985;312:1205-9.

- Fungwe TV, Cagen L, Wilcox HG, Heimberg M. Regulation of hepatic secretion of very low density lipoprotein by dietary cholesterol. J Lipid Res 1992;33:179-91.
- Garg A. High-monounsaturated-fat diets for patients with diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 1998;67:577S-82S.
- 33. American Diabetes Association. Nutrition recommendations and principles for people with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 1998;21:S32-S35
- 34. Weintraub MS, Eisenberg S, Breslow JL. Different patterns of postprandial lipoprotein metabolism in normal, type

IIa, type III, and type IV hyperlipoproteinemic individuals. Effects of treatment with cholestyramine and gemfibrozil. J Clin Invest 1987;79:1110-9.

- 35. Mancini M, Mattock M, Rabaya E, Chait A, Lewis B. Studies of the mechanisms of carbohydrate-induced lipaemia in normal man. Atherosclerosis 1973;17:445-54.
- 36. Quarfordt SH, Frank A, Shames DM, Berman M, Steinberg D. Very low density lipoprotein triglyceride transport in type IV hyperlipoproteinemia and the effects of carbohydrate-rich diets. J Clin Invest 1970;49:2281-97.

Chapter 5

The Hypolipidemic Action of Bezafibrate Therapy in Hypertriglyceridemia is Mediated by Upregulation of Lipoprotein Lipase: No Effects on VLDL Substrate Affinity to Lipolysis or LDL Receptor Binding

Frits H.A.F. de Man¹, Femke de Beer^{2,4}, Arnoud van der Laarse¹, Hans Jansen⁵, Jan A. Gevers Leuven^{2,4}, John H.M. Souverijn³, Ton F.F.P. Vroom², Selene C.M. Schoormans¹, Jean-Charles Fruchart⁶, Louis M. Havekes^{1,2,4} and Augustinus H.M. Smelt²

Departments of ¹Cardiology, ²Internal Medicine, ³Clinical Chemistry, Leiden University Medical Center; ⁴Gaubius laboratory, TNO-PG, Leiden; ⁵Laboratory for Lipid Research, Erasmus University, Rotterdam, The Netherlands; and ⁶Department d'Athérosclérose, Institut Pasteur, Lille Cédex, France

Submitted

Presented at the American Heart Association in November 1998 (Dallas, USA)

Summary

Introduction. Fibrates are regarded as drugs of choice in hypertriglyceridemia. Downregulation of apoC-III transcription and upregulation of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) gene expression have been suggested to explain the mechanism of action. This study was designed to study the effects of bezafibrate therapy on very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) susceptibility to lipolysis, VLDL binding to the low density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor and postheparin LPL activities in patients with HTG.

Methods. Eighteen HTG patients were randomized to receive in a doubleblind placebo-controlled cross-over fashion 400 mg bezafibrate once daily for 6 weeks. VLDL lipolysis was studied with heparan sulfate proteoglycanbound LPL. Binding affinity of VLDL to the LDL receptor was determined in J774 cells with ¹²⁵I-labeled control LDL.

Results. In response to bezafibrate therapy, plasma triglyceride and apoC-III levels decreased by 69% and 42%, respectively. HTG VLDL was lipolyzed less efficiently compared to control VLDL and lipolysis did not improve by bezafibrate therapy. VLDL binding affinity to the LDL receptor was comparable between the control group and HTG group, and did not change upon bezafibrate therapy. However, the post-heparin LPL activity in the HTG patients increased from 153 to 192 U/L (p=0.025). A strong inverse relation was observed between the change in LPL activities and the change in triglyceride levels (r=-0.62, p=0.006).

Conclusions. The hypolipidemic action of bezafibrate therapy in HTG may be attributed to upregulation of LPL, whereas VLDL susceptibility to lipolysis and LDL receptor binding are not affected.

Introduction

Hypertriglyceridemia is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease in both men and women (1-3). This multifactorial lipid disorder is characterized by elevated levels of very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), low high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) levels, small dense low density lipoproteins (LDL) and insulin resistance. Both overproduction and delayed clearance of VLDL have been demonstrated in hypertriglyceridemia (4). Obesity, insulin resistance and high-energy diets are considered to be involved in the increased triglyceride synthesis (5.6). Genetic factors are mainly associated with impaired triglyceride catabolism (7). Mutations in the lipoprotein lipase (LPL) gene are frequently found in HTG patients and thought predispose subjects to the development are to of hypertriglyceridemia (8). In addition, several genetic studies have demonstrated a relation between hypertriglyceridemia and polymorphisms in the apoC-III gene and apoC-III promoter region (9,10), which may be associated with the increased plasma apoC-III levels in these patients (11). Since apoC-III can inhibit lipolysis (12) and impair the receptor-mediated clearance of VLDL (13,14), high apoC-III levels are considered to play a key role in the delayed triglyceride catabolism in HTG patients.

Fibrates are regarded as drugs of choice in patients with hypertriglyceridemia (15). The hypolipidemic effect is mediated via two important mechanisms. ¹They increase the hepatic fatty acid uptake and stimulate the conversion of fatty acids into acyl-coA, by inducing fatty acid transport protein and acyl-coA synthase (16,17). Thus, fibrates increase β oxidation of fatty acids in the mitochondrion, which results in a reduced availability of fatty acids for triglyceride synthesis and reduced hepatic triglyceride production (18). ²Fibrates affect transcription rates of regulatory enzymes and apolipoproteins implicated in lipoprotein metabolism via activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) α (19). Activation of these nuclear receptors results in the upregulation of the lipoprotein lipase (LPL) gene expression and reduction of apoC-III transcription (19,20).

It is speculated that a fibrate-induced reduction of the apoC-III content per VLDL particle may improve VLDL catabolism. The best direct evidence is derived from studies in transgenic animals. Transgenic mice overexpressing the apoC-III gene show a marked hypertriglyceridemia (21). In accordance, apoC-III knock-out mice have low triglyceride levels and

93

appear to be resistant to postprandial hypertriglyceridemia when their triglyceride metabolism is stressed by a high fat diet (22). Corresponding metabolic studies in these animals have demonstrated that apoC-III impairs receptor-mediated lipoprotein removal (14). A recent study in apoC-III demonstrated diminished interaction between transgenic mice а glycosaminoglycans and apoC-III-rich VLDL particles (23), suggesting that apoC-III may also impair lipolysis by proteoglycan-bound LPL. Thus, with regard to a fibrate-induced reduction of apoC-III levels, it is hypothesized that fibrates may improve VLDL as substrate for lipolysis and as ligand for receptor-mediated lipoprotein removal. However, this hypothesis has not been tested in humans. In the present study, we examined in patients with hypertriglyceridemia the effects of bezafibrate therapy on VLDL suitability as substrate for LPL, binding to the LDL receptor and post-heparin LPL activity.

Materials and Methods

Patients and control subjects

The study population consisted of 18 unrelated patients, 16 males and 2 females, with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia who were recruited from the outpatient lipid clinic of the Leiden University Medical Center. The diagnosis endogenous hypertriglyceridemia was based on the means of two fasting blood samples obtained after a dietary period of at least 8 weeks. The diagnostic criteria for endogenous hypertriglyceridemia were: total serum TG > 4.0 mmol/L, serum VLDL-C > 1.0 mmol/L, and serum LDL-C < 4.5 mmol/L. Additional exclusion criteria were the apoE2E2 genotype, secondary hyperlipidemia (renal, liver or thyroid disease, fasting glucose > 7.0 mmol/L, and alcohol consumption of more than 40 g/day) and the use of lipid-lowering drugs. Patients with a medical history of cardiovascular disease were not included in the study. Twenty normolipidemic, age- and sex-matched control subjects, 18 males and 2 females, were recruited by a newspaper advertisement.

Study design and blood sampling

The patients were randomized to receive in a double-blind cross-over fashion a fixed dose of bezafibrate (slow-release), 400 mg once daily, or placebo for 6 weeks. The two periods in which medication was taken were separated by a wash-out period of 6 weeks. Before and after each treatment period of 6 weeks, fasting venous blood samples were obtained from the participants for lipid measurements. At the end of each treatment period, fasting venous blood samples were obtained which was followed by administration of an intravenous bolus of 50 IU of sodium heparin per kilogram body weight. After exactly 20 min, the post-heparin blood samples were drawn in icecooled heparin-coated tubes. From the control subjects, fasting blood samples were obtained at baseline under identical conditions. All tubes were kept on ice after sampling. Serum tubes were allowed to clot for 30 min at room temperature. Informed consent was obtained from each participant and the protocol was approved by the institutional Medical Ethics Committee.

Lipids and lipoproteins

Venous blood was collected after an overnight fast. Serum was obtained after centrifugation at 1500 g for 15 min at room temperature. Three mL of fresh serum was ultracentrifuged for 15 hours at 232,000 g at 15°C in a TL-100 tabletop ultracentrifuge, using a TLA-100.3 fixed angle rotor (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA USA). The ultracentrifugate was carefully divided in a density (d) < 1.006 and d 1.006 - 1.25 g/mL fraction, designated as the VLDL and LDL-HDL fraction, respectively. HDL cholesterol was measured in the LDL-HDL fraction after precipitation of apoB-containing particles with phosphotungstic acid and MgCl₂.

Triglyceride, total cholesterol, phospholipid and free cholesterol concentrations were measured enzymatically using commercially available kits (Boehringer, Mannheim, Germany). Cholesteryl ester (CE) content was calculated by subtracting the concentration free cholesterol from the concentration total cholesterol. Protein was determined by the method of Lowry *et al.* (24). VLDL diameter was determined by photon correlation spectroscopy using a Malvern 4700 C system (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, UK). Measurements were performed at 25°C and at a 90° angle between laser and detector. ApoB, apoE, and apoC-III levels were determined using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). ApoA-I was assessed by a turbidimetric assay using an automated Hitachi 911 analyzer (Boehringer-Mannheim/Hitachi, Mannheim, Germany). ApoE genotyping was performed as described by Reymer *et al.* (25).

Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) was determined by an immunochemical method as described by Jansen *et al.* (26), using a gum acacia-stabilized

[³H]trioleolylglycerol substrate. LPL was assessed after inhibition of hepatic lipase (HL) with a goat antibody raised against HL purified from postheparin human plasma. The extraction efficiency of [³H]-labeled nonesterified fatty acids liberated from the substrate during the assay was accounted for by priming the substrate with [¹⁴C]oleate. In each series of determinations, pooled plasmas with high and low LPL activity were included as a reference. Activities are expressed as milliunits, 1 mU representing the release of 1 nmol fatty acid from the substrate in 1 minute.

The plasma samples for the *in vitro* experiments were stored in the following way: The samples were brought to a final concentration of 10% (w/v) sucrose, 10 mM EDTA, capped under nitrogen, snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. Previous studies at our department have demonstrated that storage at -80°C under these conditions does not affect VLDL lipolysis kinetics nor VLDL oxidizability (27,28). Before the *in vitro* experiment, equal sample numbers of the study groups were thawed, VLDL was isolated and stored at 4°C until use. The contribution of apoB-48 to the total amount of apoB was less than 10% in the samples, which indicates that the contribution of chylomicron remnants to the isolated VLDL fraction was limited.

Assay of lipolysis with heparan sulfate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase

Lipolysis experiments were carried out with VLDL samples, isolated from ten representative HTG patients during placebo and bezafibrate therapy, and ten control subjects. The group of patients and control subjects were carefully selected in order to obtain baseline characteristics that were similar to the original groups. Non-responders were not included.

The lipolysis experiments with HSPG-bound LPL were performed in 96-well microtiter plates as described before (27). Briefly, the wells were incubated with 0.5 μ g HSPG (Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, MO) in 75 μ l PBS for 18 h at 4°C. Aspecific binding sites were blocked by incubation with 1% (w/v) essentially free fatty acid (FFA) free bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma) in 100 μ l PBS for 1 h at 37°C. Subsequently, the wells were incubated with 1.5 μ g LPL in 75 μ l Tris-glycerol buffer (0.1 mol/L Tris, 20% (v/v) glycerol, pH 8.5) for 1 h at 4°C. Unbound LPL was removed by washing the plates three times with Tris buffer (0.1 mol/L Tris, pH 8.5). Subsequently, lipolysis was started by adding 50 μ l VLDL-TG at a final concentration of 0.2, 0.4, and 0.6 mmol/L, to the preconditioned well in the presence of 1% (w/v) essentially FFA-free BSA and placing the plate in a

shaking incubator at 37° C. The reaction was stopped after 10 min by the addition of Triton X-100 (1% (v/v), final concentration) (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany), in Tris buffer (pH 8.5), vortexing and cooling on ice. FFA concentrations were determined in triplicate using the NEFA-C kit (WAKO Chemicals, Neuss, Germany).

LDL receptor binding assay

The LDL receptor binding experiments were carried out with VLDL samples, isolated from the same ten HTG patients during placebo and bezafibrate therapy, and ten control subjects that were studied in the lipolysis assay. J774 macrophages were cultured in 75-cm² flasks in DMEM (Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium) supplemented with 10% (v/v) FCS (fetal calf serum), 0.85 g/L NaHCO₃, 4.76 g/L HEPES, 100 IU/mL penicillin, 100 μ g/mL streptomycin and 2 mmol/L glutamine. The cells were incubated at 37°C in an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂ in air. For each experiment, cells were plated in 24-well plates. The medium was refreshed every 3 days and used for experiments within 5 days of plating.

In order to perform competition experiments, low density lipoproteins (LDL) were isolated from a control subject using ultracentrifugation according to Redgrave *et al.* (29). LDL was immediately used for iodination by the ¹²⁵I-iodine monochloride method described by Bilheimer *et al.* (30). After iodination, LDL was dialyzed extensively at 4°C against PBS for 24 hours and thereafter stabilized with 1% (wt/v) BSA (fraction V, Sigma). The specific radioactivity ranged from 250-300 cpm/ng of protein. The stabilized ¹²⁵I-labeled LDL was stored at 4°C and used within two weeks.

J774 macrophages were cultured in 24-well plates as described above. Twenty-four hours before each experiment, cells were washed with DMEM containing 1% (wt/v) BSA and further incubated with DMEM containing 5% (v/v) of lipoprotein-deficient serum instead of FCS. The binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled LDL to J774 macrophages was determined after a 3-hour incubation at 4°C with 10 μ g/mL ¹²⁵I-labeled LDL in the presence of increasing amounts of unlabeled VLDL of interest as competitor. Thereafter, the medium was removed and the cells were washed three times with ice-cold PBS containing 0.1% (wt/v) BSA and subsequently once with PBS without BSA. Cells were then dissolved in 1 mL of 0.2 mol/L NaOH. Protein content of the cell lysate was measured by the method of Lowry *et al.* (24). An aliquot of the cell lysate was counted for radioactivity. The binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled LDL in the absence of unlabeled VLDL was defined as 100%. The concentration of competitor VLDL protein required to displace 50% of ¹²⁵I-labeled LDL (IC₅₀-value) was calculated by logit-log plot analysis in order to estimate the binding affinity of competitor VLDL to the LDL receptor present on J774 macrophages.

Statistical analyses

Results are presented as the mean \pm S.D. Mean differences between the control group and patient group were calculated with the Mann-Whitney U test. Differences in categorical variables between the patient group and control group were assessed with the Fisher's exact test. Differences between the patient groups on placebo and bezafibrate therapy were evaluated pairwise using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test. Correlation analysis was performed using the Spearman rank correlation analysis. Findings were regarded to be statistically significant when the probability of these data under the null hypothesis was less than 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS/PC+TM software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL USA).

Results

Patient characteristics

As shown in table 1, the patient and control group were comparable with regard to age, sex and hypertension. The HTG patients had a higher BMI, as expected. Anti-hypertensive medication was more frequent in the HTG group: 3 patients were on beta-blocking agents and 3 patients received a combination of β -blockers, ACE-inhibitors, diuretics or calcium-antagonists. In the control group, 1 subject was using an ACE-inhibitor as antihypertensive therapy. The apoE genotype distribution and apoE allele frequencies were comparable in both groups. Serum triglyceride levels were 11-fold higher in the HTG patients as compared to the control subjects. Although both LDL-C and HDL-C levels were lower in the patient group, VLDL-C concentrations were markedly elevated and accounted for the elevation in total serum cholesterol concentrations. With regard to the apolipoproteins, serum apoC-III levels were 3-fold higher in the HTG group in comparison with the control group (p<0.001). Interestingly, the mean postheparin LPL activities were similar although the HTG group showed a wider variation with extreme values both in the lower and upper range (range 19-449 U/L) compared with the control group (range 81-229 U/L).

	Controls	Hypertriglyceridemic	p-value ^a
		patients	
Number	20	18	-
Age, y	48 ± 7	49 ± 9	n.s.
Sex, M/F	18/2	16/2	n.s.
BMI, kg/m²	24.2 ± 3.3	28.0 ± 2.8	0.001
Hypertension, yes/no	5 / 15	7/11	n.s.
ApoE-2 allele frequence	0.125	0.222	
ApoE-3 allele frequence	0.700	0.639	n.s.
ApoE-4 allele frequence	0.175	0.139	
TTG, mmol/L	0.93 ± 0.43	10.21 ± 4.21	<0.001
TC, mmol/L	5.10 ± 0.94	7.82 ± 1.74	<0.001
VLDL-TG, mmol/L	0.55 ± 0.36	8.55 ± 3.75	<0.001
VLDL-C, mmol/L	0.26 ± 0.18	4.45 ± 2.10	<0.001
LDL-C, mmol/L	3.52 ± 0.87	2.62 ± 0.65	0.001
HDL-C, mmol/L	1.32 ± 0.29	0.76 ± 0.16	<0.001
apoA-I, g/L	1.32 ± 0.15	1.19 ± 0.11	0.002
apoC-III, g/L	0.08 ± 0.02	0.26 ± 0.08	<0.001
Lipoprotein Lipase, U/L	152 ± 40	153 ± 128	n.s.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics

BMI, body mass index; TC, total cholesterol; TTG, total triglycerides; VLDL-TG, very low density lipoprotein triglycerides; VLDL-C, very low density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol. Values are presented as the mean ± S.D. ^aDifferences in categorical variables between the patient group and control group were assessed with the Chi-square test, while differences in numerical variables were assessed with the Mann-Whitney U-test.

Effect of therapy on serum lipid and lipoprotein levels

All subjects completed the study without any side-effects. No significant changes in body weight occurred. Treatment with placebo had no effect on serum lipid levels (data not shown). The effects of bezafibrate therapy are shown in table 2. Bezafibrate therapy resulted in a significant fall in serum TG (-69%, p<0.001) and serum cholesterol levels (-24%, p<0.001). The change of VLDL-TG (-71%, p<0.001) and VLDL-C levels (-67%, p<0.001) paralleled that of plasma TG. LDL-C increased by 34% (p=0.001) from 2.67 mmol/L to 3.58 mmol/L, which is comparable to the LDL-C level of 3.52 mmol/L in the controls.

	Hypertriglyceri	demic Patients	Difference	p-value
	Placebo	Bezafibrate		
Number	18	3		
TTG, mmol/L	12.28 ± 8.06	3.86 ± 1.44	-69%	<0.001
TC, mmol/L	7.75 ± 2.37	5.91 ± 1.24	-24%	0.001
VLDL-TG, mmol/L	10.03 ± 6.11	2.89 ± 1.07	-71%	<0.001
VLDL-C, mmol/L	4.37 ± 2.02	1.43 ± 0.62	-67%	<0.001
LDL-C, mmol/L	2.67 ± 0.64	3.58 ± 0.84	+34%	0.001
HDL-C, mmol/L	0.72 ± 0.13	0.91 ± 0.13	+26%	<0.001
apoA-I, g/L	1.08 ± 0.10	1.13 ± 0.11	+4%	0.017
apoC-III, g/L	0.24 ± 0.10	0.14 ± 0.06	-42%	<0.001
LPL, U/L	153 ± 128	192 ± 95	+25%	0.025

Table 2. Effects of bezafibrate therapy on lipoprotein and apolipoproteinlevels and post-heparin lipoprotein lipase activities

TC, total cholesterol; TTG, total triglycerides; VLDL-TG, very low density lipoprotein triglycerides; VLDL-C, very low density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; Apo, apolipoprotein; LPL, lipoprotein lipase. All values are mean ± S.D. based on triplicate measurements.

HDL-C and apoA-I levels increased with 26% (p<0.001) and 4% (p=0.017), respectively. Interestingly, plasma apoC-III levels showed an impressive reduction (-42%, p<0.001) but remained elevated in comparison to the control group (0.14 vs 0.08 g/L). Thus, the lipoprotein profile changed markedly upon bezafibrate therapy towards that found in the normolipidemic reference group.

With regard to the VLDL size and composition, HTG VLDL was significantly larger than control VLDL (62 vs. 41 nm, p<0.001; table 3) and normalized upon therapy. Assuming that VLDL has a spherical shape, bezafibrate induced a 2.8-fold reduction in VLDL volume. In addition, HTG VLDL was cholesteryl ester-enriched and relatively poor in protein. During bezafibrate therapy, the VLDL protein content increased towards the reference range, but the cholesteryl ester enrichment remained. The number of apoC-III molecules per VLDL particle was 2 to 3-fold higher in the HTG group on placebo therapy as was the number of apoE molecules. Correction for VLDL size revealed that the effective number of these apolipoproteins (per 1000 nm² of VLDL surface) was comparable in the HTG and control group, and did not change upon bezafibrate therapy.
	Controls	Hypertriglycer	idemic Patients
		Placebo	Bezafibrate
Diameter (nm)	41 ± 3***	62 ± 18	44 ± 4
VLDL-TG (%)	60 ± 4	62 ± 7	62 ± 5
VLDL-FC (%)	4±1	5 ± 2	4 ± 1##
VLDL-CE (%)	$6 \pm 2^{**}$	9±2	8±3
VLDL-PL (%)	15 ± 2	14 ± 2	15 ± 1
VLDL-prot (%)	$14 \pm 3^{***}$	9±2	11 ± 3##
VLDL-apoB, g/L	$0.33 \pm 0.18^{***}$	1.29 ± 0.50	1.38 ± 0.62
VLDL-apoC-III, g/l	$0.02 \pm 0.01^{***}$	0.14 ± 0.05	0.06 ± 0.04***
apoC-III / VLDLª	$310 \pm 126^{***}$	713 ± 430	293 ± 197 ##
apoC-III / 1000 nm² VLDL ^b	59 ± 25	64 ± 58	37 ± 20
apoE / VLDL ^a	$18 \pm 6^{**}$	41 ± 23	$12 \pm 9^{***}$
apoE / 1000 nm² VLDL $^{ m b}$	3.5 ± 1.2	3.8 ± 2.8	1.9 ± 1.4
apoC-III / E ratio	19 ± 10	20 ± 9	26±7

Table 3. VLDL characteristics and apolipoprotein distribution

VLDL-TG, VLDL-FC, VLDL-CE, VLDL-PL, and VLDL-prot represent the relative weights of triglycerides, unesterified cholesterol, cholesteryl esters, phospholipids and protein, respectively. All values are presented as mean \pm S.D. anumber of apolipoprotein molecules per VLDL particle. bnumber of apolipoprotein molecules per 1000 nm² of VLDL surface. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 control subjects vs. HTG patients on placebo. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001,

bezafibrate vs. placebo therapy.

The activity of post-heparin LPL is shown in table 1 and 2. LPL activities at baseline were comparable in the HTG and control group. Upon bezafibrate therapy, LPL activity increased with 25% from 153 U/L to 192 U/L (p=0.025), which is significantly higher than the LPL activity of the reference group. Correlation analyses showed a strong relation between the increase in postheparin LPL activity and the decrease in serum triglyceride levels (Spearman correlation coefficient -0.62, p=0.006), as shown in figure 1.



Figure 1. Correlation between the change in post-heparin LPL activity and the change in serum TG levels in response to bezafibrate therapy (Spearman correlation coefficient: -0.62, p=0.006).

Lipolysis of VLDL by HSPG-bound LPL

Figure 2 shows the results of the lipolysis experiments using HSPG-bound LPL. For all VLDL triglyceride concentrations applied, the lipolysis rates of VLDL, isolated from the control subjects, were higher than that of the HTG patients. The differences were most pronounced at the highest substrate concentration. Bezafibrate therapy did not affect the lipolysis rates of VLDL in the patient group. If the mean lipolysis rate of the reference samples is set at 100%, a lipolysis efficiency of $77 \pm 17\%$ is calculated for the HTG group on placebo and $75 \pm 17\%$ for the HTG group on bezafibrate therapy.



Figure 2. Lipolysis experiments with HSPG-bound LPL were performed with VLDL samples isolated from healthy controls (\Box), HTG patients on placebo therapy (\bigotimes) and HTG patients on bezafibrate therapy (\bigotimes). Plastic wells were preconditioned with HSPG and LPL, subsequently (Materials and Methods). After washing the preconditioned wells, lipolysis was carried out with three VLDL-TG concentrations in the presence of 1% BSA for 10 min at 37 °C. The reactions were stopped by addition of Triton X-100 and cooling on ice. FFA concentrations were determined in triplicate. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01.

LDL receptor binding assay

Competition experiments were performed to evaluate VLDL substrate affinity to the LDL receptor of J774 macrophages. As shown in figure 3, no differences were observed between controls and HTG patients on placebo therapy. In addition, bezafibrate therapy did not affect the binding affinity to the LDL receptor in the HTG group. The calculated IC₅₀-values of the control



subjects (34.6 \pm 17.7 µg/mL), HTG patients on placebo (36.0 \pm 25.2 µg/mL) and HTG patients on bezafibrate (53.0 \pm 79.2 µg/mL) were comparable.

Figure 3. Competition of VLDL, isolated from healthy control subjects (■) and HTG patients on placebo (O) and bezafibrate therapy (\bullet) , with ¹²⁵I-labeled control LDL for the binding to the LDL receptor in J774 macrophages. The J774 cells were incubated with 10 μ g/mL ¹²⁵I-labeled LDL for 3 hours at 4° C in the presence of increasing quantities of unlabeled VLDL of interest as competitor. The binding of ¹²⁵I-labeled LDL in the absence of unlabeled VLDL was defined as 100%.

Discussion

Although the ability of fibrates to lower plasma triglyceride levels in hyperlipidemic patients and animals is recognized for many years, the mechanism of action is not fully understood. It is known that fibrates can affect transcription rates of regulatory enzymes and apolipoproteins via activation of PPARs (19). Haubenwallner *et al.* (31) demonstrated that fibrates decrease the hepatic synthesis of apoC-III and corresponding plasma apoC-III levels. The degree of hepatic apoC-III mRNA reduction induced by different fibrates roughly correlated with the degree of triglyceride reduction. It has been speculated that fibrate therapy may reduce the number of apoC-III molecules per VLDL particle and therefore improve VLDL suitability as substrate for lipolysis and receptor-mediated lipoprotein removal, however, this hypothesis has not been tested yet. In the present study we investigated the effect of bezafibrate on the three major components involved in VLDL metabolism, namely VLDL susceptibility to lipolysis by LPL, VLDL binding to the LDL receptor and the post-heparin LPL activity.

Since lipoprotein size and composition influence its metabolic fate, the VLDL particles were extensively characterized. We demonstrated that HTG VLDL are significantly larger than normal VLDL. In accordance with previous studies, HTG VLDL contained less protein whereas the amount of cholesteryl esters was significantly higher than control VLDL (32). Enrichment of VLDL by cholesteryl esters in HTG has been described before and is explained by the fact that high VLDL concentrations passively induce an increased transfer of TG to the LDL and HDL fraction in exchange for cholesteryl esters (33). With regard to the apolipoprotein distribution, we have focussed on apolipoproteins E and C-III as these proteins are important modulators of VLDL metabolism. HTG VLDL contained higher numbers of both apoE and apoC-III. However, the VLDL surface density of the respective molecules as well as the apoC-III to apoE ratio were comparable to those observed in control VLDL. Thus, HTG VLDL differed from control VLDL by size and composition, whereas apoC-III and apoE contents per unit of VLDL surface were comparable.

Bezafibrate therapy resulted in an impressive reduction of plasma triglyceride levels. Despite the drastic reduction in VLDL mass and size, the number of VLDL particles remained stable. In response to bezafibrate therapy, plasma apoC-III levels as well as the absolute number of apoC-III molecules per VLDL particle decreased. In order to test the hypothesis that the bezafibrate-induced reduction of apoC-III molecules per VLDL particle would result in improved lipolysis, VLDL samples obtained during placebo and bezafibrate therapy were subjected to lipolysis using HSPG-bound LPL (27). As expected, the VLDL samples isolated from the healthy volunteers showed higher lipolysis rates than the VLDL samples from the HTG subjects on placebo therapy. Although it is tempting to speculate that the high amount of apoC-III molecules on HTG VLDL is responsible for the impaired lipolysis in the HTG group, bezafibrate therapy did not result in improvement of VLDL susceptibility to lipolysis, despite a drastic reduction in the absolute number of apoC-III molecules per VLDL particle. However, if we correct for differences in VLDL size, it appears that the effective number of apoC-III molecules per VLDL surface unit is in the same order of magnitude as in controls, and does not change upon bezafibrate therapy. Thus, fibrate therapy does not selectively decrease VLDL apoC-III but lowers apoC-III non-specifically like all other VLDL components. The low lipolysis efficiency of HTG VLDL can therefore not be explained by differences in apoC-III density. It seems more likely that the differences in VLDL composition (that persisted after bezafibrate) account for the differences in lipolysis rates between the HTG and control group. This is supported by Oschry *et al.* who demonstrated that CE-enriched VLDL particles, as in the HTG group, can not complete the lipolytic cascade into LDL efficiently (34).

VLDL binding affinity to the hepatic LDL receptor was assessed by competition experiments. No differences were observed between control VLDL and VLDL isolated from the HTG patients. In addition, bezafibrate therapy did not affect the binding of HTG VLDL to the LDL receptor. These results suggest that HTG VLDL display a normal binding affinity to the LDL receptor which is not influenced by fibrate therapy. Binding affinity of lipoproteins to the LDL receptor is, however, highly dependent upon the ratio of apoC-III to apoE on the lipoprotein (35). Transgenic mice overexpressing the apoC-III gene demonstrate high triglyceride levels, that can be normalized by simultaneous overexpressing apoE (35). Our finding that the VLDL apoC-III to apoE ratio was comparable in controls and HTG patients, both on placebo and bezafibrate therapy, sustains our observation that VLDL binding affinity to the LDL receptor is not affected by fibrate therapy. It should be emphasized, however, that other receptors may be involved in the catabolism of TG-rich lipoproteins, particularly LRP and the VLDL receptor. Therefore, additional competition experiments were performed in HepG2 cells with labeled VLDL, thereby focusing on the whole scala of hepatic receptors that recognize VLDL. In accordance with the competition experiments with LDL in macrophages, no differences were observed between the different groups (data not shown). These results are in line with the current concept that VLDL and VLDL-derived particles preferentially bind to the LDL receptor (36,37). Since LRP mainly binds chylomicron remnants, its contribution to the clearance of VLDL is considered to be limited (37,38). The VLDL receptor is located predominantly in extra-hepatic tissues such as adipose tissue and muscle and therefore will not contribute to the hepatic VLDL clearance.

Our hypothesis that bezafibrate therapy would improve VLDL suitability to lipolysis and LDL receptor binding by reducing apoC-III production was rejected in the present study. The primary working mechanism of bezafibrate in humans appears to be the increase in LPL activity. However, a reduction in VLDL-TG production may partly account for the hypotriglyceridemic effect of bezafibrate, as has been found previously in rats (31). A limitation of the present study is the lack of information about the quantity of LPL at the lipoprotein surface. It is generally accepted that addition of LPL to lipoproteins stimulates the binding affinity to lipoprotein receptors many-fold (39,40). Since fibrates can upregulate LPL transcription, one may speculate that this would lead to a higher amount of surface LPL. In the present study, however, no increased binding of VLDL to either macrophages or hepatocytes was observed in response to fibrates, suggesting that the amount of surface LPL was not changed substantially.

In conclusion, this study is the first to demonstrate that the primary effect of bezafibrate on VLDL catabolism may be attributed to upregulation of LPL activity, whereas VLDL susceptibility to lipolysis and VLDL binding to the LDL receptor are not affected.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Patrick Rensen for expert technical assistance with the Malvern photon correlation spectroscopy. Boehringer Mannheim is thanked for financial support and study medication. Finally, we wish to express our gratitude to all patients and control subjects who agreed to participate in this study.

References

- 1. Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride and coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb 1991;11:2-14.
- 2. Hokanson JE, Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a meta-analysis of population-

based prospective studies. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996;3:213-9.

3. Gaziano JM, Hennekens CH, O'Donnell CJ, Breslow JL, Buring JE. Fasting triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein, and risk of myocardial infarction. Circulation 1997;96:2520-5.

- Grundy SM, Mok HY, Zech L, Steinberg D, Berman M. Transport of very low density lipoprotein triglycerides in varying degrees of obesity and hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Invest 1979;63:1274-83.
- Reaven GM, Mejean L, Villaume C, Drouin P, Debry G. Plasma glucose and insulin responses to oral glucose in nonobese subjects and patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Metabolism 1983;32:447-50.
- Syvanne M, Antikainen M, Ehnholm S, Tenkanen H, Lahdenpera S, Ehnholm C, Taskinen MR. Heterozygosity for ASN(291)SER mutation in the lipoprotein lipase gene in two Finnish pedigrees: Effect of hyperinsulinemia on the expression of hypertriglyceridemia. J Lipid Res 1996;37:727-38.
- Sane T, Nikkila EA. Very low density lipoprotein triglyceride metabolism in relatives of hypertriglyceridemic probands. Evidence for genetic control of triglyceride removal. Arteriosclerosis 1988;8:217-26.
- Minnich A, Kessling A, Roy M, Giry C, DeLangavant G, Lavigne J, Lussier Cacan S, Davignon J. Prevalence of alleles encoding defective lipoprotein lipase in hypertriglyceridemic patients of French Canadian descent. J Lipid Res 1995;36:117-24.
- 9. Henderson HE, Landon SV, Michie J, Berger GM. Association of a DNA polymorphism in the apolipoprotein C-III gene with diverse hyperlipidaemic phenotypes. Hum Genet 1987;75:62-5.
- Dammerman M, Sandkuijl LA, Halaas JL, Chung W, Breslow JL. An apolipoprotein CIII haplotype protective against hypertriglyceridemia is specified by promoter and 3' untranslated region polymorphisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993;90:4562-6.
- 11. Malmendier CL, Lontie JF, Delcroix C, Dubois DY, Magot T, De Roy L. Apolipoproteins C-II and C-III metabolism in hypertriglyceridemic

patients. Effect of a drastic triglyceride reduction by combined diet restriction and fenofibrate administration. Atherosclerosis 1989;77:139-49.

- Wang CS, McConathy WJ, Kloer HU, Alaupovic P. Modulation of lipoprotein lipase activity by apolipoproteins. Effect of apolipoprotein C-III. J Clin Invest 1985;75:384-90.
- Windler E, Chao Y, Havel RJ. Regulation of the hepatic uptake of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in the rat. Opposing effects of homologous apolipoprotein E and individual C apoproteins. J Biol Chem 1980;255:8303-7.
- 14. Aalto Setala K, Fisher EA, Chen X, Chajek Shaul T, Hayek T, Zechner R, Walsh A, Ramakrishnan R, Ginsberg HN, Breslow JL. Mechanism of hypertriglyceridemia in human apolipoprotein (apo) CIII transgenic mice. Diminished very low density lipoprotein fractional catabolic rate associated with increased apo CIII and reduced apo E on the particles. J Clin Invest 1992;90:1889-900.
- 15. National Cholesterol Education Program. Second Report of the Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel II). Circulation 1994;89:1333-445.
- 16. Martin G, Schoonjans K, Lefebvre AM, Staels B, Auwerx J. Coordinate regulation of the expression of the fatty acid transport protein and acyl-CoA synthetase genes by PPARalpha and PPARgamma activators. J Biol Chem 1997;272:28210-7.
- 17. Schoonjans K, Watanabe M, Suzuki H, Mahfoudi A, Krey G, Wahli W, Grimaldi P, Staels B, Yamamoto T, Auwerx J. Induction of the acyl-coenzyme A synthetase gene by fibrates and fatty acids is mediated by a peroxisome proliferator response element in the C promoter. J Biol Chem 1995;270:19269-76.

- Froyland L, Madsen L, Vaagenes H, Totland GK, Auwerx J, Kryvi H, Staels B, Berge RK. Mitochondrion is the principal target for nutritional and pharmacological control of triglyceride metabolism. J Lipid Res 1997;38:1851-8.
- Auwerx J, Schoonjans K, Fruchart JC, Staels B. Transcriptional control of triglyceride metabolism: fibrates and fatty acids change the expression of the LPL and apo C-III genes by activating the nuclear receptor PPAR. Atherosclerosis 1996;124 Suppl:S29-37.
- 20. Staels B, Vu DN, Kosykh VA, Saladin R, Fruchart JC, Dallongeville J, Auwerx J. Fibrates downregulate apolipoprotein C-III expression independent of induction of peroxisomal acyl coenzyme A oxidase. A potential mechanism for the hypolipidemic action of fibrates. J Clin Invest 1995;95:705-12.
- Ito Y, Azrolan N, O'Connell A, Walsh A, Breslow JL. Hypertriglyceridemia as a result of human apo CIII gene expression in transgenic mice. Science 1990;249:790-3.
- 22. Maeda N, Li H, Lee D, Oliver P, Quarfordt SH, Osada J. Targeted disruption of the apolipoprotein C-III gene in mice results in hypotriglyceridemia and protection from postprandial hypertriglyceridemia. J Biol Chem 1994;269:23610-6.
- 23. Ebara T, Ramakrishnan R, Steiner G, Shachter NS. Chylomicronemia due to apolipoprotein CIII overexpression in apolipoprotein E-null mice. Apolipoprotein CIII-induced hypertriglyceridemia is not mediated by effects on apolipoprotein E. J Clin Invest 1997;99:2672-81.
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough RJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951;193:265-75.
- Reymer PW, Groenemeyer BE, van-de BR, Kastelein JJ. Apolipoprotein E genotyping on agarose gels. Clin Chem 1995;41:1046-7.

- 26. Jansen H, Hop W, van Tol A., Bruschke AV, Birkenhager JC. Hepatic lipase and lipoprotein lipase are not major determinants of the low density lipoprotein subclass pattern in human subjects with coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 1994;107:45-54.
- 27. de Man FH, de Beer F, van der Laarse A, Smelt AH, Havekes LM. Lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins by heparan sulfate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase. J Lipid Res 1997;38:2465-72.
- Princen HMG, van Duyvenvoorde W, Buytenhek R, Blonk C, Tijburg LB, Langius JA, Meinders AE, Pijl H. No effect of consumption of green and black tea on plasma lipid and antioxidant levels and on LDL oxidation in smokers. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18:833-41.
- 29. Redgrave TG, Roberts DC, West CE. Separation of plasma lipoproteins by density-gradient ultracentrifugation. Anal Biochem 1975;65:42-9.
- Bilheimer DW, Eisenberg S, Levy RI. The metabolism of very low density lipoprotein. I. Preliminary in vitro and in vivo observations. Biochim Biophys Acta 1972;260:212-21.
- Haubenwallner S, Essenburg AD, Barnett BC, Pape ME, DeMattos RB, Krause BR, Minton LL, Auerbach BJ, Newton RS, Leff T, Bisgaier CL. Hypolipidemic activity of select fibrates correlates to changes in hepatic apolipoprotein C-III expression: a potential physiologic basis for their mode of action. J Lipid Res 1995;36:2541-51.
- 32. Eisenberg S, Gavish D, Oschry Y, Fainaru M, Deckelbaum RJ. Abnormalities in very low, low and high density lipoproteins in hypertriglyceridemia. Reversal toward normal with bezafibrate treatment. J Clin Invest 1984;74:470-82.
- 33. Mann CJ, Yen FT, Grant AM, Bihain BE. Mechanism of plasma cholesteryl

ester transfer in hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Invest 1991;88:2059-66.

- Oschry Y, Olivecrona T, Deckelbaum RJ, Eisenberg S. Is hypertriglyceridemic very low density lipoprotein a precursor of normal low density lipoprotein? J Lipid Res 1985;26:158-67.
- 35. de Silva HV, Lauer SJ, Wang J, Simonet WS, Weisgraber KH, Mahley RW, Taylor JM. Overexpression of human apolipoprotein C-III in transgenic mice results in an accumulation of apolipoprotein B48 remnants that is corrected by excess apolipoprotein E. J Biol Chem 1994;269:2324-35.
- Beisiegel U. Receptors for triglyceriderich lipoproteins and their role in lipoprotein metabolism. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995;6:117-22.
- 37. Veniant MM, Zlot CH, Walzem RL, Pierotti V, Driscoll R, Dichek D, Herz J, Young SG. Lipoprotein clearance mechanisms in LDL receptor-deficient "Apo-B48-only" and "Apo-B100-only" mice. J Clin Invest 1998;102:1559-68.

- Rohlmann A, Gotthardt M, Hammer RE, Herz J. Inducible inactivation of hepatic LRP gene by cre-mediated recombination confirms role of LRP in clearance of chylomicron remnants. J Clin Invest 1998;101:689-95.
- 39. Mulder M, Lombardi P, Jansen H, van Berkel TJ, Frants RR, Havekes LM. Low density lipoprotein receptor internalizes low density and very low density lipoproteins that are bound to heparan sulfate proteoglycans via lipoprotein lipase. J Biol Chem 1993;268:9369-75.
- Olivecrona G, Olivecrona T. Triglyceride lipases and atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995;6:291-305.

Chapter 6

Normal F2-Isoprostane Levels and Enhanced Lipoprotein Resistance to *In Vitro* Oxidition in Patients with Hypertriglyceridemia: Effects of Bezafibrate Treatment

Frits H.A.F. de Man¹, Arnoud van der Laarse¹, Augustinus H.M. Smelt², Wim van Duyvenvoorde⁴, Rien Buytenhek⁴, Jan A. Gevers Leuven^{2,4}, Willem Onkenhout³ and Hans M.G. Princen⁴

Departments of ¹Cardiology, ²Internal Medicine, and ³Pediatrics, Leiden University Medical Center; ⁴Gaubius Laboratory, TNO-PG, Leiden, The Netherlands

Submitted

Presented at the American College of Cardiology in March 1999 (New Orleans, USA)

Summary

Introduction. Although there is evidence that hyperlipidemia and predominance of small dense LDL are associated with increased oxidative stress, the oxidation status in patients with hypertriglyceridemia has not been studied in detail.

Methods. Plasma levels of F2-isoprostanes and susceptibility of VLDL and LDL to oxidation *in vitro* was studied in 18 patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia in comparison with 20 age- and sex-matched control subjects. In addition, the effects of 6 week treatment with bezafibrate were assessed in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over trial.

Results. Plasma levels of free F2-isoprostanes were comparable in the hypertriglyceridemic (37 \pm 10 ng/mL) and normolipidemic group (41 \pm 11 ng/mL, n.s.) and were not changed by fibrate therapy. Both VLDL and LDL of hypertriglyceridemic patients were more resistant to Cu²⁺-induced oxidation and showed a lower oxidation rate compared to the control group. These differences appear to be related to differences in the ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids. VLDL and LDL in hypertriglyceridemia presented a relative paucity of unsaturated fatty acids. Bezafibrate therapy reversed the oxidation resistance to the normal range, but did not influence the oxidation rate.

Conclusions. These results indicate that hypertriglyceridemia is associated with normal *in vivo* oxidative stress and enhanced *ex vivo* resistance of lipoproteins to oxidation.

Introduction

Hypertriglyceridemia has been recognized as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease in both men and women (1-3). This multifactorial lipid disorder is characterized by elevated levels of very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), low high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) levels, small dense low density lipoproteins (LDL) and insulin resistance. Small dense LDL particles have been suggested to be prone to oxidative modification and may contribute to the increased cardiovascular risk in hypertriglyceridemia (4,5). There is evidence that several forms of hyperlipidemia are associated with increased oxidative stress (for review, see (6)). However, no studies have addressed the oxidation status in patients with hypertriglyceridemia in detail.

To date, oxidation can be assessed by determination of in vivo oxidation products or measurement of ex vivo oxidation behavior of lipoproteins. Ex vivo, the peroxidation process can be mimicked by incubating isolated lipoproteins with the pro-oxidant Cu²⁺ and by measuring the production of conjugated dienes from polyunsaturated fatty acids. In previous studies, we detected subtle changes in susceptibility of lipoproteins to oxidation after supplementation with vitamin E and fish oil (7,8). Although this method provides a precise assessment of the oxidation behavior of distinct lipoprotein fractions ex vivo, direct measurement of oxidation products is considered to be more indicative of in vivo oxidative stress. F2-isoprostanes have emerged as a promising marker of oxidative stress (for review, see (9)). In contrast to lipid hydroperoxides, F2isoprostanes are chemically stable end-products of lipid peroxidation and present in significant concentrations in human plasma and urine (9). This class of prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ -isomers results from oxidative modification of arachidonic acid through a nonenzymatic, free radical-catalyzed mechanism. Both in vitro and in vivo studies have demonstrated that oxidative stress results in a dose-dependent elevation of F2-isoprostane levels (10,11). Previous studies have demonstrated increased F2-isoprostane levels in smokers (12), diabetics (13) and patients with hypercholesterolemia (14,15). However, to date there are no studies available that address F2-isoprostane levels in hypertriglyceridemia.

The present study was undertaken to compare plasma levels of F2isoprostanes and susceptibility of VLDL and LDL to oxidation *in vitro* between patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia and control subjects. In addition, the effects of triglyceride-lowering therapy by bezafibrate were studied.

Materials and Methods

Patients and control subjects

The study population consisted of 18 unrelated patients, 16 males and 2 females, with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia who were recruited from the outpatient lipid clinic of the Leiden University Medical Center. All patients received dietary advise according to "Guidelines for a Healthy Diet" from the Netherlands Nutrition Council as first-line therapy (16). The diagnosis endogenous hypertriglyceridemia was based on the means of two fasting blood samples obtained after the dietary period of at least 8 weeks. The diagnostic criteria for endogenous hypertriglyceridemia were: total serum TG > 4.0mmol/L, VLDL-C > 1.0 mmol/L, and LDL-C < 4.5 mmol/L. Additional exclusion criteria were homozygosity for apoE2, secondary hyperlipidemia (renal, liver or thyroid disease, fasting glucose > 7.0 mmol/L, and alcohol consumption of more than 40 g/day) and the use of lipid-lowering drugs. Patients with a medical history of cardiovascular disease were not included in the study. Eighteen normolipidemic, age- and sex-matched control subjects, 16 males and 2 females, were recruited in response to a newspaper advertisement. No subjects took vitamin supplementation during the study.

Study design

The patients were randomized to receive in a double-blind cross-over fashion a fixed dose of bezafibrate, 400 mg once daily, or placebo for 6 weeks. The two periods in which medication was taken were separated by a wash-out period of 6 weeks. Before and after each treatment period of 6 weeks, fasting venous blood samples were obtained from the participants for lipid measurements. From the control subjects, fasting blood samples were obtained at baseline under identical conditions. All tubes were kept on ice after sampling. Serum tubes were allowed to clot for 30 min at room temperature. Informed consent was obtained from each patient and the protocol was approved by the institutional Medical Ethics Committee.

Lipid and lipoprotein analyses

Venous blood was collected after an overnight fast. Serum was obtained after centrifugation at 1500 g for 15 min at room temperature. Three mL of fresh serum was ultracentrifuged for 15 hours at 232,000 g at 15°C in a TL-100 tabletop Ultracentrifuge, using a TLA-100.3 fixed angle rotor (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA USA). The ultracentrifugate was carefully divided in a density (d) < 1.006 and d 1.006 - 1.25 g/mL fraction, designated as the VLDL and LDL-HDL fraction, respectively. HDL cholesterol was measured in the LDL-HDL fraction after precipitation of apoB-containing particles with phosphotungstic acid and MgCl₂.

Triglyceride, total cholesterol, phospholipid and free cholesterol concentrations were measured enzymatically using commercially available kits (Boehringer, Mannheim, Germany). Cholesteryl ester (CE) content was calculated by subtracting the amount of free cholesterol from the concentration of total cholesterol. Protein was determined by the method of Lowry *et al.* (17). VLDL diameter was determined by photon correlation spectroscopy using a Malvern 4700 C system (Malvern Instruments, U.K.). Measurements were performed at 25° C and a 90° angle between laser and detector. LDL particle size was analyzed by gradient gel electrophoresis, as described by Mc Namara *et al.* (18) using 2-16% nondenaturing polyacrylamide gradient gels (Pharmacia LKB, Uppsala, Sweden) and a set of standard proteins with known hydrated diameters (high molecular weight marker electrophoresis calibration kit, Pharmacia, Piscataway, NJ, USA).

Fatty acid composition was determined by gas chromatography on an Interscience 8160 gas chromatograph fitted with a cold on-column injector and a CP-Sil88 fused silica capillary column (Chrompack, Bergen op Zoom, the Netherlands) after methylation of the fatty acids (19). The total number of double bonds in VLDL and LDL equaled the relative content of each FA with two or more double bonds times its number of double bonds. Monounsaturated FAs were not included in the calculation as they are less susceptible to oxidation than polyunsaturated fatty acids.

The vitamin E contents of plasma, VLDL and LDL was assessed by high-performance liquid chromatography with UV detection. ApoE phenotyping was performed by isoelectric focusing according to Havekes *et al.* (20).

Measurements of free F2-isoprostanes

Fasting venous blood was drawn in ice-cold Vacutainer tubes containing EDTA and centrifuged for 15 min at 1500 g at 4°C. The plasma was carefully isolated and a mixture of the following anti-oxidants was added to each plasma sample: reduced L-glutathione (final concentration 2 mg/mL; Sigma-Aldrich Chemicals, Zwijndrecht, the Netherlands), ascorbic acid (final concentration 1 mg/mL), butylated hydroxytoluene (final concentration 1.5 mg/mL) and 4-hydroxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidin-1-oxyl (OH-TEMPO, final concentration 1.5 mg/mL). The samples were gently mixed, capped under nitrogen, submerged in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. Storage at -80°C does not affect F2-isoprostane levels (21).

The samples were processed within 6 months as one batch. The sample purification consisted of a protein precipitation and a solid phase extraction. After rapid thawing at 37°C, aliquots of 300 µl were put on ice and 25 μ l tritium-labeled prostaglandin F_{2a} ([³H]-PG F_{2a}, 5000 cpm) was added as recovery standard. Subsequently, 1 mL ethanol was added, the samples were vortexed and allowed to stand on ice for 5 min. The samples were centrifuged at 4°C for 10 min at 15,000 rpm. The supernatant was carefully isolated and 8 mL formic acid-acidified water (pH=3.0) was added. Solid phase columns (Waters-Sep-Pak-C18 cartridges, Millipore Co./Waters, Milfort, MA, USA) were activated by rinsing with 5 mL methanol and 5 mL purified water. The sample was brought onto the column, followed by rinsing with 5 mL purified water and 5 mL hexane, subsequently. The F2-isoprostanes were eluted with 5 mL ethylacetate, containing 1% methanol. The solvent was evaporated by vacuum centrifugation and the samples were carefully dissolved in enzyme immunoassay buffer (Cayman Chemicals, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) at 4°C for at least 2 hours. Finally, a competitive enzyme immunoassay (EIA) was performed with a F2-isoprostane-acetylcholinesterase conjugate (tracer) and Ellman's reagent, as described by the manufacturer (Cayman Chemicals). The plates were read at 412 nm in a spectrophotometer. The recovery was calculated by dividing the radioactivity in the EIA sample by the radioactivity in the original sample. All samples were measured in triplicate. The variation coefficient was 13%.

Oxidation of VLDL and LDL

Fasting venous blood was drawn in ice-cold Vacutainer tubes containing EDTA and centrifuged within 1 hour for 15 min at 1500 g at 4°C. The plasma samples were brought to a final concentration of 10% (w/v) sucrose, capped

under nitrogen, submerged in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C. Under these conditions, lipoprotein characteristics and oxidation behavior have been shown to remain stable (22,23). The samples were analyzed within 6 months. Lipoproteins were separated by ultracentrifugation at 4°C, using standard methods adapted from Redgrave et al. (24) as described previously (8). Cu^{2+} induced lipoprotein oxidation was measured by serial measurement of the conjugated dienes formed. A detailed description of the procedure and lipid peroxidation of LDL has been given before (7,23). The same procedure was applied to VLDL, with the exception that a lower protein concentration (0.03 mg/mL) was used in the oxidation assay to avoid turbidity (8). The formation of conjugated dienes was measured by continuously monitoring the change in absorbance at 234 nm in a spectrophotometer at 37°C. The time-dependent absorption curve can be divided in 3 distinct phases: A lag phase, during which absorption hardly increases, indicative for the lipoprotein resistance to oxidation. This is followed by a propagation phase, during which absorbance increases rapidly to a maximum value. And finally, after reaching the maximum value the conjugated dienes slowly decrease by decomposition to aldehydes. To quantify these phases, a tangent was drawn to the steep part of the curve and extrapolated to the horizontal (time) axis. The interval between the addition of Cu^{2+} and the intersection point is defined as the lag time and expressed in min. The propagation phase equals the slope of the tangent of the propagation phase and is expressed as nanomoles of dienes formed per minute per milligram of VLDL or LDL protein. The oxidation maximum was defined as the total quantity of conjugated dienes in nanomoles formed per milligram of VLDL or LDL protein. The VLDL and LDL samples of a control subject and a patient, during placebo and bezafibrate therapy, were oxidized on the same day in 3 consecutive oxidation runs.

Statistical analyses

Results are presented as the mean \pm S.D. Mean differences between the control group and the patient group were calculated with the Mann-Whitney U test. Differences in categorical variables between the patient group and control group were assessed with the Fisher's exact test. Differences between the patient group on placebo and bezafibrate therapy were evaluated pairwise using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test. Findings were regarded to be statistically significant when the probability of these data under the null hypothesis was less than 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS/PC+TM software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

Patient characteristics

As shown in table 1, the patient and control groups were comparable with regard to age, sex, hypertension and smoking habits. The HTG patients had a higher BMI, as expected. Serum triglyceride levels were 13-fold higher in the HTG patients as compared to the control subjects (p<0.001, table 2). Although both LDL-C and HDL-C levels were lower in the patient group, VLDL-C concentrations were markedly elevated and accounted for the elevation in total serum cholesterol concentrations.

	Controls	Hypertriglyceridemic	p-value ^a
		patients	
Number	20	18	n.s.
Age, y	$\textbf{47.9} \pm \textbf{7.4}$	48.5 ± 8.8	n.s.
Sex,M/F	18/2	16/2	n.s.
BMI, kg/m²	24.2 ± 3.3	28.0 ± 2.8	0.001
Hypertension, yes/no	5/15	7/11	n.s.
Smoking, yes/no	2/18	7/11	n.s.

Table 1. Baseline characteristics

Values are presented as the mean \pm S.D. •Differences in categorical variables between the patient group and control group were assessed with the Fisher's exact test, while differences in numerical variables were assessed with the Mann-Whitney U-test.

Effect of bezafibrate therapy on serum lipids and lipoproteins

All subjects concluded the study without any side-effects. No significant changes in body weight occurred. Treatment with placebo had no effect on serum lipid levels (data not shown). Therefore, only the values obtained at the end of both treatment periods were compared (table 2).

Bezafibrate therapy resulted in a significant fall in serum TG (-69%, p<0.001) and serum cholesterol levels (-24%, p<0.001). The change of VLDL-C levels (-67%, p<0.001) paralleled that of plasma TG. LDL-C increased with 34% (p=0.001) from 2.67 mmol/L to 3.58 mmol/L, which is comparable to the corresponding value of 3.52 mmol/L in the controls. HDL-C increased with 26% (p<0.001). Thus, the lipoprotein profile changed markedly upon bezafibrate therapy towards that found in the normolipidemic reference group.

	Controls	Hypertriglyceri	demic Patients
	Placebo Bezafibrat		Bezafibrate
TTG, mmol/L	0.93 ± 0.43***	12.28 ± 8.06	3.86 ± 1.44***
TC, mmol/L	$5.10 \pm 0.94^{***}$	7.75 ± 2.37	5.91 ± 1.24**
VLDL-C, mmol/L	$0.26 \pm 0.18^{***}$	4.37 ± 2.02	$1.43 \pm 0.62^{***}$
LDL-C, mmol/L	$3.52 \pm 0.87 **$	2.67 ± 0.64	3.58 ± 0.84
HDL-C, mmol/L	$1.32 \pm 0.29^{***}$	0.72 ± 0.13	0.91 ± 0.13***

Table 2. Serum lipids and lipoproteins in control subjects and hypertriglyceridemic patients

TC, total cholesterol; TTG, total triglycerides; VLDL-C, very low density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol. All values are mean \pm S.D. based on triplicate measurements. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001comparing the control group with the HTG group on placebo therapy. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001 comparing the HTG group on placebo therapy with the HTG group on bezafibrate therapy.



Figure 1. Plasma F2isoprostane levels. Levels of free circulating F2-isoprostane levels in control subjects (O; n=20), and hypertriglyceridemic patients on placebo (n=18) and bezafibrate therapy (\Box , n=18). Each dot represents a different subject. The small line represents the mean of the respective group. No significant differences were observed between the groups.

F2-isoprostane levels and lipoprotein oxidation parameters

Free F2-isoprostanes. As shown in table 3 and figure 1, the levels of free F2-isoprostanes in plasma from patients with hypertriglyceridemia (37 ± 10 ng/mL) were comparable to those measured in the well-matched control subjects (41 ± 11 ng/mL, n.s.). A 6-week treatment with bezafibrate 400 mg once daily did not change the free F2-isoprostane levels in the patient group.

	Controls	Hypertriglyc	eridemic patients
		Placebo	Bezafibrate
	n=20	n=1	.8
Free F2-isoprostanes,	41 ± 11	37 ± 10	37 ± 15
ng/mL			
VLDL			
lag phase ^a	$143 \pm 30^{***}$	226 ± 43	195 ± 43#
propagation rate ^b	$12.0\pm3.1^{*}$	10.0 ± 3.0	9.7 ± 3.5
maximal dienes ^c	$1098 \pm 227^{**}$	1459 ± 397	1192 ± 238##
LDL			
lag phase	89 ± 7***	108 ± 17	95 ± 9#
propagation rate	$12.1 \pm 1.1^{***}$	9.5 ± 1.8	9.9±1.9
maximal dienes	539 ± 39***	406 ± 50	468 ± 44**
Plasma vitamin E, µmol/L	$26.9 \pm 5.7^{***}$	93.3 ± 33.5	50.1 ± 13.0***

Table 3. F2-Isoprostane Levels, in Vitro Lipoprotein Oxidizability and vitamin E levels

^ain min; ^bin nmol dienes.min⁻¹.mg protein⁻¹, ^cin nmol dienes.mg protein⁻¹. All values are mean \pm S.D. based on triplicate measurements. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001 comparing the control group with the HTG group on placebo therapy. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 comparing the HTG group on placebo therapy with the HTG group on bezafibrate therapy.

VLDL oxidation. Oxidation characteristics of VLDL and LDL are presented in table 3 and figure 2. The lag time of VLDL oxidation in the patient group ($226 \pm 43 \text{ min}$) was higher than in the control group ($143 \pm 30 \text{ min}$, p<0.001). The propagation rate of VLDL oxidation in the patient group ($10.0 \pm 3.0 \text{ nmol dienes.min}^{-1}$.mg protein⁻¹) was lower than that in the control group ($12.0 \pm 3.1 \text{ nmol dienes.min}^{-1}$.mg protein⁻¹, p=0.04). On the other hand, the maximum diene formation was elevated in the HTG group ($1459 \pm 397 \text{ nmol dienes.mg protein}^{-1}$) as compared to the control group ($1098 \pm 227 \text{ nmol}$ dienes.mg protein⁻¹, p=0.002). Bezafibrate therapy induced a significant reduction in the lag time and maximum diene production towards the normal range. The propagation rate of VLDL was not affected by fibrate therapy.



Figure 2A. Ex vivo lipoprotein oxidizability. The VLDL lag times and propagation rates are shown. Group A, B and C represent the hypertriglyceridemic patients on placebo, the hypertriglyceridemic patients on bezafibrate and the control subjects, respectively.

LDL oxidation. Oxidation characteristics of LDL paralleled that of VLDL. The lag time of LDL oxidation in the patient group $(108 \pm 17 \text{ min})$ was higher compared to the control group $(89 \pm 7 \text{ min}, \text{ p}<0.001)$. The propagation rate of LDL oxidation in the patient group $(9.5 \pm 1.8 \text{ nmol})$ dienes.min⁻¹.mg protein⁻¹) was lower than that in the control group $(12.1 \pm 1.1 \text{ nmol})$ dienes.min⁻¹.mg protein⁻¹, p<0.001). The maximum diene formation was lower in the patient group $(406 \pm 50 \text{ nmol})$ dienes.mg protein⁻¹) as compared to the control group $(539 \pm 39 \text{ nmol})$ dienes.mg protein⁻¹, p<0.001). Upon bezafibrate therapy, the lag time of LDL oxidation was reduced from 108 ± 17 to $95 \pm 9 \text{ min}$ (p=0.02), whereas the propagation rate did not change. The maximum diene formation increased from 406 ± 50 to $468 \pm 44 \text{ nmol}$ dienes.mg protein⁻¹ (p=0.001).



Figure 2B. Ex vivo lipoprotein oxidizability. The LDL lag times and propagation rates are shown. Group A, B and C represent the hypertriglyceridemic patients on placebo, the hypertriglyceridemic patients on bezafibrate and the control subjects, respectively.

Determinants of ex vivo oxidation parameters

To investigate which variables were determinants of the differences in ex vivo oxidation parameters between the patient and control groups, lipoprotein and fatty acid composition and α -tocopherol content were analyzed.

VLDL oxidation. As shown in table 4, there were marked differences in VLDL size and composition between the patient and control groups. VLDL particle size correlated with the lag time (r=0.65, p<0.001) and maximum diene formation (r=0.52, p=0.001). As expected, the large VLDL particle size in hypertriglyceridemia was associated with an increased α -tocopherol quantity, which decreased upon bezafibrate therapy. The α -tocopherol content of VLDL tended to correlate with the lag time (r=0.36, p=0.068).

VLDL of the hypertriglyceridemic group contained more saturated fatty acids and less polyunsaturated fatty acids than the control group. In accordance, the ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids was lower in the patient group (0.71 ± 0.19) compared to the control group $(0.96 \pm 0.30,$ p=0.04). The contribution of the individual fatty acids is presented in figure 3. HTG VLDL contained more palmitic acid (C16:0) and stearic acid (C18:0) than control VLDL, whereas the amount of γ -linolenic acid (C18:3 ω 6), docosapentaenoic acid (C22:5 ω 3) and docosahexaenoic acid (C22:6 ω 3) was lower compared to control VLDL. Bezafibrate therapy did not alter the relative contribution of saturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids, nor the number of double bonds.

In accordance with a previous report (8), the lag time of VLDL oxidation was inversely correlated to the total number of double bonds (pooled data: r=-0.72, p<0.001; patient group on placebo: r=-0.57, p=0.021; control group: r=-0.65, p=0.022). In addition, a positive correlation was found between the propagation rate of VLDL oxidation and the total number of double bonds (pooled data: r=0.78, p<0.001; patient group on placebo: r=0.74, p=0.001; control group: r=0.59, p=0.045). These results indicate that the differences in VLDL oxidation parameters between the patient group and control group are related to differences in fatty acid composition.

LDL oxidation. The LDL particles of the hypertriglyceridemic patients were significantly smaller $(23.5 \pm 0.6 \text{ nm})$ than control LDL $(25.2 \pm 0.7, \text{ p}<0.001; \text{ table 4})$. Bezafibrate therapy resulted in an increase of LDL particle size from $23.5 \pm 0.6 \text{ nm}$ to $24.4 \pm 1.1 \text{ nm}$ (p=0.003). The α -tocopherol content was comparable in the different study groups and did not change upon bezafibrate therapy. No significant correlations were noted between LDL size, composition and any of the oxidation parameters in both groups.

The fatty acid composition of LDL demonstrated differences between the patient and control groups that were in line with the VLDL fatty acid composition. LDL of the patient group contained more saturated fatty acids (p=0.018) and less polyunsaturated fatty acids (p=0.001) than the control group. In accordance, the ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids was lower in the patient group (1.45 ± 0.45) compared to the control group $(1.66 \pm 0.21, p=0.01)$. HTG LDL showed a tendency to more myristic acid (14:0), palmitic acid (C16:0) and stearic acid (C18:0) than control LDL (figure 3). However, these differences did not reach statistical significance. The low amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids in HTG LDL was mainly attributable to linoleic acid (C18:2 ω 6). In accordance with VLDL, bezafibrate therapy did not affect the ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids nor the number of double bonds. The lag time of LDL oxidation was inversely correlated with the total number of double bonds only in the group of pooled data (r=-0.65, p<0.001). No correlations were found in the individual groups (patient group on placebo: r=-0.30, p=0.338; control group: r=-0.39, p=0.165).

	NLDL			LDL	Ì		
	Controls	Hypertriglyce	ridemic Patients	Controls	Hypertriglyce	ridemic Patients	
		Placebo	Bezafibrate		Placebo	Bezafibrate	
Particle size, nm	40.9 ± 3.0***	62.2 ± 17.6	44.4 ± 4.3###	$25.2 \pm 0.7^{***}$	23.5 ± 0.6	$24.4 \pm 1.1^{##}$	
FC, mass (%)	4.1 ± 1.4	5.4 ± 2.2	$4.3 \pm 1.1^{**}$	6.5 ± 3.2	7.2 ± 1.9	$11.0 \pm 4.1^{##}$	
CE, mass (%)	$6.3 \pm 2.1^{**}$	9.1 ± 2.5	8.1 ± 2.8	32.3 ± 5.7	28.2 ± 9.8	24.8 ± 11.0	
TG, mass (%)	60.4 ± 4.3	61.8 ± 6.5	61.8 ± 4.9	6.1 ± 3.6	10.2 ± 8.5	7.9 土 7.4#	
PL, mass (%)	15.2 ± 2.2	14.4 ± 2.0	15.1 ± 1.4	$24.3 \pm 4.1^{**}$	16.5 ± 8.9	$20.9 \pm 7.6^{**}$	
Prot, mass (%)	$14.0 \pm 2.6^{***}$	9.3 ± 2.3	$10.7 \pm 2.5^{**}$	$30.9 \pm 6.2^{*}$	37.9 ± 11.9	35.4 ± 11.4	
Vit E/protein, µmol/g	$19.1 \pm 12.9^{*}$	30.2 ± 13.6	$22.4 \pm 12.3^{*}$	12.2 ± 3.7	10.9 ± 3.8	10.1 ± 1.6	
SFAs, %	$34.6 \pm 4.4^{**}$	39.4 ± 3.0	39.5 ± 3.3	$30.4 \pm 2.2^{*}$	32.9 ± 2.3	31.8 ± 3.1	
MUFAs, %	33.3 ± 4.5	33.0 ± 3.3	$34.9\pm2.8^{*}$	$19.6 \pm 2.6^*$	23.6 ± 3.6	24.0 ± 3.9	
PUFAs, %	32.2 ± 6.7	27.6 ± 5.4	25.6 ± 4.5	$50.0 \pm 3.4^{**}$	43.5 ± 4.9	44.2 ± 5.9	
Double bonds, % ^a	$85.0 \pm 16.9^{*}$	69.9 ± 12.1	67.6 ± 11.6	$126.9 \pm 9.1^{**}$	113.5 ± 15.0	115.2 ± 15.6	
All values are presented as m	ean ± S.D. PUFA, p	olyunsaturated fa	tty acid; MUFA, monour	saturated fatty acid;	SFA, saturated fo	tty acid. FC, CE, TG, F	. 7
and prot represent the relativ	e weights of unesteri	fied cholesterol, ci	holesteryl esters, triglyce	rides, phospholipids a	ind protein, respec	ctively. ^a The total numb	_×

5 5 of double bonds in VLDL and LDL equaled the relative content of each FA with 2 or more double bonds times its number of double bonds. *p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001 comparing the control group with the HTG group on placebo therapy. *p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001 comparing the HTG group on placebo therapy with the HTG group on bezafibrate therapy.

Table 4. Lipoprotein size and composition



125

In accordance with VLDL, a correlation was noted between the propagation rate of LDL oxidation and the total number of double bonds (pooled data: r=0.61, p=0.001; patient group on placebo: r=0.64, p=0.025; control group: r=-0.11, p=0.970).

Discussion

The present study was designed to gain more insight in the oxidation status of patients with hypertriglyceridemia. Therefore, *in vivo* oxidation products as well as *ex vivo* oxidation behavior of lipoproteins were assessed. F2isoprostanes have emerged as a sensitive, novel marker of oxidative stress in humans (9). Our finding that plasma levels of free F2-isoprostanes were comparable between hypertriglyceridemic patients and age- and sex-matched normolipidemic control subjects provides compelling evidence that oxidative stress in patients with hypertriglyceridemia is not increased. This conclusion is strengthened by the observation that vigorous triglyceride-lowering therapy by bezafibrate did not affect the F2-isoprostane levels. This finding is in sharp contrast with hypercholesterolemia which has been associated with increased levels of F2-isoprostanes (14,15).

In the present study, we observed 3.5-fold higher plasma α -tocopherol levels in the hypertriglyceridemic patients compared to controls. Vitamin E, or α -tocopherol, is a lipophylic anti-oxidant compound that is carried by plasma lipoproteins (25,26) and hyperlipoproteinemias have been associated with increased plasma levels of α -tocopherol (26). It may be hypothesized that the high α -tocopherol levels and the relative enrichment in saturated fatty acids in hypertriglyceridemia protect against the increased oxidative stress that is associated at least with elevated plasma cholesterol levels (14,15), which are also observed in hypertriglyceridemic patients. On the other hand, the plasma cholesterol levels in hypertriglyceridemic patients are only mildly elevated as compared to the hypercholesterolemic patients described by Davi et al. (14) and Reilly et al. (15) and distributed differently among lipoproteins, leaving open the possibility that there is no increased oxidative stress in hypertriglyceridemia. Although we have demonstrated normal oxidative stress in hypertriglyceridemia in vivo, we can not rule out the possibility that the oxidation status in the subendothelial space may be different from plasma. Macrophages, isolated from hypertriglyceridemic

individuals, have shown an increased superoxide production upon stimulation with oxidative compounds compared to control macrophages (27,28).

In order to estimate the oxidizability of separate lipoprotein fractions in hypertriglyceridemia, we determined *ex vivo* oxidation characteristics in response to Cu^{2+} . Both VLDL and LDL in the hypertriglyceridemic group demonstrated prolonged oxidation resistance times (lag times) and lower oxidation rates (propagation times) in comparison with the control group. These results are considered to be indicative of an increased resistance to oxidative stress in hypertriglyceridemia. The maximum diene production appeared to be a reflection of the quantity of oxidizable lipid per lipoprotein, resulting in a higher maximum for VLDL and a lower maximum for LDL in the hypertriglyceridemic group as compared to the control group.

The α -tocopherol contents of the isolated lipoproteins paralleled lipoprotein size. Although α -tocopherol is regarded as a strong lipoproteincarried anti-oxidant, a relatively weak correlation was noted between the α tocopherol content and the lag time in VLDL, whereas no correlation was noted in the LDL fraction. The latter is in accordance with numerous reports showing the same results in unsupplemented healthy control groups (7,25,29-31). It was demonstrated that the degree of unsaturation of fatty acids is a more important determinant of the susceptibility of lipoproteins to oxidation (31-35). In accordance with previous work of our group (8), we observed strong correlations between the number of double bonds in the lipoprotein-fatty acids and oxidation parameters. Unexpectedly, we found a different fatty acid distribution between the hypertriglyceridemic and control group. Both VLDL and LDL, isolated from the hypertriglyceridemic patients, showed a higher relative amount of saturated fatty acids and a lower relative amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids than the control subjects. Consequently, there was a relative paucity of double bonds in the hypertriglyceridemic patients that may explain the higher resistance of VLDL and LDL to oxidative stress compared to the control subjects.

The relative enrichment in saturated fatty acids in lipoproteins of the hypertriglyceridemic group was a rather unexpected finding that has not been reported before as far as we know. So far, only one study has addressed this issue. Agheli et al. (36) reported a normal fatty acid composition in hypertriglyceridemia, however, the study population consisted of only 5 patients. Differences in the dietary fatty acid composition do not appear to be a plausible explanation. The hypertriglyceridemic group has received dietary counseling with the advice to increase the intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids at the expense of saturated fatty acids as first-line therapy. Therefore, not a lower but a higher intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids would be expected in the HTG group compared to the population-based control subjects (37,38). There are some indications that may explain these differences. Hepatocytes have been shown to synthesize preferably simple, saturated fatty acids over more complex unsaturated fatty acids (39). Accordingly, it may be hypothesized that an increased supply of substrates to the liver leads to a higher incorporation of saturated fatty acids as compared to polyunsaturated fatty acids in triglycerides, especially under conditions of VLDL overproduction as encountered in hypertriglyceridemia. In addition, polyunsaturated fatty acids decrease VLDL production which may cause the liver to incorporate polyunsaturated fatty acids at a slower rate than saturated fatty acids (40,41). Indeed, a decreased VLDL production has been reported in humans fed a diet rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids (42).

A second explanation may be preferential lipolysis of triglycerides that are rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids. Botham *et al.* (43) studied the effect of fatty acid composition on lipolysis by feeding rats fish oil (PUFAs), olive oil (MUFAs) or palm oil (SFAs). The triglyceride-rich lipoproteins were isolated and subjected to *in vitro* lipolysis. It was shown that saturated fatty acids in triglycerides were hydrolyzed at a slower rate than polyunsaturated fatty acids. So, in case of stressed triglyceride-removal pathways as is seen in hypertriglyceridemia, polyunsaturated fatty acids may be preferred over saturated fatty acids, resulting in a lower ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids in plasma and lipoproteins.

The LDL particles in the hypertriglyceridemic patients were smaller than control LDL. To our surprise, we found that this small dense LDL was associated with an increased resistance to oxidative stress, as reflected by a longer lag time and lower propagation rate. Results from the present study indicate that differences in fatty acid composition of VLDL and LDL may explain the observed differences in oxidation behavior between hypertriglyceridemic and normolipidemic subjects.

There is controversy regarding the effects of fibrate therapy on lipoprotein oxidizability. Some groups have reported an enhanced resistance to oxidative stress (4,44,45), whereas others found no effect (46,47). In the present study, plasma levels of free F2-isoprostanes were not affected by fibrate therapy. We infer from these results that bezafibrate does not affect the oxidation status in hypertriglyceridemic patients.

In conclusion, we have found normal plasma levels of free F2isoprostanes in the hypertriglyceridemic group, which were not influenced by vigorous triglyceride-lowering therapy by bezafibrate. In addition, an enhanced resistance of VLDL and LDL to Cu2+-induced oxidation was noted in the hypertriglyceridemic group, a phenomenon that may be explained by a low ratio of polyunsaturated to saturated fatty acids. These combined in vivo in vitro oxidation data evidence that and provide strong hypertriglyceridemia is associated with normal oxidative stress.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Selene C.M. Schoormans and Marijke Frölich for expert technical assistance. This work was supported in part by the Praeventiefonds, grant no. 28-1642-4, The Hague, The Netherlands. Boehringer Mannheim is thanked for partial financial support and study medication. Finally, we wish to express our gratitude to all patients and control subjects who agreed to participate in this study.

References

- 1. Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride and coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb 1991;11:2-14.
- 2. Hokanson JE, Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a meta-analysis of populationbased prospective studies. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996;3:213-9.
- 3. Gaziano JM, Hennekens CH, O'Donnell CJ, Breslow JL, Buring JE. Fasting triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein, and risk of myocardial infarction. Circulation 1997;96:2520-5.
- 4. de Graaf JC, Hendriks JC, Demacker PN, Stalenhoef AF. Identification of multiple dense LDL subfractions with enhanced susceptibility to in vitro oxidation among hypertriglyceridemic subjects. Normalization after clofibrate

treatment. Arterioscler Thromb 1993;13:712-9.

- Tribble DL, Holl LG, Wood PD, Krauss RM. Variations in oxidative susceptibility among six low density lipoprotein subfractions of differing density and particle size. Atherosclerosis 1992;93:189-99.
- Tribble DL. Lipoprotein oxidation in dyslipidemia: insights into general mechanisms affecting lipoprotein oxidative behavior. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995;6:196-208.
- Princen HMG, van Duyvenvoorde W, Buytenhek R, van der Laarse A, van Poppel G, Gevers Leuven JA, van Hinsbergh VW. Supplementation with low doses of vitamin E protects LDL from lipid peroxidation in men and women. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1995;15:325-33.

- Hau MF, Smelt AH, Bindels AJ, Sijbrands EJ, van der Laarse A, Onkenhout W, van Duyvenvoorde W, Princen HMG. Effects of fish oil on oxidation of very low density lipoprotein in hypertriglyceridemic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:1197-202.
- 9. Patrono C, FitzGerald GA. Isoprostanes: potential markers of oxidant stress in atherothrombotic disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997;17:2309-15.
- Morrow JD, Awad JA, Kato T, Takahashi K, Badr KF, Roberts LJ, Burk RF. Formation of novel noncyclooxygenase-derived prostanoids (F2isoprostanes) in carbon tetrachloride hepatotoxicity. An animal model of lipid peroxidation. J Clin Invest 1992;90:2502-7.
- Lynch SM, Morrow JD, Roberts LJ, Frei B. Formation of non-cyclooxygenasederived prostanoids (F2-isoprostanes) in plasma and low density lipoprotein exposed to oxidative stress in vitro. J Clin Invest 1994;93:998-1004.
- Morrow JD, Frei B, Longmire AW, Gaziano JM, Lynch SM, Shyr Y, Strauss WE, Oates JA, Roberts LJ. Increase in circulating products of lipid peroxidation (F2-isoprostanes) in smokers. Smoking as a cause of oxidative damage. N Engl J Med 1995;332:1198-203.
- Gopaul NK, Anggard EE, Mallet AI, Betteridge DJ, Wolff SP, Nourooz ZJ. Plasma 8-epi-PGF2 alpha levels are elevated in individuals with non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. FEBS Lett 1995;368:225-9.
- 14. Davi G, Alessandrini P, Mezzetti A, Minotti G, Bucciarelli T, Costantini F, Cipollone F, Bon GB, Ciabattoni G, Patrono C. In vivo formation of 8-Epiprostaglandin F2 alpha is increased in hypercholesterolemia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997;17:3230-5.
- Reilly MP, Pratico D, Delanty N, DiMinno G, Tremoli E, Rader D, Kapoor S, Rokach J, Lawson J, FiLawson JA,

FitzGerald GA. Increased formation of distinct F2 isoprostanes in hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 1998;98:2822-8.

- Netherlands Nutrition Council. Guidelines for a healthy diet. The Hague, The Netherlands: Netherlands Nutrition Council. 1986.
- Lowry OH, Rosebrough RJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951;193:265-75.
- McNamara JR, Campos H, Ordovas JM, Peterson J, Wilson PW, Schaefer EJ. Effect of gender, age, and lipid status on low density lipoprotein subfraction distribution. Results from the Framingham Offspring Study. Arteriosclerosis 1987;7:483-90.
- Lepage G, Roy CC. Direct transesterification of all classes of lipids in a one-step reaction. J Lipid Res 1986;27:114-20.
- Havekes LM, de Knijff P, Beisiegel U, Havinga JR, Smit M, Klasen E. A rapid micromethod for apolipoprotein E phenotyping directly in serum. J Lipid Res 1987;28:455-63.
- Morrow JD, Awad JA, Boss HJ, Blair IA, Roberts LJ. Non-cyclooxygenasederived prostanoids (F2-isoprostanes) are formed in situ on phospholipids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1992;89:10721-5.
- 22. Rumsey SC, Galeano NF, Arad Y, Deckelbaum RJ. Cryopreservation with sucrose maintains normal physical and biological properties of human plasma low density lipoproteins. J Lipid Res 1992;33:1551-61.
- 23. Princen HMG, van Duyvenvoorde W, Buytenhek R, Blonk C, Tijburg LB, Langius JA, Meinders AE, Pijl H. No effect of consumption of green and black tea on plasma lipid and antioxidant levels and on LDL oxidation in smokers. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18:833-41.

- 24. Redgrave TG, Roberts DC, West CE. Separation of plasma lipoproteins by density-gradient ultracentrifugation. Anal Biochem 1975;65:42-9.
- Esterbauer H, Waeg G, Puhl H, Dieber RM, Tatzber F. Inhibition of LDL oxidation by antioxidants. EXS 1992;62:145-57.
- Kayden HJ, Traber MG. Absorption, lipoprotein transport, and regulation of plasma concentrations of vitamin E in humans. J Lipid Res 1993;34:343-58.
- Ludwig PW, Hunninghake DB, Hoidal JR. Increased leucocyte oxidative metabolism in hyperlipoproteinaemia. Lancet 1982;2:348-50.
- 28. Pronai L, Hiramatsu K, Saigusa Y, Nakazawa H. Low superoxide scavenging activity associated with enhanced superoxide generation by monocytes from male hypertriglyceridemia with and without diabetes. Atherosclerosis 1991;90:39-47.
- 29. Princen HMG, van Poppel G, Vogelezang C, Buytenhek R, Kok FJ. Supplementation with vitamin E but not beta-carotene in vivo protects low density lipoprotein from lipid peroxidation in vitro. Effect of cigarette smoking. Arterioscler Thromb 1992;12:554-62.
- Reaven PD, Khouw A, Beltz WF, Parthasarathy S, Witztum JL. Effect of dietary antioxidant combinations in humans. Protection of LDL by vitamin E but not by beta-carotene. Arterioscler Thromb 1993;13:590-600.
- 31. van de Vijver LP, Kardinaal AF, van Duyvenvoorde W, Kruijssen DA, Grobbee DE, van Poppel G, Princen HMG. LDL oxidation and extent of coronary atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18:193-9.
- 32. Berry EM, Eisenberg S, Haratz D, Friedlander Y, Norman Y, Kaufmann NA, Stein Y. Effects of diets rich in monounsaturated fatty acids on plasma lipoproteins--the Jerusalem Nutrition

Study: high MUFAs vs high PUFAs. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;53:899-907.

- 33. Bonanome A, Pagnan A, Biffanti S, Opportuno A, Sorgato F, Dorella M, Maiorino M, Ursini F. Effect of dietary monounsaturated and polyunsaturated fatty acids on the susceptibility of plasma low density lipoproteins to oxidative modification. Arterioscler Thromb 1992;12:529-33.
- 34. Reaven P, Parthasarathy S, Grasse BJ, Miller E, Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Effects of oleate-rich and linoleate-rich diets on the susceptibility of low density lipoprotein to oxidative modification in mildly hypercholesterolemic subjects. J Clin Invest 1993;91:668-76.
- 35. Thomas MJ, Thornburg T, Manning J, Hooper K, Rudel LL. Fatty acid composition of low-density lipoprotein influences its susceptibility to autoxidation. Biochemistry 1994;33:1828-34.
- 36. Agheli N, Cloarec M, Jacotot B. Effect of dietary treatment on the lipid, lipoprotein and fatty acid compositions in type IV familial hypertriglyceridemia. Ann Nutr Metab 1991;35:261-73.
- 37. de Man FH, van der Laarse A, Hopman EG, Gevers Leuven JA, Onkenhout W, Dallinga-Thie GM, Smelt AH. Dietary counselling effectively improves lipid levels in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia: emphasis on weight reduction and alohol limitation. Eur J Clin Nutr 1999 (in press).
- Ministry of Welfare Public health and Culture. Zo eet Nederland, 1992. Resultaten van de voedselconsumptiepeiling. 2 Ed. Rijswijk, the Netherlands: 1993:
- Dixon JL, Ginsberg HN. Regulation of hepatic secretion of apolipoprotein Bcontaining lipoproteins: information obtained from cultured liver cells. J Lipid Res 1993;34:167-79.
- 40. Triscari J, Hamilton JG, Sullivan AC. Comparative effects of saturated and

unsaturated lipids on hepatic lipogenesis and cholesterogenesis in vivo in the meal-fed rat. J Nutr 1978;108:815-25.

- 41. Davis RA, Boogaerts JR. Intrahepatic assembly of very low density lipoproteins. Effect of fatty acids on triacylglycerol and apolipoprotein synthesis. J Biol Chem 1982;257:10908-13.
- Harris WS, Connor WE, Illingworth DR, Rothrock DW, Foster DM. Effects of fish oil on VLDL triglyceride kinetics in humans. J Lipid Res 1990;31:1549-58.
- 43. Botham KM, Avella M, Cantafora A, Bravo E. The lipolysis of chylomicrons derived from different dietary fats by lipoprotein lipase in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta 1997;1349:257-63.
- 44. Hoffman R, Brook GJ, Aviram M. Hypolipidemic drugs reduce lipoprotein susceptibility to undergo lipid peroxidation: in vitro and ex vivo studies. Atherosclerosis 1992;93:105-13.

- 45. Yoshida H, Ishikawa T, Ayaori M, Shige H, Ito T, Suzukawa M, Nakamura H. Beneficial effect of gemfibrozil on the chemical composition and oxidative susceptibility of low density lipoprotein: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. Atherosclerosis 1998;139:179-87.
- 46. Bredie SJ, de Bruin TW, Demacker PN, Kastelein JJ, Stalenhoef AF. Comparison of gemfibrozil versus simvastatin in familial combined hyperlipidemia and effects on apolipoprotein-B- containing lipoproteins, low-density lipoprotein subfraction profile, and low-density lipoprotein oxidizability. Am J Cardiol 1995;75:348-53.
- 47. Vazquez M, Zambon D, Hernandez Y, Adzet T, Merlos M, Ros E, Laguna JC. Lipoprotein composition and oxidative modification during therapy with gemfibrozil and lovastatin in patients with combined hyperlipidaemia. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1998;45:265-9

Chapter 7

Activated Platelets in Patients with Hypertriglyceridemia: Effects of Triglyceride-Lowering Therapy

Frits H.A.F. de Man¹, Rienk Nieuwland², Arnoud van der Laarse¹, Fred Romijn², Augustinus H.M. Smelt³, Jan A. Gevers Leuven^{3,4}, Augueste Sturk²

Departments of ¹Cardiology, ²Clinical Chemistry and ³Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden; ⁴TNO-Prevention and Health, Gaubius Laboratory, Leiden, The Netherlands

Submitted

Summary

Background. Platelet activation has been associated with classical cardiovascular risk factors. The effects of triglycerides on platelet function are controversial. This study was designed to compare the *in vivo* platelet activation status between patients with hypertriglyceridemia and age- and sex-matched control subjects, and to evaluate the effects of triglyceride-lowering therapy.

Methods. Sixteen patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia were included in a double-blind, placebo-controlled cross-over trial with 400 mg bezafibrate once daily. Analysis of the platelet activation was performed by double label flow cytometry, using monoclonal antibodies against GP53, P-selectin, and platelet-bound fibrinogen as platelet surface activation markers.

Results. Comparison of baseline platelet analysis showed that the surface expression of the lysosomal membrane protein GP53 was significantly higher in the hypertriglyceridemic patients $(16.3 \pm 4.8\%)$ as compared to the group of age- and sex-matched controls $(8.9 \pm 3.4\%, p<0.001)$. No differences in the expression of P-selectin and fibrinogen binding were observed. In response to bezafibrate therapy, the expression of GP53 in the patient group decreased from $16.3 \pm 4.8\%$ to $13.1 \pm 4.1\%$ (p=0.018). The expression of P-selectin and fibrinogen binding was not affected by bezafibrate therapy.

Conclusion. Patients with hypertriglyceridemia have an increased *in vivo* platelet activation status which can be improved by bezafibrate therapy.

Introduction

Platelets play an important role in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and acute coronary syndromes (1,2). The beneficial effects of anti-platelet agents in secondary prevention trials support this hypothesis (3). Activation of platelets has been demonstrated in patients with unstable angina pectoris and acute myocardial infarction (4,5). Also the classical cardiovascular risk factors such as diabetes, smoking and hyperlipoproteinemia have been associated with an increased platelet reactivity or platelet activation (6-8).

Hypertriglyceridemia (HTG) is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in both men and women (9). In addition to the characteristic lipoprotein profile, which includes low levels of high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol and the presence of atherogenic small, dense low density lipoprotein (LDL) various particles. hypertriglyceridemia has been associated with derangements of the hemostatic system. Plasma fibrinogen levels are often elevated in hypertriglyceridemic patients. Also, activated factor VII and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 levels are elevated in these patients and correlate with total plasma triglyceride levels (10,11). These results indicate that hypertriglyceridemia is associated with a hypercoagulable and hypofibrinolytic state. The effects of triglycerides on platelet function are less uniformly described (7,12). Previous studies used platelet aggregometry to indirectly assess platelet reactivity ex vivo. This technique is difficult to perform in turbid plasma samples. The development of whole blood flow cytometry (13) provided a tool to address the platelet activation status directly and specifically, by measuring the presence of activation antigens on the platelet surface.

As platelets become activated, changes occur at the platelet surface (14). Activation is initiated by the binding of agonists to specific platelet receptors. As a result, the glycoprotein (GP) IIb-IIIa complex changes its conformation, thereby revealing the binding site for fibrinogen. In addition, the membranes of the α -granules, dense granules and lysosomes fuse with the platelet cell-membrane to release the granular contents. As a consequence, novel activation-dependent membrane glycoproteins become exposed, which in the resting platelet were present only in the granule membranes. In the present study, three of these activation-dependent antigens were determined: P-selectin (CD62P), an α -granule-derived transmembrane protein; GP53 (CD63) a lysosomal membrane protein; and platelet-bound fibrinogen.

The present study was designed to directly assess the platelet activation status in patients with hypertriglyceridemia as compared to healthy age- and sex-matched control subjects. In addition, the effects of triglyceride-lowering therapy were studied in a double-blind, placebocontrolled trial with 400 mg bezafibrate once daily.

Materials and Methods

Patients and control subjects

The study population consisted of 16 unrelated patients (14 males and 2 females) with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia who were recruited from the outpatient lipid clinic of the Leiden University Medical Center. The diagnosis endogenous hypertriglyceridemia was based on the means of two fasting blood samples obtained after a dietary period of at least 8 weeks. The diagnostic criteria for endogenous hypertriglyceridemia were: total serum TG > 4.0 mmol/L, very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) cholesterol > 1.0 mmol/L, and LDL-C < 4.5 mmol/L. Exclusion criteria were the apoE2E2 phenotype, secondary hyperlipidemia (renal, liver or thyroid disease, fasting glucose > 7.0 mmol/L, and alcohol consumption of more than 40 g/day) and the use of lipid-lowering drugs. Patients with a medical history of cardiovascular disease were not included in the study. Seventeen normolipidemic, age- and sex-matched control subjects (16 males and 1 female) were recruited in response to a newspaper advertisement.

Study design and blood sampling

The patients were randomized to receive in a double-blind cross-over fashion a fixed dose of bezafibrate, 400 mg once daily, and placebo for 6 weeks. The two periods in which medication was taken were separated by a wash-out period of 6 weeks. Before and after each treatment period of 6 weeks, fasting venous blood samples were obtained from the participants for lipid measurements. The platelet activation status was assessed at the end of the placebo and treatment periods. From the control subjects, fasting blood samples were obtained at baseline under identical conditions. Informed consent was obtained from each patient and the protocol was approved by the institutional Medical Ethics Committee (protocol number P183/96).
Lipids and lipoproteins

Venous blood was collected after an overnight fast. Serum was obtained after centrifugation at 1500 g for 15 min at room temperature. Three mL of fresh serum was ultracentrifuged for 15 hours at 232,000 g at 15°C in a TL-100 tabletop Ultracentrifuge, using a TLA-100.3 fixed angle rotor (Beckman, Palo Alto, CA USA). The ultracentrifugate was carefully divided in a density (d) < 1.006 and d 1.006 - 1.25 g/mL fraction, designated as the VLDL and LDL-HDL fraction, respectively. The triglyceride and cholesterol concentrations were measured enzymatically using test kits (Boehringer, Mannheim, Germany). HDL cholesterol was measured in the LDL-HDL fraction after precipitation of apoB-containing particles with phosphotungstic acid and MgCl₂. ApoE phenotyping was performed by isoelectric focusing according to Havekes *et al.* (15).

Preparation of whole blood samples for flow cytometry

Blood was obtained from an antecubital vein through a butterfly needle (1.0 mm) with a light tourniquet. After discarding the first 2 mL of blood, a 1.8 mL sample of blood was collected in 0.2 mL of 3.2% tri-sodium citrate. Within five minutes, 5 μ L aliquots of the citrated blood were diluted in 30 μ L of HEPES buffer (137 mmol/L NaCl, 2.7 mmol/L KCl, 1.0 mmol/L MgCl₂, 5.6 mmol/L glucose, 20 mmol/L HEPES, 1 mg/mL bovine serum albumin, 3.3 mmol/L NaH₂PO₄, pH 7.4; buffer A), 5 μ L of biotinylated anti-GPIb and 5 μ L of a second fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled monoclonal antibody (MoAb). Final concentrations were 0.75 µg/mL biotinylated anti-GPIb, 5 µg/mL FITCanti-GP53, 5 µg/mL FITC-anti-P-selectin, 16 µg/mL FITC-anti-fibrinogen (platelet-bound fibrinogen) and 5 µg/mL FITC-labeled control antibody (IgG1 isotype). After carefully mixing and 15 minutes incubation at room temperature in the dark, 5 µL of 10-fold diluted phycoerythrin-conjugated streptavidin was added. Incubation continued for another 15 minutes at room temperature. Finally, 2.5 mL of buffer A was added, containing 0.2% formaldehyde (final concentration).

Antibodies

The following murine Abs were used. Anti-GPIb (CLB-MB45), directed against the α -chain of GPIb, was obtained from the Central Laboratory of the Netherlands Red Cross Bloodtransfusion Service (Amsterdam, The Netherlands). Anti-GPIb was biotinylated as described by Hnatowich *et al.* (16). FITC-labeled MoAbs against P-selectin (CD62P) and GP53 were obtained from Immunotech (Marseille, France). FITC-labeled chicken anti-human fibrinogen polyclonal antibodies were obtained from Biopool AB (Umeå, Sweden) and FITC-labeled IgG₁ control antibodies were purchased from Becton & Dickinson (San Jose, CA, USA). Phycoerythrin-conjugated streptavidin was obtained from Dakopatts (Glostrup, Denmark).

Flow cytometric analysis

Double label flow cytometry was performed as described previously (17,18). After collection, blood samples were analyzed in a FACScan flow cytometer with CellQuist software (Becton Dickinson, San Jose, CA, USA). Forward light scatter and sideward light scatter were set at logarithmic gain. Platelets were identified by analyzing the phycoerythrin-GPIb content of particles at 585 nm. Regions were identified, corresponding to platelet-derived microparticles (R1), platelets (R2) and platelet-platelet, platelet-leukocyte, platelet-derivedmicroparticle(s)-leukocyte or platelet-erythrocyte complexes (R3). The surface expression of activation markers was determined on a population of 5,000 platelets (R2) by analyzing the fluorescence intensity of the FITC-labeled antibodies at 515 nm. The threshold for platelet activation was set at 2% fluorescence-positive platelet activation with a FITC-labeled IgG₁ control antibody. Platelet count and volume were measured on a SysmexTM SE-9000 analyzer (TOA Medical Electronics, Kobe, Japan).

To verify our method of platelet activation analysis by expression of the activation markers, whole blood obtained from 8 healthy volunteers, and coagulated with 0.10 mmol/L sodium citrate (final concentration) was stimulated with 10 μ mol/L adenosine diphosphate *in vitro*. The mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) for FITC-labeled anti-P-selectin (CD62P) increased from 3.6 \pm 0.5 to 10.8 \pm 4.3 and MFI for FITC-labeled anti-GP53 (CD63) increased from 5.6 \pm 0.8 to 9.7 \pm 1.5 (mean \pm S.D.). These data indicate that the procedure used to label and fix the platelets can detect platelet activation by increased antigen expression of activation markers.

Statistical analyses

Results are presented as the mean \pm S.D. Mean differences between the control group and patient group were calculated with the Mann-Whitney U test. Only differences in sex distribution between the patient group and control group were calculated with the Fisher's exact test. Differences between the patient group on placebo and bezafibrate therapy were evaluated pairwise using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test. Findings were regarded to be

statistically significant when the probability of these data under the null hypothesis was less than 0.05. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS/PC+TM software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL USA).

Results

Patient characteristics

As shown in table 1, the patient and control group were comparable with regard to age and sex. Serum triglyceride levels were significantly higher in the HTG patients as compared to the control subjects. Although both LDL-C and HDL-C levels were lower in the patient group, VLDL-C concentrations were markedly elevated and accounted for the elevation in total serum cholesterol concentrations.

	Controls	Hypertriglyceridemic patients	p-value ^a
Number	17	16	_
Age, y	47 ± 8	49 ± 9	n.s.
Sex, M/F	16/1	14/2	n.s.
TTG, mmol/L	0.99 ± 0.43	10.21 ± 4.44	< 0.001
TC, mmol/L	5.03 ± 0.99	7.79 ± 1.84	< 0.001
VLDL-C, mmol/L	0.29 ± 0.18	4.47 ± 2.23	< 0.001
LDL-C, mmol/L	3.48 ± 0.93	2.57± 0.64	0.002
HDL-C, mmol/L	1.25 ± 0.26	0.76 ± 0.16	< 0.001

Table 1. Baseline characteristics

Values are presented as the mean \pm S.D. TC, total cholesterol; TTG, total triglycerides; VLDL-C, very low density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol. ^a Numeric variables were analyzed with the Mann-Whitney U test. Sex distribution was analyzed with the Fisher's exact test.

Effect of therapy on serum lipid and lipoprotein levels

All subjects concluded the study without any side-effects. The effects of bezafibrate and placebo are shown in table 2. Placebo therapy did not influence serum lipid and lipoprotein levels. Bezafibrate therapy resulted in a significant reduction in serum TG (-66%, p<0.001), serum cholesterol levels

(-27%, p<0.001) and VLDL-C levels (-68%, p<0.001). LDL-C and HDL-C levels increased with 29% (p=0.003) and 12% (p=0.011), respectively.

	Before	During	Before	During
	placebo	placebo	bezafibrate	bezafibrate
Number	16	16	16	16
TTG, mmol/L	10.48 ± 5.31	12.20 ± 8.58	11.41 ± 7.77	$3.83 \pm 1.51^{***}$
TC, mmol/L	8.01 ± 2.01	7.65 ± 2.46	8.08 ± 2.75	$5.90 \pm 1.32^{**}$
VLDL-C, mmol/L	4.35 ± 2.25	$\textbf{4.29} \pm \textbf{2.13}$	4.52 ± 3.06	$1.45 \pm 0.66^{***}$
LDL-C, mmol/L	2.86 ± 1.04	2.65 ± 0.61	2.76 ± 0.52	$3.55 \pm 0.89^{**}$
HDL-C, mmol/L	0.80 ± 0.20	0.72 ± 0.13	0.81 ± 0.13	$0.91 \pm 0.13^*$

Table 2. Effects of Treatment with Placebo and Bezafibrate on Serum Lipids and Lipoproteins

Values are presented as the mean \pm S.D. TC, total cholesterol; TTG, total triglycerides; VLDL-C, very low density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol. All values are mean \pm S.D. based on triplicate measurements. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001 as compared to the corresponding value before bezafibrate therapy using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test.

Platelet analyses

The first objective was to compare the expression of GP53, P-selectin and platelet fibrinogen binding between control subjects and HTG patients. Since placebo therapy did not influence serum lipid levels in the patient group, the platelet activation data obtained during placebo therapy were used as "baseline" values and compared with the platelet activation data of the control group. As shown in table 3 and figure 1, no differences in the expression of P-selectin and fibrinogen binding were found between the control subjects and HTG patients (during placebo therapy). However, the expression of GP53 was significantly higher in the HTG patients (16.3 \pm 4.8%) as compared to the group of control subjects (8.9 \pm 3.4%, p<0.001). Platelet count and mean platelet volume did not differ between the HTG patients and control subjects (table 3).

	Controls	Hypertriglyceridemic patients	
		Placebo	Bezafibrate
Number	17]	.6
Platelet count, 10%	231 ± 51	204 ± 45	221 ± 45 *
Mean platelet volume, fL	9.91 ± 0.50	10.03 ± 1.20	9.98 ± 1.17
GP53, %ª	8.9 ± 3.4***	16.3 ± 4.8	13.1 ± 4.1 #
P-selectin, % ª	2.4 ± 0.7	1.4 ± 1.1	1.6 ± 1.1
Fibrinogen, %ª	12.3 ± 3.9	11.2 ± 4.3	12.0 ± 4.4

Table 3. Analysis of Platelet Activation Markers

Values are presented as the mean \pm S.D. ^a presented as percentage activated platelets. *** p < 0.001 as compared to the corresponding value in the hypertriglyceridemic group on placebo therapy using the Mann-Whitney U test. ; * p < 0.05 as compared to the corresponding value on placebo therapy using the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test.

Bezafibrate therapy resulted in an improvement of the lipoprotein profile in the patient group (table 2). The mean effects of this therapy on the expression of platelet activation markers are shown in table 3. The expression of Pselectin and binding of fibrinogen did not change in response to bezafibrate therapy. During bezafibrate therapy, the high expression of GP53 in HTG patients slightly normalized on average from $16.3 \pm 4.8\%$ to $13.1 \pm 4.1\%$ (p=0.018). Although mean platelet volume was not affected by both therapy modalities, the platelet number increased in response to bezafibrate therapy (+8%, p=0.011; table 3). The individual changes in GP53, P-selectin and platelet-bound fibrinogen expression upon bezafibrate therapy are presented in figure 1. The expression of GP53 increased in 4 patients, remained stable in 1 and decreased in 11 patients with originally the highest GP53 expression. The P-selectin expression did not change substantially within the patients and was similar to the values obtained in the healthy controls. The changes in platelet-bound fibrinogen were variable.



Figure 1. Expression of platelet activation markers. Expression of GP53 (left panel), Pselectin (middle panel) and platelet-bound fibrinogen (right panel) on platelets obtained from 16 hypertriglyceridemic patients (solid circles) during placebo and bezafibrate therapy compared with 17 age- and sex-matched control subjects (open circles). Analysis of the platelet activation markers was performed by double label flow cytometry, using antibodies against GP53, P-selectin and platelet-bound fibrinogen. The surface expression of the lysosomal membrane protein GP53 was significantly higher in the hypertriglyceridemic patients as compared to the group of controls. No differences in the expression of P-selectin and fibrinogen binding were observed. In response to bezafibrate therapy, the expression of GP53 in the patient group decreased, whereas the expression of P-selectin and fibrinogen binding was not affected.

Discussion

In this study we investigated the *in vivo* platelet activation status in hypertriglyceridemic patients directly by flow cytometric analysis of activation-dependent platelet surface antigens. In previous studies, platelet reactivity was assessed *in vitro* by platelet aggregometry (7,12). A major problem of this technique is that light transmission measurements are influenced by turbidity of plasma, a common phenomenon in this patient group. Other investigators have tried to avoid this problem by defining an upper limit of the serum triglyceride level (19) or using an impedance aggregometer technique (12). A second problem of platelet aggregometry is the fact that the *in vivo* platelet activation status is not assessed directly but is merely implied from platelet reactivity *in vitro*. In contrast, the flow cytometric analysis of activation-dependent platelet surface antigens is not influenced by turbidity of blood samples and directly reflects the platelet activation status *in vivo*. This is therefore the first report describing the *in vivo* platelet activation status of hypertriglyceridemic patients.

Our first objective was to compare the platelet activation status of HTG patients with age- and sex-matched control subjects. The surface expression of GP53 was higher in the patient group as compared to the group of healthy volunteers. The platelet-activation markers P-selectin and platelet-bound fibrinogen were comparable in both groups. Thus, only one out of three platelet activation markers showed a higher expression in the HTG group. GP53 is a member of the lysosome-associated membrane proteins (LAMP) which become exposed on the platelet surface upon activation as the membrane of the lysosomal granules fuse with the plasma membrane (20,21). Several studies have shown that LAMPs become exposed at the platelet surface when platelets are activated in vitro (22). In addition, an increased platelet expression of LAMPs has been demonstrated in clinical syndromes like metastatic cancer and preeclampsia which are associated with thromboembolic complications (18,22). These studies indicate that GP53 and other LAMPs are good markers for platelet activation. Accordingly, the increased expression of GP53 in the HTG group indicates that hypertriglyceridemia is associated with an increased platelet activation status. The results of the triglyceride-lowering therapy with bezafibrate on both the improvement of lipid parameters and the reduction of GP53 expression further support this hypothesis. It should be emphasized, however, that despite a considerable reduction in plasma TG levels, normotriglyceridemia was not achieved. In accordance, the extent of increased GP53 expression was reduced but it did not reach the normal range. In contrast to GP53, no differences were found in expression of P-selectin between platelets obtained from HTG patients and healthy volunteers. P-selectin is a transmembrane protein of α -granules and only becomes expressed on the platelet surface upon activation. Michelson et al. (23) showed that retransfusion of activated platelets that expressed Pselectin resulted in a rapid loss of P-selectin in vivo. This decrease was paralleled by an increase in soluble P-selectin. Thus, P-selectin is exposed transiently at the platelet surface after activation and dissociates from the platelet, implying that the expression of P-selectin may not be a good marker

of platelet activation in vivo. Also in contrast to GP53, no differences were found in the amount of fibrinogen bound to the surface of patient versus control platelets. Upon platelet activation, fibrinogen binds to the activated GPIIb-IIIa complex. Resting platelets do not bind fibrinogen, but when platelets are activated the GPIIb-IIIa complex changes its conformation and thus becomes eligible to bind fibrinogen. This change in the fibrinogen receptor conformation is highly reversible (24). Therefore, the extent of surface binding of fibrinogen may be a transient phenomenon, which makes it less suitable as a marker for the platelet activation status. The fibrinogen receptor conformation of the GPIIb-IIIa complex can also be measured with the MoAb PAC-1. We did not find differences in PAC-1 binding between patients and controls (data not shown), which confirms the fibrinogen data. Finally, the finding that different platelet activation markers provide seemingly discrepant results is not uncommon in clinical studies. A number of studies have reported increased expression of GP53 only, or of one of the other markers, in a variety of diseases (18,25-27). We conclude that an increased platelet activation status, as measured by surface GP53 exposure, is present in hypertriglyceridemic patients.

Several mechanisms may explain the increased platelet activation status in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. First, platelet activity in hyperlipidemias may be related to changes in the lipid composition of platelet membranes. Increased plasma cholesterol levels have been shown to decrease the platelet membrane fluidity (28). These cholesterol-enriched, rigid platelet membranes show an enhanced platelet responsiveness by increasing the number and affinity of platelet thrombin receptors (29). Malle *et al.* (30) studied platelet membrane fluidity in other types of dyslipidemia. Interestingly, platelets from HTG patients demonstrated an increased membrane fluidity as compared to healthy control subjects. So, platelet membrane rigidity does not seem to be a plausible explanation for the enhanced platelet activation status in the HTG group.

A second mechanism that may be involved is oxidative stress. Several studies have demonstrated that oxidative stimuli may activate platelets (31,32). A characteristic lipoprotein pattern that can be observed in hypertriglyceridemia includes relatively low concentrations of LDL and HDL cholesterol, which are caused by exchange of lipids between the VLDL pool on one hand and the LDL-HDL pool on the other. In this process, the LDL particles become triglyceride-enriched and relatively cholesterol esterdepleted. As the LDL particles are progressively lipolyzed in the circulation,

144

the triglycerides are degraded and a small, dense particle remains. These small, dense LDL particles are regarded as potentially atherogenic since they show a low resistance to oxidative modification (33). Although no data are available about the total *in vivo* oxidative stress in HTG patients, the presence of small, dense LDL particles in these patients is associated with an increased tendency to oxidative modification (33,34) and, consequently, may be associated with an increased platelet activation (35).

A third explanation may be the platelet activating potential of VLDL, the lipoprotein fraction that primarily accumulates in hypertriglyceridemia. Several studies have demonstrated that VLDL stimulates platelet aggregation (36,37). Van Willigen et al. (38) studied the effect of LDL on fibrinogen binding to the GPIIb-IIIa complex. Interestingly, incubation of platelets with LDL induced a rapid and dose-dependent increase in fibrinogen binding to platelets. No increase was observed after modification of the lysine residues of LDL, and therefore the effect was suggested to be receptor-mediated. It was speculated that LDL changes the exposure of the GPIIb-IIIa complex into a more active configuration. The principal candidate ligand of LDL is apolipoprotein (apo) B-100, which mediates the clearance of LDL from the circulation as ligand for the LDL-receptor. Interestingly, apoB-100 contains a substantial number of lysine residues that play an important role in the receptor-mediated clearance (39). In hypertriglyceridemia, however, LDL concentrations are low and the principal lipoprotein fraction that accumulates is VLDL. Since VLDL, like LDL, contain apoB-100, VLDL may influence the platelet activation status as well by changing the conformation of the GPIIb-IIIa complex via apoB-100. Another study, however, found that LDL augments platelet reactivity via a receptor-independent mechanism, by inhibiting the Na⁺/H⁺ antiport in the platelet membrane (40). Whether this ion exchanger is influenced by VLDL as well remains to be determined. Further studies are needed to elucidate the mechanisms that could be involved in the interaction between VLDL and platelets.

In conclusion, our data indicate that hypertriglyceridemia is associated with an increased expression of the lysosomal membrane protein GP53, which is indicative of an increased *in vivo* platelet activation status. Triglyceridelowering therapy by bezafibrate results in an impressive improvement of the serum lipid levels and a modest reduction in GP53 expression.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Marianne C.L. Schaap, Ton F.F.P. Vroom and Leny Hollaar for expert technical assistance. Boehringer Mannheim is thanked for providing the drugs. Finally, we wish to express our gratitude to all patients and healthy volunteers who agreed to participate in this study.

References

- 1. Davies MJ. The contribution of thrombosis to the clinical expression of coronary atherosclerosis. Thromb Res 1996;82:1-32.
- Fuster V, Badimon L, Badimon JJ, Chesebro JH. The pathogenesis of coronary artery disease and the acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 1992;326:310-8.
- 3. Antiplatelet Trialists' Collaboration. Secondary prevention of vascular disease by prolonged antiplatelet treatment. Br Med J 1988;296:320-31.
- Becker RC, Tracy RP, Bovill EG, Mann KG, Ault K. The clinical use of flow cytometry for assessing platelet activation in acute coronary syndromes. TIMI-III Thrombosis and Anticoagulation Group. Cor Art Dis 1994;5:339-45.
- Schultheiss HP, Tschoepe D, Esser J, Schwippert B, Roesen P, Nieuwenhuis HK, Schmidt SC, Strauer B. Large platelets continue to circulate in an activated state after myocardial infarction. Eur J Clin Invest 1994;24:243-7.
- 6. Hawkins RI. Smoking, platelets and thrombosis. Nature 1972;236:450-2.
- 7. Carvalho AC, Colman RW, Lees RS. Platelet function in

hyperlipoproteinemia. N Engl J Med 1974;290:434-8.

- Strano A, Davi G, Patrono C. In vivo platelet activation in diabetes mellitus. Semin Thromb Hemost 1991;17:422-5.
- 9. Hokanson JE, Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a meta-analysis of populationbased prospective studies. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996;3:213-9.
- 10. Zitoun D, Bara L, Basdevant A, Samama MM. Levels of factor VIIc associated with decreased tissue factor pathway inhibitor and increased plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in dyslipidemias. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:77-81.
- Green D, Chamberlain MA, Ruth KJ, Folsom AR, Liu K. Factor VII, cholesterol, and triglycerides. The CARDIA Study. Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997;17:51-5.
- 12. Riess H, Merk W, Falkner C, Hiller E. Increased in vitro platelet aggregation in hypertriglyceridemias. Thromb Res 1986;41:281-9.
- 13. Shattil SJ, Cunningham M, Hoxie JA. Detection of activated platelets in whole

blood using activation-dependent monoclonal antibodies and flow cytometry. Blood 1987;70:307-15.

- Kroll MH, Schafer AI. Biochemical mechanisms of platelet activation. Blood 1989;74:1181-95.
- Havekes LM, de Knijff P, Beisiegel U, Havinga JR, Smit M, Klasen E. A rapid micromethod for apolipoprotein E phenotyping directly in serum. J Lipid Res 1987;28:455-63.
- Hnatowitch J, Verzin F, Ruscowski M. Investigations of avidin and biotin for imaging applications. J Nucl Med 1987;28:1294
- Abrams CS, Ellison N, Budzynski AZ, Shattil SJ. Direct detection of activated platelets and platelet-derived microparticles in humans. Blood 1990;75:128-38.
- Konijnenberg A, Stokkers EW, van der Post JA, Schaap MC, Boer K, Bleker OP, Sturk A. Extensive platelet activation in preeclampsia compared with normal pregnancy: enhanced expression of cell adhesion molecules. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1997;176:461-9.
- Pazzucconi F, Mannucci L, Mussoni L, Gianfranceschi G, Maderna P, Werba P, Franceschini G, Sirtori CR, Tremoli E. Bezafibrate lowers plasma lipids, fibrinogen and platelet aggregability in hypertriglyceridaemia. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 1992;43:219-23.
- 20. Nieuwenhuis HK, van Oosterhout JJ, Rozemuller E, van Iwaarden F, Sixma JJ. Studies with a monoclonal antibody against activated platelets: evidence that a secreted 53,000-molecular weight lysosome-like granule protein is exposed on the surface of activated platelets in the circulation. Blood 1987;70:838-45.
- 21. Metzelaar MJ, Wijngaard PL, Peters PJ, Sixma JJ, Nieuwenhuis HK, Clevers HC. CD63 antigen. A novel lysosomal membrane glycoprotein, cloned by a screening procedure for intracellular

antigens in eukaryotic cells. J Biol Chem 1991;266:3239-45.

- Silverstein RL, Febbraio M. Identification of lysosome-associated membrane protein-2 as an activationdependent platelet surface glycoprotein. Blood 1992;80:1470-5.
- 23. Michelson AD, Barnard MR, Hechtman HB, MacGregor H, Connolly RJ, Loscalzo J, Valeri CR. In vivo tracking of platelets: circulating degranulated platelets rapidly lose surface P-selectin but continue to circulate and function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:11877-82.
- 24. van Willigen G, Akkerman JW. Protein kinase C and cyclic AMP regulate reversible exposure of binding sites for fibrinogen on the glycoprotein IIB-IIIA complex of human platelets. Biochem J 1991;273:115-20.
- 25. Tschoepe D, Schultheiss HP, Kolarov P, Schwippert B, Dannehl K, Nieuwenhuis HK, Kehrel B, Strauer B, Gries FA. Platelet membrane activation markers are predictive for increased risk of acute ischemic events after PTCA. Circulation 1993;88:37-42.
- 26. Murakami T, Komiyama Y, Masuda M, Kido H, Nomura S, Fukuhara S, Karakawa M, Iwasaka T, Takahashi H. Flow cytometric analysis of platelet activation markers CD62P and CD63 in patients with coronary artery disease. Eur J Clin Invest 1996;26:996-1003.
- 27. Broijersen A, Karpe F, Hamsten A, Goodall AH, Hjemdahl P. Alimentary lipemia enhances the membrane expression of platelet P-selectin without affecting other markers of platelet activation. Atherosclerosis 1998;137:107-13.
- Shattil SJ, Cooper RA. Membrane microviscosity and human platelet function. Biochemistry 1976;15:4832-7.
- 29. Tandon N, Harmon JT, Rodbard D, Jamieson GA. Thrombin receptors define responsiveness of cholesterol-

modified platelets. J Biol Chem 1983;258:11840-5.

- 30. Malle E, Sattler W, Prenner E, Leis HJ, Karadi I, Knipping G, Romics L, Kostner GM. Platelet membrane fluidity in type IIA, type IIB and type IV hyperlipoproteinemia. Atherosclerosis 1991;87:159-67.
- Salvemini D, de Nucci G, Sneddon JM, Vane JR. Superoxide anions enhance platelet adhesion and aggregation. Br J Pharmacol 1989;97:1145-50.
- Iuliano L, Pedersen JZ, Pratico D, Rotilio G, Violi F. Role of hydroxyl radicals in the activation of human platelets. Eur J Biochem 1994;221:695-704.
- 33. de Graaf JC, Hendriks JC, Demacker PN, Stalenhoef AF. Identification of multiple dense LDL subfractions with enhanced susceptibility to in vitro oxidation among hypertriglyceridemic subjects. Normalization after clofibrate treatment. Arterioscler Thromb 1993;13:712-9.
- 34. Tribble DL, Krauss RM, Lansberg MG, Thiel PM, van-den-Berg JJ. Greater oxidative susceptibility of the surface monolayer in small dense LDL may contribute to differences in copperinduced oxidation among LDL density subfractions. J Lipid Res 1995;36:662-71.

- Ardlie NG, Selley ML, Simons LA. Platelet activation by oxidatively modified low density lipoproteins. Atherosclerosis 1989;76:117-24.
- 36. Aviram M, Brook JG. Characterization of the effect of plasma lipoproteins on platelet function in vitro. Haemostasis 1983;13:344-50.
- 37. Mochizuki M, Takada Y, Urano T, Nagai N, Nakano T, Nakajima K, Takada A. The in vitro effects of chylomicron remnant and very low density lipoprotein remnant on platelet aggregation in blood obtained from healthy persons. Thromb Res 1996;81:583-93.
- van Willigen G, Gorter G, Akkerman JW. LDLs increase the exposure of fibrinogen binding sites on platelets and secretion of dense granules. Arterioscler Thromb 1994;14:41-6.
- 39. Mahley RW, Innerarity TL, Weisgraber KB, Oh SY. Altered metabolism (in vivo and in vitro) of plasma lipoproteins after selective chemical modification of lysine residues of the apoproteins. J Clin Invest 1979;64:743-50.
- 40. Nofer JR, Tepel M, Kehrel B, Wierwille S, Walter M, Seedorf U, Zidek W, Assmann G. Low-density lipoproteins inhibit the Na+/H+ antiport in human platelets. A novel mechanism enhancing platelet activity in hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 1997;95:1370-7.

Chapter 8

Not Acute but Chronic Hypertriglyceridemia is Associated with Impaired Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation: Reversal upon Lipid-Lowering Therapy by Atorvastatin

Frits H.A.F. de Man¹, Annelies W.E. Weverling-Rijnsburger², Arnoud van der Laarse¹, Augustinus H.M. Smelt², J. Wouter Jukema¹, and Gerard J. Blauw²

> Departments of ¹Cardiology and ²Internal Medicine, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands

> > Submitted

Presented at the American Heart Association in November 1998 (Dallas, USA)

Summary

Background. Endothelial dysfunction has been associated with most cardiovascular risk factors. There is controversy regarding the relation between hypertriglyceridemia (HTG) and endothelial function. This study was designed to investigate endothelial function in a patient group with chronic hypertriglyceridemia, before and during lipid-lowering therapy by atorvastatin. In addition, the effects of acute hypertriglyceridemia on endothelial function were studied in normolipidemic individuals.

Methods. We studied forearm blood flow (FBF) responses to brachial artery infusions of serotonin as endothelium-dependent vasodilator, and sodiumnitroprusside as endothelium-independent vasodilator by venous occlusion plethysmography. Eight male patients with chronic HTG were studied before and after 6 weeks of lipid-lowering treatment with 80 mg atorvastatin once daily. Ten age-matched control subjects were studied at baseline and immediately after a high-dose infusion of artificial triglycerides.

Results. The HTG patients had 15-fold higher serum triglyceride levels compared to the control group. In the HTG group, the FBF response to serotonin was attenuated compared to the controls (63% vs. 103% at the highest dose, respectively, p<0.001), whereas the FBF response to nitroprusside was comparable to that observed in the control group. In response to atorvastatin therapy, serum triglyceride and cholesterol levels decreased significantly by 43% (p=0.017) and 38% (p=0.012), respectively. After 6 weeks of treatment, the FBF response to serotonin improved from 63% to 106% (p<0.001). Induction of acute hypertriglyceridemia in the control subjects did not affect the FBF responses to serotonin and nitroprusside.

Conclusions. Patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia have an impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation, that is normalized after 6 weeks of lipidlowering therapy by atorvastatin. Unlike chronic hypertriglyceridemia, acute hypertriglyceridemia does affect neither endothelium-dependent nor endothelium-independent vasodilation.

Introduction

1

÷

Endothelial dysfunction is regarded as an early feature of atherosclerosis. Most cardiovascular risk factors like hypercholesterolemia, smoking, hypertension, and age have been shown to be associated with an impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation (1-5). However. the effects of hypertriglyceridemia on endothelial function are still subject to discussion. Incubation of aortic rings with triglyceride-rich lipoproteins inhibited the endothelium-dependent vasodilation to the same extent as low density lipoproteins (LDL) did (6). In accordance, oral as well as intravenous triglyceride loads in healthy subjects induced an impaired endothelial response within hours (7,8), suggesting that hypertriglyceridemia is a risk factor for endothelial dysfunction. In sharp contrast with this concept, Chowienczyk et al. (9) showed normal endothelium-dependent responsiveness in hypertriglyceridemic patients. It should be noted, however, that these patients were characterized by lipoprotein lipase (LPL) deficiency, which represents only a small subset of the hypertriglyceridemic population (10). The present study was designed to investigate endothelial function in a group of non-LPL-deficient patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia, and to evaluate the effects of lipid-lowering therapy by atorvastatin. In addition, the acute effects of hypertriglyceridemia on endothelial function were studied in healthy normolipidemic subjects.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

The study population included 8 patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia (Fredrickson type IV-V) and 10 healthy normolipidemic control subjects. The patients with hypertriglyceridemia were recruited from the outpatient lipid clinic of the Leiden University Medical Center. Patients with hypertriglyceridemia were eligible if they had a total serum triglyceride > 4.0mmol/L, VLDL-cholesterol > 1.0 mmol/L, and LDL-cholesterol < 4.5 mmol/L on two separate occasions under fasting conditions. Exclusion criteria were the apoE2E2 phenotype, secondary hyperlipidemia (renal, liver or thyroid disease, fasting glucose > 7.0 mmol/L, and alcohol consumption of more than 40 g/day) and the use of lipid-lowering drugs. All individuals were non-smoking,

normotensive and without history of cardiovascular disease. The HTG group had a mean post-heparin LPL activity that was not significantly different from the control group (223 ± 66 vs. 158 ± 10 U/L, p=0.77). The study protocol was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the Leiden University Medical Center and all subjects gave informed consent.

Biochemistry

Venous blood was collected after an overnight fast. Serum was obtained after centrifugation at 1500 g for 15 min at room temperature. Three mL of fresh serum was ultracentrifuged for 15 hours at 232,000 g at 15°C. The ultracentrifugate was carefully divided in a density < 1.006 and density 1.006-1.25 g/mL fraction, designated as the VLDL and LDL-HDL fraction, respectively. HDL cholesterol was measured in the LDL-HDL fraction after precipitation of apoB-containing particles with phosphotungstic acid and MgCl₂. Triglyceride, cholesterol and FFA concentrations were measured enzymatically using commercially available kits. ApoB and ApoA-I were assessed by a turbidimetric assay using an automated Hitachi 911 analyzer (Boehringer-Mannheim/Hitachi, Mannheim, Germany). Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) was determined in venous blood samples, obtained exactly 20 minutes after administration of a bolus of 50 IU of sodium heparin per kilogram body weight. The post-heparin blood samples were drawn in ice-cooled heparincoated tubes. LPL was determined by an immunochemical method as described al. (11), using a gum acacia-stabilized by Jansen et [³H]trioleolylglycerol substrate.

Procedures

All subjects were studied under fasting conditions in a quiet room with a constant temperature of 21 - 23 °C. Alcohol and caffeine containing beverages were withheld at least 24 hours before the study. During the experiments, the subjects were in supine position with the nondominant arm stabilized slightly above the level of the heart. After local anesthesia of the skin, a 20-gauge polyethylene catheter (Ohmeda, Swindon, UK) was inserted in the brachial artery of the nondominant arm for determination of blood pressure and infusion of drugs with a Graseby 3200 constant rate infusion pump (Graseby, Watford, UK). Heart rate was recorded from a triple lead electrocardiogram. The subjects rested for 20 minutes after the insertion of the intra-arterial catheter to achieve a stable baseline.

Forearm blood flow was measured by computerized, R-wave triggered, venous occlusion plethysmography, using mercury in silastic strain gauges and a rapid cuff inflator (Hokanson Inc., Bellevue, USA) as has been described previously (12). During the measurements of forearm blood flow, the hand was excluded from the circulation, using a small wrist cuff inflated to 40 mmHg above the systolic blood pressure. Endothelium-dependent vasodilation was determined during cumulative dose-infusions of serotonin (0.3 and 0.9 ng.

kg⁻¹.min⁻¹). Sodium nitroprusside (30 and 90 ng.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) was infused as endothelium-independent vasodilator. The drugs were given in a randomized order and each dose was infused for 5 minutes. A wash-out period of 20 minutes was applied between the different cumulative-dose infusions in order to allow the blood flow to return to baseline levels. Forearm blood flow, blood pressure, and heart rate were measured during two minutes immediately prior to the start of each intra-arterial infusion, and during the last two minutes of each infusion step. Forearm blood flow was expressed as ml.100 mL⁻¹ forearm tissue.min⁻¹.

Drugs and solutions

infusions: The following compounds used for intra-arterial were 5-hydroxytryptamine HCl (ICN Pharmaceuticals, Costa Mesa, Ca, USA), sodium-nitroprusside (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) and L-arginine (Bufa BV, Uitgeest, NL). All drugs were dissolved in 0.9% saline, except for nitroprusside which was dissolved in 5% glucose. Intralipid (20% Fat Emulsion; Pharmacia and Upjohn, Woerden, NL) was used as artificial triglyceride emulsion for intravenous administration. The solutions were prepared from sterile stock solutions and ampoules on the day of the study, and stored at 4°C until use. Atorvastatin (Lipitor®) tablets of 40 mg were provided by Parke Davis (Hoofddorp, NL).

Study Protocol

Hypertriglyceridemic patients. The patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia were studied on 2 separate occasions: at baseline and after 6 weeks of treatment with atorvastatin 80 mg once daily. At each occasion, forearm blood flow responses to serotonin and nitroprusside were assessed during simultaneous infusions of saline and L-arginine in a dose of 0.2 mg.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹. The order of drug administration was randomized. Saline and L-arginine infusions were started 5 min before the start of the serotonin and nitroprusside infusions. Drug compliance was assessed by tablet counting.

Control subjects. The control subjects were studied before and during the induction of an acute, systemic hypertriglyceridemia. After assessment of the baseline forearm blood flow responses to the intra-arterial infusions of serotonin and nitroprusside, a cannula was inserted in an anticubital vein of the contralateral arm. Subsequently, a bolus of 0.25 g.kg⁻¹ Intralipid was administered in 2 min, followed by a graded infusion at a dose of 0.40 g.kg⁻¹. min⁻¹. Immediately after reaching a stable level of hypertriglyceridemia, the forearm blood flow measurements were repeated and completed within 70 min after the onset of acute hypertriglyceridemia. To assess the effects of the Intralipid infusions on the lipoprotein profile, blood samples of 3 representative subjects were drawn before and at the end of the Intralipid administration. Then, the plasma lipoproteins in these samples were isolated by ultracentrifugation according to Redgrave et al. (13). L-arginine infusions were not performed in the control subjects, because previous studies have demonstrated that L-arginine does not increase endothelium-dependent vasodilation in healthy subjects (14).

Statistical Methods

Values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. Comparisons between groups were made with the Mann-Whitney U test and analysis of variance (ANOVA). Effects of atorvastatin therapy were analyzed pairwise with the Wilcoxon paired signed-ranks test and the repeated-measures ANOVA. Statistical significance was accepted at the 95% confidence level. The statistical analyses were performed with SPSS/PC+TM software (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL USA).

Results

Baseline characteristics

Table 1 provides characteristics of the study groups. All subjects were normotensive, non-diabetic, non-smoking males. There were no significant differences in age. The HTG group demonstrated 15-fold higher serum TG levels than the control group. Also the serum cholesterol levels were elevated due to the high VLDL levels in the patient group. The HDL-C and LDL-C concentrations were lower than in the control group. Interestingly, FFA levels were elevated in the HTG group, whereas post-heparin LPL activities were in the same order of magnitude as in the control group.

	Control subjects	Hypertriglyceridemic patients	p-value
Number	10	8	-
Age, y	46 ± 7	51 ± 9	n.s.
Heart rate, min ⁻¹	55.9 ± 2.9	68.3 ± 5.4	n.s.
SBP, mmHg	128.0 ± 4.7	121.5 ± 4.4	n.s.
DBP, mmHg	61.6 ± 4.2	52.3 ± 2.1	n.s.
Baseline FBF,	2.25 ± 0.26	2.69 ± 0.27	n.s.
ml.100 mL ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹			
TTG, mmol/L	0.80 ± 0.11	12.05 ± 4.02	<0.001
TC, mmol/L	4.85 ± 0.35	7.83 ± 1.55	0.021
VLDL-C, mmol/L	0.18 ± 0.03	4.72 ± 1.53	<0.001
LDL-C, mmol/L	3.29 ± 0.30	2.42 ± 0.16	0.034
HDL-C, mmol/L	1.38 ± 0.09	0.70 ± 0.06	<0.001
apoA-I, g/L	1.30 ± 0.05	1.09 ± 0.04	0.004
apoB, g/L	1.01 ± 0.07	1.10 ± 0.12	n.s.
FFA, mmol/L	0.53 ± 0.06	1.02 ± 0.32	0.043

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of control subjects and the untreated patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia

Data are presented as mean ± S.E.M. SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; FBF, forearm blood flow; TTG, total triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; VLDL-C, very low density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; FFA, free fatty acids. To convert mmol/L cholesterol to mg/dL, multiply by 38.7; to convert mmol/L triglycerides to mg/dL, multiply by 88.5.

Lipids and lipoproteins

Atorvastatin therapy. In accordance with previous studies (15), atorvastatin therapy at a dose of 80 mg once daily induced a major improvement of the lipoprotein profile in patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia. As shown in table 2, both serum triglyceride and cholesterol levels decreased considerably within 6 weeks of treatment. The main lipid-lowering effects were observed in the VLDL and LDL-fractions. Although HDL-C levels tended to increase, this increase did not reach statistical significance. Serum FFA levels, being twice as high as in controls, decreased upon therapy.

<u></u>	Hypertriglyceridemic patients		p-value
	Baseline	Atorvastatin	
Number	8		
Heart rate, min ⁻¹	68.3 ± 5.4	69.5 ± 5.3	n.s.
SBP, mmHg	121.5 ± 4.4	127.8 ± 4.1	n.s.
DBP, mmHg	52.3 ± 2.1	58.5 ± 3.0	n.s.
Baseline FBF,	2.69 ± 0.27	2.59 ± 0.39	n.s.
ml.100 mL ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹			
TTG, mmol/L	12.05 ± 4.02	6.92 ± 2.89	0.017
TC, mmol/L	7.83 ± 1.55	4.87 ± 1.02	0.012
VLDL-C, mmol/L	4.72 ± 1.53	2.37 ± 1.14	0.012
LDL-C, mmol/L	2.42 ± 0.16	1.72 ± 0.16	0.025
HDL-C, mmol/L	0.70 ± 0.06	0.78 ± 0.10	n.s.
apoA-I, g/L	1.09 ± 0.04	1.09 ± 0.04	n.s.
apoB, g/L	1.10 ± 0.12	0.74 ± 0.05	0.012
FFA, mmol/L	1.02 ± 0.32	0.72 ± 0.27	0.036

Table 2. Effects of atorvastatin therapy in the patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia

Data are presented as mean ± S.E.M. SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; FBF, forearm blood flow; TTG, total triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; VLDL-C, very low density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; FFA, free fatty acids. To convert mmol/L cholesterol to mg/dL, multiply by 38.7; to convert mmol/L triglycerides to mg/dL, multiply by 88.5.

Artificial hypertriglyceridemia. The systemic intra-venous infusion of Intralipid resulted in a rapid, 15-fold increase in serum triglycerides to levels that remained stable during the graded infusion scheme (figure 1A). Total serum cholesterol levels did not change. Analysis of the lipoprotein cholesterol profiles, before and during this acute hypertriglyceridemia, demonstrated that the LDL- and HDL-fraction were not affected (figure 1B). The corresponding lipoprotein triglyceride profiles showed a sharp peak in the d < 1.006 g/mL region indicative of the artificial chylomicronemia, whereas the LDL- and HDL-fraction were not affected (data not shown). These results indicate that an acute and stable hypertriglyceridemia has been established without affecting other lipoprotein fractions up to 70 min after the start of the Intralipid infusion.



Figure 1. Panel A shows the changes in total plasma triglyceride (\blacksquare) and cholesterol (\square) levels after a systemic intravenous administration of a bolus of 0.25 g.kg⁻¹ Intralipid in 2 min, followed by a graded infusion at a dose of 0.40 g.kg⁻¹.h⁻¹. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. *** p < 0.001, as compared to the baseline value at t = 0 min. **Panel B** shows lipoprotein profiles from 3 representative control subjects before (O) and 70 min after (\bullet) the Intralipid infusion. The first peak (1.019 < density < 1.063 g.mL⁻¹) represents the LDL-fraction. The second peak (1.063 < density < 1.21 g.mL⁻¹) represents the HDL-fraction. No significant changes in lipoprotein cholesterol were observed during Intralipid infusions.

Hemodynamic measurements

The local intra-arterial infusions of serotonin, sodium nitroprusside, and Larginine did not induce any significant changes in intra-arterial blood pressure and heart rate (data not shown). Therefore the forearm blood flow changes can be interpreted as local vascular effects of the vasoactive substances used (12).

Vascular responses at baseline. The cumulative dose infusions of serotonin and nitroprusside induced a significant dose-dependent vasodilation in both study groups (figure 2). The forearm blood flow responses to serotonin were significantly lower in the HTG group as compared to the control group, $63 \pm 10\%$ vs. $103 \pm 10\%$ at the highest dose, respectively (p<0.001; figure 2A). The concomitant infusion of L-arginine in the HTG group significantly improved the vasodilator responses to serotonin from $63 \pm 10\%$ to $113 \pm 9\%$ at the highest dose (p<0.001). The forearm blood flow responses to the

endothelium-independent vasodilator nitroprusside were comparable in the HTG patients and control subjects as is shown in figure 2B. At the highest dose, the forearm blood flow increased to $292 \pm 42\%$ in the HTG group versus $348 \pm 42\%$ in the reference group (p=0.14). The infusion of L-arginine did not alter the forearm blood flow responses to nitroprusside (p=0.92).



Figure 2. Differences in forearm blood flow responses between controls and hypertriglyceridemic patients. Forearm blood flow responses to the intra-arterial infusions of serotonin (panel A) and nitroprusside (panel B) in healthy subjects (\blacktriangle) and HTG patients during concomitant saline (O) and L-arginin ($\textcircled{\bullet}$) infusion. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. * p<0.001 controls vs HTG patients at baseline.

Vascular responses after atorvastatin therapy. After 6 weeks of atorvastatin therapy at a dose of 80 mg once daily, the vasodilator responses to serotonin were significantly improved compared to baseline (figure 3A). The maximum increase in forearm blood flow was $106 \pm 7\%$ at the highest dose (p<0.001). The infusion of L-arginine did not influence vasodilator effects of serotonin compared to saline (p=0.43; figure 3A). The forearm blood flow responses to nitroprusside did not change significantly after atorvastatin therapy, although there was a tendency towards an increased forearm blood flow response to nitroprusside at baseline (p=0.052; figure 3B).



Figure 3. Effect of atorvastatin therapy on forearm blood flow responses in hypertriglyceridemia. Forearm blood flow responses to the intra-arterial infusions of serotonin (panel A) and nitroprusside (panel B) in the HTG patients at baseline during concomitant saline (O) infusion, and after atorvastatin therapy during concomitant saline (\Box) and L-arginin (\blacksquare) infusion. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. * p<0.001 HTG patients at baseline vs HTG patients during atorvastatin therapy.

Vascular responses during acute hypertriglyceridemia. Immediately after the establishment of the hypertriglyceridemia in control subjects, the forearm blood flow measurements were carried out with a randomly chosen order of the serotonin and nitroprusside infusions. As shown in figure 4, the systemic Intralipid infusion did not affect the forearm blood flow responses to serotonin and nitroprusside. During this artificial hypertriglyceridemia, the forearm blood flow response to the highest doses of serotonin and nitroprusside were $117 \pm 21\%$ and $409 \pm 67\%$, respectively, compared to $103 \pm$ 10% and $348 \pm 42\%$, respectively, during the saline infusion.



Figure 4. Effects of an acute hypertriglyceridemia on forearm blood flow responses. Forearm blood flow responses of the control subjects before (open symbols) and during (closed symbols) the intralipid infusion. No significant differences were observed. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M.

Discussion

We have investigated the effects of acute and chronic hypertriglyceridemia on endothelial function. The study reveals the following new findings: (a) Patients with chronic HTG have an impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation, whereas the endothelium-independent response is normal. (b) The endothelium-dependent vasodilation in chronic HTG can be normalized by infusion of L-arginine. (c) A 6-week treatment period with 80 mg atorvastatin once daily reverses the endothelium-dependent response to normal. (d) An acute artificial hypertriglyceridemia affects neither endothelium-dependent nor endothelium-independent vasodilation in normolipidemic controls.

The main finding of the present study is, that hypertriglyceridemia is associated with an impaired endothelial function, which corroborates the current concept that hypertriglyceridemia is an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease (16,17). Endothelial dysfunction is regarded as an early feature of atherosclerosic disease, and has been found to be associated with

several other classical risk factors (1-5,18). In contrast with our findings, Chowienczyk et al. (9) have reported normal endothelial responsiveness in patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia. Our study differs from the study of Chowienczyk with regard to the patient group as well as the choice of vasoactive compounds. The patients studied by the group of Chowienczyk were characterized by LPL deficiency, which represents only a small subset of the HTG population (10). This consideration is important since patients with LPL deficiency may have lower plasma FFA levels than non-LPL deficient HTG patients, caused by lower lipolysis rates. High plasma FFA levels have been reported to impair endothelial-dependent vasodilation (19), indicating that LPL deficiency and the corresponding low FFA levels may have masked the deleterious effects of HTG in the patient group that was studied by Chowienczyk et al. (9). Another explanation of the discrepancy might be the fact that different vasoactive compounds were used: In the present study serotonin was used as endothelium-dependent and nitric oxide-mediated vasodilator, whereas Chowienczyk used acetylcholine for this purpose. It has been shown that acetylcholine-induced vasodilation is, at least partly, independent of the nitric oxide pathway, which might explain the different results (20). A similar discrepancy between the endothelium-dependent vasodilators acetvlcholine and bradykinin has been reported in hypercholesterolemic patients (21).

The present finding, that exogenous administration of the nitric oxide precursor L-arginine improves the endothelium-dependent vasodilation to serotonin in chronic HTG, suggests that low nitric oxide availability may play a pivotal role in this impaired responsiveness. This low nitric oxide availability can be caused by several mechanisms. One possibility is that nitric oxide production is normal, but that it is metabolized at a higher rate due to circulating lipoproteins, lipolysis products or oxidation products. Our observation that during acute HTG the endothelium-dependent vasodilation remained unchanged, strongly suggests that the lipids do not interfere with the nitric oxide availability directly. The fact that others have reported that a triglyceride load for a longer period of time results in impaired endothelialdependent vasodilation, a phenomenon that could be prevented by antioxidant therapy with vitamin E and C, indicates that oxidative mechanisms may be involved (7,8,22). An alternative explanation could be that nitric oxide is formed at a lower rate, due to a decreased availability of L-arginine, by paucity of co-factors, or structural defects in the endothelial cell itself. It is not likely that the endothelial cells are depleted of L-arginine, since the intracellular concentration of L-arginine has shown to be many times higher than necessary for optimal activity of nitric oxide synthase (23). Whether deficiency of the co-factor tetrahydrobiopterin plays a role in HTG, as has been demonstrated in diabetes, smoking and hypercholesterolemia, remains to be elucidated (24-26). Finally, it is conceivable that high amounts of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins accumulate in endothelial cells, as was recently demonstrated in endothelial cells from atherosclerotic plaques in human coronary arteries (27). Lipid accumulation is associated with structural changes in the cell that may impede its function. Since vasodilatory effects prevail over vasoconstrictive effects in normal endothelial cells, we hypothesize that accumulation of triglycerides in endothelial cells may lead to impairment of vasorelaxation.

The observation that atorvastatin restores endothelial function in HTG patients, indicates that treatment with this HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor might reduce the risk for cardiovascular disease. The mechanism underlying this beneficial effect of statins on endothelial function remains to be elucidated. However, it seems likely that the reduction of the circulating lipid burden by lowering plasma triglyceride and cholesterol levels, and the improvement of the LDL subclass pattern, play an important role. Furthermore, there is evidence that lipid-independent mechanisms, namely upregulation of nitric oxide synthase expression, may be involved (28).

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that patients with chronic hypertriglyceridemia have an impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation, mediated by the nitric oxide pathway, which is reversed upon lipid-lowering therapy by atorvastatin. The observation that induction of an acute artificial HTG does not influence endothelial vasodilation, suggests that lipids do not interfere directly with nitric oxide availability.

Acknowledgments

Parke-Davis provided study medication and a research grant to support this work. Hans Jansen is gratefully acknowledged for determination of postheparin LPL activities. We thank Ton Rabelink for helpful comment and suggestions. Finally, we wish to express our gratitude to all patients and control subjects who agreed to participate in this study.

References

- Stroes ES, Koomans HA, de Bruin TW, Rabelink TJ. Vascular function in the forearm of hypercholesterolaemic patients off and on lipid-lowering medication. Lancet 1995;346:467-71.
- Celermajer DS, Adams MR, Clarkson P, Robinson J, McCredie R, Donald A, Deanfield JE. Passive smoking and impaired endothelium-dependent arterial dilatation in healthy young adults. N Engl J Med 1996;334:150-4.
- Panza JA, Quyyumi AA, Brush-JE J, Epstein SE. Abnormal endotheliumdependent vascular relaxation in patients with essential hypertension. N Engl J Med 1990;323:22-7.
- Johnstone MT, Creager SJ, Scales KM, Cusco JA, Lee BK, Creager MA. Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in patients with insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Circulation 1993;88:2510-6.
- Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Bull C, Robinson J, Deanfield JE. Endotheliumdependent dilation in the systemic arteries of asymptomatic subjects relates to coronary risk factors and their interaction. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994;24:1468-74.
- Lewis TV, Dart AM, Chin DJ. Nonspecific inhibition by human lipoproteins of endothelium dependent relaxation in rat aorta may be attributed to lipoprotein phospholipids. Cardiovasc Res 1997;34:590-6.
- Vogel RA, Corretti MC, Plotnick GD. Effect of a single high-fat meal on endothelial function in healthy subjects. Am J Cardiol 1997;79:350-4.
- 8. Lundman P, Eriksson M, Schenck GK, Karpe F, Tornvall P. Transient triglyceridemia decreases vascular reactivity in young, healthy men without risk factors for coronary heart disease. Circulation 1997;96:3266-8.

- Chowienczyk PJ, Watts GF, Wierzbicki AS, Cockcroft JR, Brett SE, Ritter JM. Preserved endothelial function in patients with severe hypertriglyceridemia and low functional lipoprotein lipase activity. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:964-8.
- Minnich A, Kessling A, Roy M, Giry C, DeLangavant G, Lavigne J, Lussier Cacan S, Davignon J. Prevalence of alleles encoding defective lipoprotein lipase in hypertriglyceridemic patients of French Canadian descent. J Lipid Res 1995;36:117-24.
- Jansen H, Hop W, van Tol A., Bruschke AV, Birkenhager JC. Hepatic lipase and lipoprotein lipase are not major determinants of the low density lipoprotein subclass pattern in human subjects with coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 1994;107:45-54.
- Blauw GJ, van Brummelen P, Chang PC, Vermeij P, van Zwieten PA. Arterial and venous effects of serotonin in the forearm of healthy subjects are not agerelated. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1989;14:14-21.
- Redgrave TG, Roberts DC, West CE. Separation of plasma lipoproteins by density-gradient ultracentrifugation. Anal Biochem 1975;65:42-9.
- Creager MA, Gallagher SJ, Girerd XJ, Coleman SM, Dzau VJ, Cooke JP. Larginine improves endotheliumdependent vasodilation in hypercholesterolemic humans. J Clin Invest 1992;90:1248-53.
- 15. Bakker Arkema RG, Davidson MH, Goldstein RJ, Davignon J, Isaacsohn JL, Weiss SR, Keilson LM, Brown WV, Miller VT, Shurzinske LJ, Black DM. Efficacy and safety of a new HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, atorvastatin, in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. JAMA 1996;275:128-33.

- Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride and coronary heart disease. Arterioscler Thromb 1991;11:2-14.
- 17. Hokanson JE, Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride level is a risk factor for cardiovascular disease independent of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol level: a meta-analysis of populationbased prospective studies. J Cardiovasc Risk 1996;3:213-9.
- Woo KS, Chook P, Lolin YI, Cheung AS, Chan LT, Sun YY, Sanderson JE, Metreweli C, Celermajer DS. Hyperhomocyst(e)inemia is a risk factor for arterial endothelial dysfunction in humans. Circulation 1997;96:2542-4.
- Steinberg HO, Tarshoby M, Monestel R, Hook G, Cronin J, Johnson A, Bayazeed B, Baron AD. Elevated circulating free fatty acid levels impair endotheliumdependent vasodilation. J Clin Invest 1997;100:1230-9.
- Bruning TA, Chang PC, Kemme MJ, Vermeij P, Pfaffendorf M, van Zwieten PA. Comparison of cholinergic vasodilator responses to acetylcholine and methacholine in the human forearm. Blood Press 1996;5:333-41.
- Gilligan DM, Guetta V, Panza JA, Garcia CE, Quyyumi AA, Cannon RO. Selective loss of microvascular endothelial function in human hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 1994;90:35-41.
- 22. Plotnick GD, Corretti MC, Vogel RA. Effect of antioxidant vitamins on the transient impairment of endotheliumdependent brachial artery vasoactivity following a single high-fat meal. JAMA 1997;278:1682-6.

- 23. Arnal JF, Munzel T, Venema RC, James NL, Bai CL, Mitch WE, Harrison DG. Interactions between L-arginine and Lglutamine change endothelial NO production. An effect independent of NO synthase substrate availability. J Clin Invest 1995;95:2565-72.
- 24. Pieper GM. Acute amelioration of diabetic endothelial dysfunction with a derivative of the nitric oxide synthase cofactor, tetrahydrobiopterin. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1997;29:8-15.
- 25. Higman DJ, Strachan AM, Buttery L, Hicks RC, Springall DR, Greenhalgh RM, Powell JT. Smoking impairs the activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in saphenous vein. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996;16:546-52.
- 26. Stroes E, Kastelein J, Cosentino F, Erkelens W, Wever R, Koomans H, Luscher T, Rabelink T. Tetrahydrobiopterin restores endothelial function in hypercholesterolemia. J Clin Invest 1997;99:41-6.
- 27. Nagornev VA, Rabinovich VS. Can endothelial cells accumulate lipids? Atherosclerosis 1998;136:197-8.
- Laufs U, La FV, Plutzky J, Liao JK. Upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by HMG CoA reductase inhibitors. Circulation 1998;97:1129-35.

Chapter 9

Summary

Triglycerides play an important role in energy metabolism, synthesis of steroid hormones and the uptake of lipophilic vitamins. Triglycerides are derived from dietary fat in the gut (exogenous route), but can also be produced by the liver (endogenous route). Transport is carried out by lipoproteins, which consist of a lipophilic core of triglycerides and cholesteryl esters and a surface layer of apoproteins, phospholipids and free cholesterol. Triglycerides are hydrolyzed by lipoprotein lipase (LPL), a dimeric enzyme that is attached to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) at the luminal surface of endothelial cells. Part of the triglyceride-rich lipoproteins is removed from the circulation via a direct receptor-mediated mechanism. In case of an increased triglyceride synthesis and/or decreased catabolism, hypertriglyceridemia (HTG) may develop.

An elevated plasma triglyceride level is not a rare condition. The Framingham study has shown that 8-10% of the normal population is hypertriglyceridemic, whereas in a population with a history of cardiovascular disease up to 20% has hypertriglyceridemia. Since hypertriglyceridemia is an established cardiovascular risk factor, it is important to treat the lipid disorder appropriately. First-line therapy is based on life style measures such as weight loss and healthy diet. Additional pharmacological therapy with fibrates or statins can be indicated after careful assessment of the cardiovascular risk profile. The purpose of this dissertation is to study the pathogenesis as well as therapeutical regimens in hypertriglyceridemia.

Chapter 1. General introduction

The first chapter of the thesis gives an extensive overview of the current knowledge regarding lipoprotein metabolism in general. In addition, the various pathogenetic as well as therapeutical aspects of endogenous hypertriglyceridemia are discussed.

Chapter 2. Lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins by heparan sulphate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase

In this chapter, we describe the development of a novel lipolysis assay to study substrate suitability to proteoglycan-bound LPL. Although functional LPL acts *in vivo* as a proteoglycan-bound enzyme that is attached to the luminal surface of the endothelium, its kinetics *in vitro* are commonly studied with LPL in solution. The novel assay was performed as follows. Plastic wells were incubated with heparan sulphate proteoglycans, subsequently blocked with albumin, and finally incubated with LPL. Control experiments with heparinase indicate that at least 90% of the LPL activity is derived from LPL bound to heparan sulphate chains. The intra-assay and inter-assay variations were limited.

Chapter 3. Effect of apolipoprotein E variants on lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins by heparan sulfate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase

This study was performed to apply the novel lipolysis assay in a clinical setting with VLDL of patients with different apoE-variants. Lipoproteins are considered to interact with vessel wall HSPG prior to lipolysis by endothelium-bound LPL. ApoE is thought to mediate this interaction thereby enhancing the stability of the lipoprotein-LPL complex. It was hypothesized that apoE mutations may cause a diminished interaction of VLDL with HSPG, leading to impaired lipolysis of VLDL by HSPG-bound LPL. In order to test this hypothesis, lipolysis and binding experiments were performed with VLDL, isolated from patients with various apoE mutations, using HSPGbound LPL. VLDL, isolated from apoE2 homozygotes and apoE3-Leiden heterozygotes, displayed reduced lipolysis by HSPG-bound LPL due to a defective binding of these lipoproteins to the HSPG-LPL complex. These differences could not be detected with the conventional assay with LPL in solution.

Chapter 4. Dietary counseling effectively improves lipid levels in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia: emphasis on weight reduction and alcohol limitation

Exogenous factors are considered to play an important role in the expression of hypertriglyceridemia. Dietary counseling and weight loss are the first-line therapy in these patients. A prospective dietary intervention study was performed according to the Dutch guidelines for a healthy diet to evaluate the short-term effect of dietary counseling in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia and to evaluate the effects of advised nutrient changes on serum lipid levels. Before and after the dietary intervention period of 12 weeks, 24-hour food recalls were used to assess dietary intake and macronutrient composition. A significant reduction in energy intake and body weight as well as changes in macronutrient composition were observed. Total serum triglyceride and cholesterol levels showed impressive reductions. Weight reduction and alcohol limitation correlated with reduction of total plasma triglyceride levels. This study confirms the current concept that energy restriction and weight loss are key issues in the management of hypertriglyceridemia. Novel findings are the observation that a hypocaloric, low-fat diet is also effective in non-overweight patients, and that alcohol limitation is effective in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia with a moderate alcohol use.

Chapter 5. The hypolipidemic action of bezafibrate therapy in hypertriglyceridemia is mediated by upregulation of lipoprotein lipase: no effects on VLDL substrate affinity to lipolysis or LDL receptor binding

Fibrates are regarded as drugs of choice in hypertriglyceridemia. Downregulation of apoC-III transcription and upregulation of LPL gene expression have been suggested to explain the mechanism of action. This study was designed to investigate the effects of bezafibrate therapy on VLDL susceptibility to lipolysis, VLDL binding to the LDL receptor and postheparin LPL activities in patients with endogenous HTG. Eighteen HTG patients were randomized to receive in a double-blind placebo-controlled cross-over fashion 400 mg bezafibrate once daily for 6 weeks. In response to bezafibrate therapy, plasma triglyceride and apoC-III levels decreased by 69% and 42%, respectively. HTG VLDL was lipolyzed less efficiently compared to control VLDL and lipolysis did not improve by bezafibrate therapy. VLDL binding affinity to the LDL receptor was comparable between the control group and HTG group, and did not change upon bezafibrate therapy. However, the postheparin LPL activity in the HTG patients increased and a strong inverse relation was observed between the increase in LPL activities and the decrease in triglyceride levels. In conclusion, the hypolipidemic action of bezafibrate therapy in HTG may be attributed to upregulation of LPL, whereas the susceptibility of VLDL to lipolysis and LDL receptor binding are not affected.

Chapter 6. Normal F2-isoprostane levels and enhanced lipoprotein resistance to in vitro oxidition in patients with hypertriglyceridemia: effects of bezafibrate treatment

There is evidence that several forms of hyperlipidemia are associated with increased oxidative stress. However, no studies have addressed the oxidation

status in patients with hypertriglyceridemia in detail. The present study was undertaken to compare plasma levels of F2-isoprostanes and ex vivo VLDL and LDL oxidation behavior between patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia and control subjects, and to evaluate the effects of fibrate therapy. F2-isoprostane levels were comparable in the patients with hypertriglyceridemia and control subjects and did not change upon fibrate therapy. However, both VLDL and LDL in the hypertriglyceridemic group demonstrated prolonged ex vivo oxidation resistance times and lower oxidation rates in comparison with the control group. Bezafibrate therapy reversed these oxidation parameters in hypertriglyceridemia towards the normal range. In conclusion, hypertriglyceridemia appears to be associated with normal F2isoprostane levels and an increased resistance of VLDL and LDL to oxidation.

Chapter 7. Activated platelets in patients with hypertriglyceridemia: effect of triglyceride-lowering therapy

The effects of triglycerides on platelet function are controversial. This study was designed to compare the *in vivo* platelet activation status between patients with hypertriglyceridemia and control subjects, and to evaluate the effects of triglyceride-lowering therapy. Analysis of platelet activation was performed by double label flow cytometry, using monoclonal antibodies against GP53, P-selectin, and platelet-bound fibrinogen as platelet surface activation markers. Baseline platelet analyses demonstrated that the surface expression of the lysosomal membrane protein GP53 was significantly higher in the hypertriglyceridemic patients as compared to the control group. No differences in the expression of P-selectin and fibrinogen binding were observed. In response to bezafibrate therapy, the expression of GP53 in the patient group decreased, whereas the expression of P-selectin and fibrinogen binding was not affected. In conclusion, patients with hypertriglyceridemia have an increased *in vivo* platelet activation status which can be improved by bezafibrate therapy.

Chapter 8. Not acute but chronic hypertriglyceridemia is associated with impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation: reversal upon lipid-lowering therapy by atorvastatin

Although endothelial dysfunction has been associated with most cardiovascular risk factors, there is controversy regarding the relation between hypertriglyceridemia and endothelial function. Eight male patients with chronic HTG were studied before and after 6 weeks of lipid-lowering

treatment with 80 mg atorvastatin once daily. Ten age-matched control subjects were studied at baseline and immediately after a high-dose infusion of artificial triglycerides. Endothelial function was assessed by venous occlusion plethysmography. The forearm blood flow (FBF) response to serotonin was attenuated in the HTG group compared to the controls, whereas the FBF response to nitroprusside was comparable to that observed in the control group. Atorvastatin therapy was able to reverse the endotheliumdependent vasodilation to normal. Induction of acute hypertriglyceridemia in the control subjects did not affect the FBF responses to serotonin and This chapter demonstrates that unlike acute nitroprusside. hypertriglyceridemia, chronic hypertriglyceridemia is associated with an impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation.

Future perspectives

Although a substantial number of factors that contribute to the expression of identified. the pathogenesis of hypertriglyceridemia have been hypertriglyceridemia remains obscure. An important issue that remains to be solved is the well-recognized association between the apoC-III gene polymorphisms and hypertriglyceridemia (1). This finding, in combination with elevated plasma apoC-III levels in hypertriglyceridemia, has resulted in the concept that hypertriglyceridemia may be caused by excess apoC-III. In the present thesis, we have shown that hypertriglyceridemic VLDL contain a normal density of apoC-III on the lipoprotein particle surface. High apoC-III levels in hypertriglyceridemia and the association between plasma apoC-III and plasma triglyceride levels appear to be a logical consequence of the fact that triglyceride-rich lipoproteins contain a substantial quantity of apoC-III. However, it has been demonstrated that apoC-III gene polymorphisms render the apoC-III-encoding gene less sensitive to the inhibitory effect of insulin, which may lead to an increased production of apoC-III (2). Assuming that the production of the various VLDL components is closely coupled to one another, triglyceride synthesis may be increased concomitantly. Future studies are needed to confirm our data and study the mechanism postulated above.

Free fatty acids are considered to play an important role in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance. In hypertriglyceridemia, the plasma levels of free fatty acids are characteristically elevated and there is a close relation between free fatty acid and triglyceride levels. Although the generation of free fatty acids by lipolysis of triglycerides is decreased in hypertriglyceridemia, plasma free fatty acid levels are increased due to reduced fatty acid assimilation and increased fatty acid release by adipocytes (3). It would be of interest to study this mechanism in detail in hypertriglyceridemia in order to identify novel treatment strategies. With regard to the latter, the recently developed PPAR γ agonists have an important effect on adipocyte differentiation and insulin sensitivity that may be effective in hypertriglyceridemia (4).

It should be emphasized that, to date, no primary or secondary prevention trial has been performed to study the effect of lipid-lowering therapy in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. The main intervention trial that are referred to are the Helsinki Heart Study (5), BECAIT (6) and BIP study (7), which were conducted in dyslipidemic and not hypertriglyceridemic patients. The relevance of treatment was only shown in subgroup-analyses. Considering the high prevalence of hypertriglyceridemia, especially in a population with coronary heart disease, I would like to stress the need for a prevention trial with fibrates or statins in patients with hypertriglyceridemia. These trials are essential for the development of guidelines that are evidence-based.

Recently, Koenig and Staels (8) reported that fibrates appear to have anti-inflammatory effects. Moreover, fibrates have been suggested to induce apoptosis of macrophages. This may imply that fibrates have a lipidindependent effect on prevention of cardiovascular disease by enhancing plaque stability. Additional studies are needed to elucidate a possible antiinflammatory effect of fibrates and to assess the differences between the various fibrate derivates.

References

- 1. Henderson HE, Landon SV, Michie J, Berger GM. Association of a DNA polymorphism in the apolipoprotein C-III gene with diverse hyperlipidaemic phenotypes. Hum Genet 1987;75:62-5.
- Li W, Dammerman M, Smith JD, Metzger S, Breslow JL, Leff T. Common genetic variation in the promoter of the human apo CIII gene abolishes regulation by insulin and may contribute to hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Invest 1995;96:2601-5.
- Sniderman AD, Cianflone K, Arner P, Summers LK, Frayn KN. The adipocyte, fatty acid trapping, and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18:147-51.
- 4. Spiegelman BM. PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione receptor. Diabetes 1998;47:507-14.
- 5. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, Huttunen JK, Kaitaniemi P, Koskinen P, Manninen V,

Maenpaa H, Malkonen M, Manttari M, Norola S, Pasternack A, Pikkarainen J, Romo M, Sjoblom T, Nikkila EA. Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. Safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1987;317:1237-45.

- Ericsson CG, Hamsten A, Nilsson J, Grip L, Svane B, de Faire U. Angiographic assessment of effects of bezafibrate on progression of coronary artery disease in young male postinfarction patients. Lancet 1996;347:849-53.
- 7. The Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) Study Group I. Lipids and lipoproteins in symptomatic coronary heart disease. Distribution, intercorrelations, and significance for risk classification in 6,700 men and 1,500 women. Circulation 1992;86:839-48.
- Staels B, Koenig W, Habib A, Merval R, Lebret M, Torra IP, Delerive P, Fadel A, Chinetti G, Fruchart JC, Najib J, Maclouf J, Tedgui A. Activation of human aortic smooth-muscle cells is inhibited by PPARalpha but not by PPARgamma activators. Nature 1998;393:790-3.

Chapter 10

Samenvatting

Triglyceriden spelen een belangrijke rol in de energiehuishouding, de synthese van steroïdhormonen en de opname van vetoplosbare vitamines. Triglyceriden zijn afkomstig uit diëtair vet in de darm (exogene route), maar worden ook geproduceerd door de lever (endogene route). Transport vindt plaats door lipoproteïnen, welke bestaan uit een lipofiele kern van triglyceriden en cholesterol esters, en daaromheen een schil van apoproteïnen, fosfolipiden en vrij cholesterol. Triglyceriden worden gehydrolyseerd door lipoproteïne lipase, een enzym dat gebonden is aan heparan sulfaat proteoglycanen aan de luminale zijde van endotheelcellen. Een deel van de triglyceriderijke lipoproteïnen wordt verwijderd uit de circulatie door een direct, receptor-gemediëerd mechanisme. In geval van een verhoogde triglyceride synthese en/of een verminderd katabolisme kan hypertriglyceridemie ontstaan.

Een verhoogde plasma triglyceride-concentratie is geen zeldzaam fenomeen. Het Framingham onderzoek heeft aangetoond dat 8-10% van de normale populatie hypertriglyceridemisch is, terwijl in een populatie met een cardiovasculaire voorgeschiedenis zelfs 20% hypertriglyceridemie heeft. Aangezien hypertriglyceridemie een bewezen cardiovasculaire risicofactor vormt, is het belangrijk om deze lipidenafwijking adequaat te behandelen. De initiële behandeling is gebaseerd op leefstijlveranderingen zoals gewichtsverlies en goede voedingskeuzen. Aanvullende farmacologische behandeling met fibraten of statines kan geïndiceerd zijn na zorgvuldige afweging van het cardiovasculair risicoprofiel. Het doel van deze dissertatie is meer helderheid te verschaffen in de ontstaanswijze en behandeling van hypertriglyceridemie.

Hoofdstuk 1. Introductie

Het eerste hoofdstuk van dit proefschrift geeft een uitgebreid overzicht van het lipoproteïnenmetabolisme in het algemeen. Daarnaast wordt een aantal pathogenetische en therapeutische aspecten van endogene hypertriglyceridemie besproken.
Hoofdstuk 2. Lipolyse van very low density lipoproteïnen door heparan sulfaat proteoglycaan-gebonden lipoproteïne lipase

In dit hoofdstuk wordt de ontwikkeling van een nieuwe lipolyse-assay ter bestudering van de subtraataffiniteit voor proteoglycaan-gebonden lipoproteïne lipase (LPL) beschreven. Hoewel functioneel LPL *in vivo* werkzaam is als een proteoglycaan-gebonden enzym dat geassociëerd is met de luminale zijde van endotheel, wordt de kinetiek *in vitro* doorgaans bestudeerd met LPL inoplossing. De nieuwe assay werd als volgt uitgevoerd. Plastic wellen werden geïncubeerd met heparan sulfaat proteoglycanen (HSPG), vervolgens geblokt met albumine, en tenslotte geïncubeerd met LPL. Na toevoeging van verschillende concentraties VLDL kon door bepaling van de hoeveelheid vrijgekomen vrije vetzuren de lipolyse worden gekwantificeerd. Controle experimenten met heparinase wezen uit dat tenminste 90% van de LPLactiviteit afkomstig bleek van heparan sulfaat-gebonden LPL. De intra- en interassay variatie was gering.

Hoofdstuk 3. Effecten van apolipoproteïne E varianten op lipolyse van very low density lipoproteïnen door heparan sulfaat proteoglycaangebonden lipoproteïne lipase

Dit onderzoek is uitgevoerd om de nieuwe lipolyse-assay toe te passen in een klinische setting en de effecten te bestuderen van verschillende apoE-varianten op VLDL-lipolyse. Men neemt aan dat lipoproteïnen interactie vertonen met endotheliale proteoglycanen alvorens lipolyse door endotheel-gebonden LPL kan plaatsvinden. ApoE zou deze interactie mediëren door de stabiliteit van het lipoproteïne-LPL complex te bevorderen. Wij veronderstelden dat apoEmutaties aanleiding zouden kunnen geven tot een verminderde interactie tussen VLDL en HSPG en, dientengevolge, tot een verminderde lipolyse van VLDL door HSPG-gebonden LPL. Om deze hypothese te toetsen werden lipolyse- en bindingsexperimenten uitgevoerd met VLDL, geïsoleerd uit patiënten met diverse apoE mutaties, door gebruik te maken van HSPGgebonden LPL. VLDL, afkomstig van apoE2 homozygoten en apoE3-Leiden heterozygoten, bleek minder goed afbreekbaar door HSPG-gebonden LPL ten gevolge van een verminderde binding van deze lipoproteïnen aan het HSPG-LPL complex.

Hoofdstuk 4. Dieetadvies verbetert plasma-lipiden in patiënten met endogene hypertriglyceridemie: nadruk op gewichtsverlies en alcoholreductie

Exogene factoren spelen een belangrijke rol in de expressie van hypertriglyceridemie. Dieetadvies en gewichtsverlies vormen de eerste-lijns behandeling bij deze patiënten. Een prospectieve interventiestudie werd uitgevoerd volgens "de Nederlandse richtlijnen gezonde voeding" met als doel de korte-termijneffectiviteit te evalueren in patiënten met endogene hypertriglyceridemie. Ook werd getracht om de effecten van de verschillende voedingsbestanddelen op plasma-lipiden te onderzoeken. Voor en na de dieetinterventieperiode van 12 weken werden 24-uurs voedingsanamneses afgenomen om de voedingsinname en -samenstelling vast te stellen. Na het dieetadvies werd een aanzienlijke reductie in energie-inname en lichaamsgewicht. evenals verbetering in samenstelling een van voedingsbestanddelen, waargenomen. De totale plasma triglyceride- en cholesterol-concentraties toonden significante dalingen. Gewichtsverlies en alcoholreductie correleerden met afname van de totale plasma triglycerideconcentratie. Dit onderzoek bevestigt het huidige concept dat energierestrictie en gewichtsverlies een belangrijke plaats innemen in de behandeling van hypertriglyceridemie. Nieuwe bevindingen zijn de observaties dat een hypocalorisch, vetarm dieet ook effectief is in niet-obese patiënten, en dat alcoholbeperking ook effectief is in patiënten met endogene hypertriglyceridemie met een sociaal alcoholgebruik.

Hoofdstuk 5. De hypolipidemische werking van bezafibraattherapie in hypertriglyceridemie wordt gemediëerd door opregulering van lipoproteïne lipase: geen effecten op substraataffiniteit van VLDL voor lipolyse of LDL-receptor binding

Fibraten worden beschouwd als geneesmiddel van eerste keus bij hypertriglyceridemie. Men veronderstelt dat het werkingsmechanisme berust op downregulering van apoC-III-transcriptie en opregulering van LPL-gen expressie. Dit onderzoek is opgezet om de effecten te bestuderen van bezafibraattherapie op de gevoeligheid van VLDL voor lipolyse, binding van VLDL aan de LDL-receptor en postheparine LPL-activiteiten in patiënten met endogene HTG. Achttien HTG patiënten werden gerandomiseerd om, in een dubbelblind, placebo-gecontroleerde cross-over studie, 400 mg bezafibraat per dag te gebruiken gedurende 6 weken. Bezafibraattherapie resulteerde in een afname van plasma triglyceride- en apoC-III-concentraties met resp. 69% en

42%. HTG-VLDL werd minder efficient gelipolyseerd dan controle-VLDL, hetgeen niet verbeterde tijdens therapie. De VLDL-bindingsaffiniteit voor de LDL-receptor was vergelijkbaar tussen de controle- en HTG-groep en veranderde niet tijdens bezafibraattherapie. Echter, de post-heparine LPLactiviteit van de HTG patiënten nam toe onder invloed van bezafibraat, en een sterke omgekeerde relatie werd gezien tussen de toename in LPL-activiteit en de afname van triglyceride-concentratie. Samenvattend. de de hypolipidemische werking van bezafibraattherapie in HTG blijkt te berusten op opregulering van LPL, terwijl de gevoeligheid van VLDL voor lipolyse en LDL-receptor binding niet wordt beïnvloed.

Hoofdstuk 6. Normale F2-isoprostaan-concentraties en verhoogde lipoproteïne-resistentie tegen *in vitro* oxydatie in patiënten met hypertriglyceridemie: effecten van bezafibraattherapie

Er zijn aanwijzingen dat verschillende hyperlipidemieën geassocieerd zijn met verhoogde oxydatieve stress. Er zijn echter geen studies voorhanden met gegevens over de oxydatieve status van patiënten met hypertriglyceridemie. De huidige studie werd verricht om plasmaspiegels van F2-isoprostanen en ex vivo VLDL- en LDL-oxydatiegedrag van patiënten met endogene hypertriglyceridemie te vergelijken met controlepersonen. Tevens werden de effecten van fibraattherapie bestudeerd. F2-isoprostaan-concentraties in plasma waren vergelijkbaar tussen de patiënten met hypertriglyceridemie en de controlepersonen en veranderde niet tijdens fibraattherapie. Echter, zowel hypertriglyceridemisch VLDL als LDL vertoonden een grotere ex vivo oxydatieresistentie en lagere oxydatiesnelheden in vergelijking met de controlegroep. Bezafibraattherapie induceerde veranderingen in deze oxydatieparameters richting waarden van de referentiegroep. Concluderend, hypertriglyceridemie is geassocieerd met normale F2-isoprostaanconcentraties en een verhoogde resistentie van VLDL en LDL tegen oxydatieve stress.

Hoofdstuk 7. Geactiveerde bloedplaatjes in patiënten met hypertriglyceridemie: effecten van triglyceride-verlagende therapie

De effecten van triglyceriden op plaatjesfunctie zijn controversieel. Dit onderzoek werd opgezet om de *in vivo* plaatjesactivatiestatus te vergelijken tussen patiënten met hypertriglyceridemie en controlepersonen, en de effecten van triglycerideverlagende therapie te bestuderen. Analyse van plaatjesactivatie werd verricht door middel van dubbel-label flowcytometrie

Samenvatting

met antilichamen tegen GP53, P-selectine en plaatjesgebonden fibrinogeen als plaatjesactivatie markers. De uitgangsanalyses toonden aan dat de oppervlakte-expressie van het lysosomale membraaneiwit GP53 significant hoger was in de hypertriglyceridemische patiënten dan in de controlegroep. Er werden geen verschillen gezien in de expressie van P-selectine en fibrinogeenbinding. De expressie van GP53 in de patiëntengroep nam af tijdens bezafibraattherapie, terwijl de expressie van P-selectine en fibrinogeenbinding niet werden beïnvloed. Samenvattend. patiënten met hypertriglyceridemie hebben een verhoogde in vivo plaatjesactivatiestatus die verbeterd kan worden door bezafibraattherapie.

Hoofdstuk 8. Niet acute maar chronische hypertriglyceridemie is geassocieerd met verminderde endotheelafhankelijke vaatverwijding: verbetering door lipidenverlagende therapie met atorvastatine

Hoewel endotheeldysfunctie geassocieerd is met cardiovasculaire risisofactoren, bestaat er geen eenduidigheid over de endotheelfunctie in patiënten met hypertriglyceridemie. Acht mannelijke patiënten met chronische HTG werden bestudeerd voor en na een 6 weken durende behandeling met 80 mg atorvastatine per dag. Daarnaast werden 10 leeftijdgematchte controlepersonen bestudeerd vóór en onmiddellijk na infusie van een hoge dosering artificiële triglyceriden. De endotheelfunctie werd gemeten door middel van veneuze occlusieplethysmografie. De verandering in onderarmsdoorbloeding op serotonine was verminderd in de HTG-groep in vergelijking met de controlegroep, terwijl de reactie op nitroprusside vergelijkbaar was in beide groepen. Atorvastatinetherapie bleek in staat de verminderde endotheelafhankeliike vaatverwijding te normaliseren. Introductie van een acute hypertriglyceridemie in de controlepersonen had geen effect op de reacties in onderarmsdoorbloeding op serotonine en nitroprusside. Dit hoofdstuk toont aan dat, in tegenstelling tot een acute hypertriglyceridemie, chronische hypertriglyceridemie geassocieerd is met een verminderde endotheelfunctie.

Toekomstperspectieven

Hoewel een aantal factoren die kunnen bijdragen aan de expressie van endogene hypertriglyceridemie geïdentificeerd is, blijft de ontstaanswijze onduidelijk. Een belangrijke vraag die beantwoord dient te worden is waarom er een associatie bestaat tussen polymorfismen in het apoC-III-gen en het vóórkomen van hypertriglyceridemie (1). Deze bevinding in combinatie met verhoogde apoC-III-concentraties in hypertriglyceridemie heeft geleid tot de hypothese dat hypertriglyceridemie veroorzaakt zou kunnen worden door een overmaat aan apoC-III. In dit proefschrift is aangetoond dat hypertriglyceridemisch VLDL een normale dichtheid aan apoC-III bevat op het lipoproteïne oppervlak. Hoge apoC-III-concentraties in hypertriglyceridemie en de associatie tussen plasma apoC-III- en plasma triglycerideconcentraties lijken een logisch gevolg te zijn van het feit dat triglyceriderijke lipoproteïnen een aanzienlijke hoeveelheid apoC-III bevatten. Echter, men heeft aangetoond dat polymorfismen in het apoC-III-gen samengaan met een verminderde gevoeligheid voor de remmende werking van insuline, hetgeen zou kunnen leiden tot een verhoogde productie van apoC-III (2). Ervan uitgaande dat de productie van de afzonderlijke VLDL-bestanddelen nauw gekoppeld is, zou de triglyceride-synthese, parallel aan de apoC-III synthese, verhoogd kunnen zijn. Aanvullend onderzoek is nodig om onze resultaten te bevestigen en de hierboven gepostuleerde hypothese te toetsen.

Vrije vetzuren lijken een belangrijke rol te spelen in de pathogenese van insulineresistentie. De concentraties van vrije vetzuren in plasma zijn karakteristiek verhoogd in hypertriglyceridemie en er bestaat een nauwe relatie tusen plasma vrije vetzuur- en triglyceridespiegels. Hoewel het vrijkomen van vrije vetzuren tijdens lipolyse van triglyceriden verlaagd is in hypertriglyceridemie, blijken de vrije vetzuur-concentraties in plasma verhoogd te zijn ten gevolge van een verlaagde opname door de weefsels en een verhoogde productie door adipocyten (3). Met het oog op de ontwikkeling van nieuwe behandelingsstrategieën zou dit mechanisme uitvoerig onderzoek verdienen in de toekomst. De recent ontwikkelde PPAR γ agonisten, die een belangrijke invloed hebben op de differentiatie van adipocyten en insuline resistentie, vormen een interessante groep geneesmiddelen die effectief zou kunnen zijn in de behandeling van hypertriglyceridemie (4).

Er dient benadrukt te worden dat tot op heden geen primaire of secundaire preventiestudies verricht zijn naar de effecten van lipidenverlagende therapie in patiënten met endogene hypertriglyceridemie. De belangrijkste interventiestudies waaraan gerefereerd wordt zijn de Helsinki Heart Study (5), BECAIT (6) en BIP (7), die alle uitgevoerd werden in dyslipidemische en niet primair hypertriglyceridemische patiënten. De relevantie van behandeling van hypertriglyceridemie werd dan ook alleen aangetoond in subgroep-analyses. Gezien de hoge prevalentie van hypertriglyceridemie in de populatie patiënten met hart- en vaatziekten, dient het belang van preventiestudies met fibraten of statines in patiënten met

178

hypertriglyceridemie benadrukt te worden. Deze onderzoeken zijn absoluut noodzakelijk voor het ontwikkelen van richtlijnen die "evidence-based" zijn.

Recent hebben Koenig en Staels (8) aangetoond dat fibraten antiinflammatoire effecten hebben. Ook werd gesuggereerd dat fibraten apoptose van macrofagen kunnen induceren. Deze bevindingen impliceren dat fibraten een lipiden-onafhankelijk effect zouden kunnen hebben op de behandeling van cardiovasculaire ziekte door stabilisering van de atherosclerotische plaque. Aanvullende onderzoek is nodig om de mogelijke anti-inflammatoire effecten van fibraten in kaart te brengen en te bekijken of er verschillen zijn tussen de diverse derivaten.

Referenties

- 1. Henderson HE, Landon SV, Michie J, Berger GM. Association of a DNA polymorphism in the apolipoprotein C-III gene with diverse hyperlipidaemic phenotypes. Hum Genet 1987;75:62-5.
- Li W, Dammerman M, Smith JD, Metzger S, Breslow JL, Leff T. Common genetic variation in the promoter of the human apo CIII gene abolishes regulation by insulin and may contribute to hypertriglyceridemia. J Clin Invest 1995;96:2601-5.
- Sniderman AD, Cianflone K, Arner P, Summers LK, Frayn KN. The adipocyte, fatty acid trapping, and atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998;18:147-51.
- 4. Spiegelman BM. PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione receptor. Diabetes 1998;47:507-14.
- 5. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P, Huttunen JK, Kaitaniemi P, Koskinen P, Manninen V, Maenpaa H, Malkonen M, Manttari M, Norola S, Pasternack A, Pikkarainen J, Romo M, Sjoblom T, Nikkila EA. Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. Safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary

heart disease. N Engl J Med 1987;317:1237-45.

- Ericsson CG, Hamsten A, Nilsson J, Grip L, Svane B, de Faire U. Angiographic assessment of effects of bezafibrate on progression of coronary artery disease in young male postinfarction patients. Lancet 1996;347:849-53.
- 7. The Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) Study Group I. Lipids and lipoproteins in symptomatic coronary heart disease. Distribution, intercorrelations, and significance for risk classification in 6,700 men and 1,500 women. Circulation 1992;86:839-48.
- Staels B, Koenig W, Habib A, Merval R, Lebret M, Torra IP, Delerive P, Fadel A, Chinetti G, Fruchart JC, Najib J, Maclouf J, Tedgui A. Activation of human aortic smooth-muscle cells is inhibited by PPARalpha but not by PPARgamma activators. Nature 1998;393:790-3.

Abbreviations

Аро	Apolipoprotein
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CE	Cholesteryl ester
CETP	Cholesteryl ester transfer protein
CHD	Coronary heart disease
СМ	Chylomicron
CR	Chylomicron remnant
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBF	Forearm blood flow
FC	Free cholesterol
FD	Familial dysbetalipoproteinemia
FFA	Free fatty acid
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HL	Hepatic lipase
HLP	Hyperlipoproteinemia
HSPG	Heparan sulfate proteoglycan
HTG	Hypertriglyceridemia
IDL	Intermediate density lipoprotein
Km	Michaelis-Menten constant
LCAT	Lecithin:cholesteryl acyltransferase
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LDL-R	Low density lipoprotein receptor
LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
LRP	Low density lipoprotein-related protein
MTP	Microsomal transfer protein
NO	Nitric oxide
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SNP	Sodium-nitroprusside
TG	Triglyceride
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)-aminomethane
TRL	Triglyceride-rich lipoprotein
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
5-HT	5-Hydroxytryptamine, serotonin

Publications

FHAF de Man, MC Cabezas, HJJ van Barlingen, DW Erkelens, TWA de Bruin. Triglyceride-rich lipoproteins in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: postprandial metabolism and relation to premature atherosclerosis. Eur J Clin Invest 1996;26:89-108.

HJJ van Barlingen, LWA Kock, FHAF de Man, DW Erkelens, TWA de Bruin. In vitro lipolysis of human VLDL: effect of different VLDL compositions in normolipidemia, familial combined hyperlipidemia and familial hypertriglyceridemia. Atherosclerosis 1996;121:75-84.

FHAF de Man, F van der Sman-de Beer, A van der Laarse, AHM Smelt, LM Havekes. Lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins by heparan sulphate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase. J Lipid Res 1997;38:2465-72.

FHAF de Man, MJV Hoffer, AHM Smelt, JA Gevers Leuven, A van der Laarse. Is hypertriglyceridemia always a risk factor? In Vascular Medicine: from endothelium to myocardium, edited by EE van der Wall, V Manger Cats and J Baan. Kluwer Academic Publishers, the Netherlands. 1997:133-60.

FHAF de Man, F van der Sman-de Beer, A van der Laarse, AHM Smelt, JA Gevers Leuven, LM Havekes. Effect of apolipoprotein E variants on lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins by heparan sulphate proteoglycan-bound lipoprotein lipase. Atherosclerosis 1998;136:255-62.

MJV Hoffer, EJG Sijbrands, FH de Man, AHM Smelt, RR Frants. Increased risk for endogenous hypertriglyceridemia is associated with an apolipoprotein C3 haplotype specified by the SSTI polymorphism. Eur J Clin Invest 1998;28:807-12.

FHAF de Man, A van der Laarse, EGD Hopman, JA Gevers Leuven, W Onkenhout, GM Dallinga-Thie, AHM Smelt. Dietary counselling effectively improves lipid levels in patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia: emphasis on weight reduction and alcohol limitation. Eur J Clin Nutr (in press).

FHAF de Man, R Nieuwland, A van der Laarse, AHM Smelt, JA Gevers Leuven, A Sturk. Activated platelets in patients with hypertriglyceridemia: effects of triglyceridelowering therapy. (submitted). FH de Man, F de Beer, A van der Laarse, H Jansen, JA Gevers Leuven, JH Souverijn, TF Vroom, SC Schoormans, JC Fruchart, LM Havekes and AH Smelt. The hypolipidemic action of bezafibrate therapy in hypertriglyceridemia is mediated by upregulation of lipopotein lipase: no effects on VLDL substrate affinity to lipolysis or LDL receptor binding. (submitted).

MF Mohrschladt, FHAF de Man, AWE Weverling-Rijnsburger, DJ Stoeken, A Sturk, AHM Smelt, RGJ Westendorp. Hyperlipoproteinemia affects cytokine production in whole blood samples ex vivo. the influence of lipid-lowering therapy. (submitted).

FH de Man, AW Weverling-Rijnsburger, A van der Laarse, AH Smelt, JW Jukema and GJ Blauw. Not acute but chronic hypertriglyceridemia is associated with impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation: reversal upon lipid-lowering therapy by atorvastatin. (submitted).

FHAF de Man, A van der Laarse, AHM Smelt, W van Duyvenvoorde, R Buytenhek, JA Gevers Leuven, W Onkenhout and HMG Princen. Normal F2-Isoprostane levels and enhanced lipoprotein resistance to in vitro oxidation in patients with hypertriglyceridemia: effects of bezafibrate treatment. (submitted).

Abstracts

FHAF de Man, F de Beer, A van der Laarse, AHM Smelt, JA Gevers Leuven, LM Havekes. Impaired lipolysis of very low density lipoproteins in type III hyperlipoproteinemia. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:160A.

FHAF de Man, F de Beer, AHM Smelt, LM Havekes, JA Gevers Leuven, E Hopman, TFFP Vroom, A van der Laarse. Short-term effects of dietary counselling in endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Atherosclerosis 1997;130:97.

FHAF de Man, P de Knijff, F de Beer, LM Havekes, AHM Smelt, MJV Hoffer, JA Gevers Leuven, E Hopman, TFFP Vroom, A van der Laarse. ApoE allele frequencies and apoE mutations in endogenous hypertriglyceridemia. Atherosclerosis 1997; 130:131. F de Beer, FH de Man, AH Smelt, A van der Laarse, LM Havekes. Lipoprotein lipase is required for the binding of very low density lipoproteins to heparan sulphate proteoglycans. Atherosclerosis 1997;130:79.

FH de Man, AW Weverling-Rijnsburger, A van der Laarse, AH Smelt, GJ Blauw. The acute effect of an artificial hypertriglyceridemia on endothelial function in healthy subjects. Eur Heart J 1998;19:158.

FH de Man, AW Weverling-Rijnsburger, AH Smelt, A van der Laarse, JA Gevers Leuven, JW Jukema, GJ Blauw. Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in the forearm of patients with endogenous hypertriglyceridemia: Reversal upon lipidlowering therapy by atorvastatin. Circulation 1998;98:I-243.

FH de Man, F de Beer, A van der Laarse, H Jansen, JA Gevers Leuven, JH Souverijn, TF Vroom, SC Schoormans, JC Fruchart, LM Havekes and AH Smelt. The hypolipidemic action of bezafibrate therapy in hypertriglyceridemia is mediated by upregulation of lipopotein lipase: no effects on VLDL substrate affinity to lipolysis or LDL receptor binding. Circulation 1998;98:I-451.

FH de Man, HM Princen, W van Duyvenvoorde, L Hollaar, AH Smelt, JA Gevers Leuven, A van der Laarse. Hypertriglyceridemia is associated with an enhanced resistance to oxidative stress. J Am Coll Cardiol (in press).

Nawoord

Tenslotte wil ik graag allen bedanken die een bijdrage hebben geleverd aan de totstandkoming van dit proefschrift. In de eerste plaats wil ik alle vrijwilligers en patiënten bedanken voor hun deelname. Zonder hun inzet, enthousiasme en vertrouwen zou dit proefschrift slechts hebben bestaan uit hoofdstuk 1.

Tevens wil ik de volgende mensen van de afdeling cardiologie van het LUMC bedanken. De "schipper" van het cardiobiochemie-lab, ben ik dankbaar voor de bijzonder prettige samenwerking en het snelle commentaar. Dat er sprake zou zijn van enige hiërarchie heb ik, behoudens aan de biljarttafel, nooit ervaren. Leny Hollaar en Ton Vroom waren zeer welwillend om de vele ultra's te draaien, zelfs als dat betekende dat de monsters niet in 5 maar in 25 porties dienden te worden uitgevuld. De artsen van de lipidenpoli wil ik bedanken voor het benaderen van patiënten en hun wetenschappelijke bijdrage aan de inhoud van dit proefschrift. Mijn collegae van de afdeling geriatrie en Bep Ladan begeleidden mij deskundig en met groot enthousiasme bij de metingen met de veneuze occlusie-plethysmograaf. Medebewoners van "de tuin" Suzanne, Maartje, Liselotte, Evelien, Jozien, Annemieke, Cindy, Carlien, Natasja, Han, Patrick, Pranobe, Kayum en Rick, we zaten allemaal in hetzelfde volgepakte schuitje: de tuin! Slechts zelden werd hier de rust en inspiratie gevonden tot grootse nieuwe ideeën, inspiratie en schrijflust, maar ... het was wel gezellig en je bleef goed op de hoogte van de laatste "wetenswaardigheden". Mijn dank hiervoor. De secretaresses van de lipidenpoli, Erica en Bep, en de secretaresses van het stafcentrum, Anneke, Ria, Linda en Bert hebben zorggedragen voor deskundige secretariële ondersteuning. Ook ben ik veel dank verschuldigd aan de medewerkers van de afdeling klinische chemie.

Naast de medewerkers van het LUMC is een belangrijk deel van het praktisch werk en denkwerk verricht door collegae van het Gaubius-laboratorium van TNO-PG te Leiden. Zonder dit goede contact zou zowel de omvang als wetenschappelijke inhoud van mijn proefschrift nooit zijn geweest wat het nu is. Allereerst wil ik Femke de Beer bedanken voor het met grote nauwkeurigheid uitvoeren van de bindingsstudies en het becommentariëren van mijn manuscripten. De "toekomstige wijnboer" van het Gaubius laboratorium dank ik voor zijn enthousiasme en kritische blik op de resultaten en interpretatie van het *in vitro* werk. Zijn inspanningen hebben geresulteerd in mijn eerste publicaties in Leiden. Dr. Hans Princen, Wim van Duyvenvoorde en Rien Buytenhek wil ik bedanken voor hun belangrijke bijdrage aan het meten van de F2-isoprostanen en het uitvoeren van de vele *in vitro* oxidaties. Hun zorgvuldigheid, inzet en vakkennis heb ik bijzonder op prijs gesteld.

Naast de bovengenoemde personen ben ik ook veel dank verschuldigd aan mensen in mijn naaste omgeving. Mijn ouders dank ik voor hun liefde en aanmoedigingen die de basis hebben gevormd voor mijn wetenschappelijke interesse en gedrevenheid. Mijn geliefde schoonzussen Mieke en Marjo Kerkhof voor hun pogingen om mijn "Angelsaksisch Nederlands" om te buigen tot leesbaar materiaal. En tot slot, mijn thuis Lieve Ellie en Toontje, in tegenstelling tot de meeste dankwoorden in dit soort boekjes zeg ik niet "Ik hoop meer tijd samen door te kunnen brengen nu het proefschrift af is...", maar "Ik hoop met jullie beiden in de toekomst evenveel tijd door te kunnen brengen als tijdens mijn promotietijd". Lieve Ellie, 1998 was een jaar van uitersten: enerzijds hoogtepunten zoals ons huwelijk en de geboorte van Toontje, maar anderzijds een jaar waarover het overlijden van jouw hartsvriendin Bernadette een donkere schaduw heeft geworpen. Ik heb veel bewondering voor de liefde en troost die je de mensen schenkt, zelfs in tijden waarin je die zelf zo nodig hebt. Dit is slechts één van de vele redenen waarom ik van je houd.

Curriculum Vitae

Frederik Hendrik Andreas Franciscus de Man werd geboren op 18 november 1967 te 's-Hertogenbosch. Na het behalen van het Gymnasium- β -diploma aan het Bisschoppelijk College te Weert, begon hij in 1986 aan de studie Geneeskunde aan de Rijksuniversiteit te Utrecht. Daarnaast volgde hij in het kader van het Utrechtse "excellent tracée" de verkorte opleiding Medische Biologie van 1990 tot 1992. Als bijvak werd onderzoek gedaan op de afdeling Experimentele Cardiologie van het Academisch Ziekenhuis Utrecht naar vaatwandbeschadiging in minivarkens. De hoofdvakstage werd doorlopen op het Laboratorium van Vetstofwisseling in het Academisch Ziekenhuis Utrecht met als doel meer inzicht te krijgen in de afbraakgevoeligheid van lipoproteïnen door lipoproteïne lipase. Na het behalen van het doctoraalexamen Medische Biologie zette hij de studie geneeskunde voort, hetgeen in 1995 resulteerde in het behalen van het artsexamen. Aansluitend was hij 10 maanden werkzaam als assistent-geneeskunde-niet-in-opleiding Cardiologie in het Groot Ziekengasthuis te 's-Hertogenbosch onder leiding van dr. H.J.M. Dohmen. Van oktober 1995 tot maart 1999 was hij, aanvankelijk als beurs-promovendus en vervolgens als assistent-in-opleiding, werkzaam op de afdeling Cardiologie (opleider prof. dr. A.V.G. Bruschke) van het Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum. Daar werd onder leiding van prof. dr. A. van der Laarse in nauwe samenwerking met de afdeling Algemene Interne Geneeskunde (dr. A.H.M. Smelt en dr. J.A. Gevers Leuven) en het Gaubius Laboratorium van TNO-PG te Leiden (prof. dr. L.M. Havekes en dr. H.M.G. Princen) het in dit proefschrift beschreven onderzoek uitgevoerd. Sinds maart 1999 is hij, in het kader van de opleiding tot cardioloog, werkzaam als artsassistent op de afdeling Interne Geneeskunde van het Academisch Ziekenhuis Utrecht onder leiding van prof. dr. D.W. Erkelens.